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Michael Baker Corporation (Amex:BKR) provides engineeting and operations and maintenance services for its clients’ most complex

cﬁ:. The firm’s primary practice areas are aviation, environmental, facilities, geospatial information technologies, pipelines
& telecommunicartions. transporeation, water/wastewater, and oil & gas. With more than 5,000 employees in over 40 offices across the
_United States and internationally, Baker is focused on providing services that span the complere life cycle of infrastructure and managed asset

challenges worldwi

projects. (hop:/fwww.mbakercorp.com)




Financial Summaries

Financial Summary {Amounts in millions, except per share information)

2005 2004* 2003*
Revenues $579.3 $552.0 $426.8
Income from Operations 16.9 18.9 5.7
Net Income/(loss) 5.1 8.4 (0.8)
Diluted Earnings/{loss) Per Share 7 0.58 0.98 (0.10}
Shareholders’ Investment 79.8 74.8 64.3
Total Backlog at Year End $1,322.0 % 1,400.0 $720.7
Segment Summary (Amounts in millions)
2005 2004* 2003
Revenues
Engineering $371.1 $343.3 $250.6
Energy 208.2 208.7 176.2
Total Revenues $579.3 $552.0 $426.8
Income from Operations
Engineering $26.6 $21.9 $6.4
Energy - {6.0) (2.0) 0.7
Corporate (3.7) (1.0) (1.4}
Total Incorne from Operations ~ $16.9 $18.9 $5.7

* Indicutes vestated financial results. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in the included Form 10-K for
discussion of the restatement.

Note with respect to Forward-Looking Statemnents: This Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in particular the "Managements Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of Exhibit 13.1 hereto, which is incorporated by reference into ltem
7 of Part 11, contains forward-looking statemients concerning our future opetations and performance. Forward-looking statements are subject
to market, opetating and economic risks and unceraainties that may cause our actual results in future rleriods 10 be macerially different from
any future performance suggested herein. Factors that may cause such differences include, among others: increased competition; increased
costs; changes in general marker conditions: changes in industry trends; changes in the regulatory environment; changes in our relationship
andlor contracts with the Federal Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA”); changes in anricipared levels of government spending on
infrastructure, including the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act-A Legacy for Users ("SAFETEA-LU™); changes
in loan relationships or sources of financing; changes in management: changes in information systems; and costs to comply with the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Such forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the Safe Harbor Provisions of the
Private Securisies Litigation Reform Act of 1993,




Message to Shareholders

From a financial perspective,
Baker had a difficult time in 2005
and early 20006, working through
tax and accounting issues and
restating our earnings, the details
of which you can read about in
_ the enclosed SEC Form 10-K.
We have actively addressed
these issues and are focused on
relared process improvements
to avoid any reoccurrence.

Now, it is time to focus on the
future. The markets for our

services remain strong, we are well
positioned for growth, and we are
confident in our ability to capiralize
on the opportunities in both our
Enginecring and Energy businesses.

" Our backlog at the end of second
quarter of this year was a near record
high of $1.37 billion.

Engineering looks particularly
strong in the transportation

and federal marker sectors.

We have been successful in
winning several new transportation-
related contract awards since the
enactment of the SAFETEA-LU
legislation last year, and we
anticipate that project activity will
remain robust for the remainder of

2006 and throughout 2007.

Moreover, growing numbers of
retirements within state
transportation departments,
continued privatization of state
highway assets, and toll road
expansion, _have generated increased
demand for Baker’s services. Our
acquisition of Buck Engineering,
P.C., expands Baker's presence in
North Carolina as well as our access
to the rapidly growing stream and

wetlands restoration business.
Our federal sector clients such

as the Federal Emergency
Management Agency, US-VISIT,
and the Department of Defense
continue to rely heavily on us to
provide high-value program
management and other services.

The Energy business continues to
expand through onshore operations
and maintenance (O&M) of coal
bed methane projects such as Huber
Energy and Storm Car Energy in
Wyoming’s Powder River Basin,
which highlighr Baker’s expertise

in program management,
engineering, and consulting services.
Major domestic energy projects such
as those we recently received in
Alabama and Alaska drive growth in
a market reliant on Baker’s experrtise.
Current energy prices have spurred
exploration and production

projects, both domestically and
internationally, again playing to

our strengths as a highly skilled

and experienced O&M partner.
Safety is extremely critical for

both our employees and our clients
in this industry, and our being
awarded the 2005 National SAFE
Award by the Minerals Management
Service is evidence of our strong
commitment to health, safety, and
environmental compliance.

We have experienced change among
our board of directors, most notably
with the passing of Tom Larson, a
good friend and a valued director for
13 years. We welcome to the board
our newest director, General (Ret.)
Robert H. Foglesong, and a
returning director, Pam Pierce.

_ We believe their blending of -

experience and insight will
benefit Baker and its shareholders
for years to come.

L

As you know, Don Fusilli has left
the company. [ am confident that
the committee of éxternal Board
members appointe;:l to conduct an
internal and exterrial search for a
successor will select the appropriate
person to provide the leadership
needed to address both the
opportunities and challenges we
have before us as an organization.
In the interim, I am serving as
Chief Executive Officer. I assure
you that my resolve in leading this :
outstanding compalny to higher
levels of success and profitability

is steadfast.

I appreciate your continued support;
patience, and undetstanding as we
work to grow this company, meet or,
exceed our clients’ expectations, and
create value for t:)ulji shareholders,

both public and employee.

Sincerely,

b L

Richard L. Shaw
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer




Board of Directors

RICHARD L. SHAW

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Michael Baker Corporation
(1966). Dick has served with Baker in various capacities for more
than 50 years. (1)

ROBERT N. BONTEMPO, Ph.D.

Professor at Columbia University School of Business (1997).
Bob joined Columbia in 1989.as assistant professor and was
named associare professor in 1994. (2) (3)

NICHOLAS P CONSTANTAKIS, CPA

Retired Partner, Andersen Worldwide, SC (1999). Nick spent more
than 36 years with Andersen, including 25 as a Partner, working
with clients in an array of industries such as engincering,
investments, manufacturing, and health care. (2) (3) (4)

WILLIAM ]J. COPELAND

Retired Vice Chairman, PNC Financial Corporation {1983).
Bill was with Pitsburgh National Bank for more than 30 years,
including 11 as Vice Chairman. He served as Baker's Chairman
from 1984 to 1992. (1) (4)

GENERAL (Ret.) ROBERT H. FOGLESONG

President of Mississippi State University (2006). Bob recently
retired (February 2006) from the U.S. Air Force (USAF) as a four-
star General, where he was Commander, Unired States Air Forces
Europe. His previous pesitions in the Air Force include vice
commander of the entire USAF. He is the head of the Appalachian
Leadership and Education Foundation, headquarsered in
Charleston, W.Va.

ROY V. GAVERT, JR.

Rerired Executive Vice President, Westinghouse Electric
Corporation {1988). Roy spent 34 years with Westinghouse,

including 20 in executive management positions. (2) (4)

JOHN E. MURRAY, JR., 8.].D.

Chaneellor and Professor of Law at Duquesne University (1997).
John formerly served as President of Duquesne from 1988 to 2001.
Previously, he was a Distinguished Service Professor at the
University of Pittsburgh and Dean of the Villanova University
School of Law. (1) {3)

PAMELA S. PIERCE

Most recently, President of Huber Energy, an operating company of
J.M. Huber Corporation {2000-2001) (2004). Pam is a 28-year
veteran of the oil and gas industry, having held a variety of
leadership and managerial positions with Mirant Americas Energy
Capital and Production Company, ARCO Qil and Gas Company,
ARCOQO Alaska and Vastar Resources. (5)

Corporate Management

RICHARD L. SHAW
Chairman and Chief Executive Qfficer

WILLIAM P MOONEY
Execurive Vice President and Chief financial Officer

H. JAMES MCKNIGHT, ].D.
Execurive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

MONICA L. IURLANO
Executive Vice President and Chief Resource Officer

CRAIG O. STUVER, CPA
Senior Vice President and Corporate Centroller

ANDREW VERONE

Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

BRADLEY L. MALLORY

President - Engineering

JAMES B. RICHARDS, JR., PE.

Executive Vice President - Engineering

DAVID ]J. GREENWOOD, PE.
Senior Vice President - Engineering

JOHN D. WHITEFORD

Executive Vice Presiden: - Acting General Manager, Energy

JAMES R. JOHNSON
Senior Vice President - Energy

JOHN N. HICKMAN

Senior Vice President - Energy

(xxxx) Board Membership Date
(1} Executive Committee

(2} Audit Committee

(3) Compensation Commitree

{4} Governance and Nominating Commirtees

(5} Healch, Safety, Environmental and Compliance Committee
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Note with respect to Forward-Looking Statements:

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in particular the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of Exhibit 13.1 hereto, which is incorporated by
reference into Item 7 of Part I, contains forward-looking statements concerning our future operations and
performance. Forward-looking statements are subject to market, operating and economic risks and uncertainties
that may cause our actual results in future periods to be materially different from any future performance
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increased costs; changes in general market.conditions; changes in industry trends; changes in the regulatory
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Explanatory Note

LI

In this Form 10-K, the terms “we,

us,” or “our” refer to Michael Baker Corporation and its subsidiaries.

£

As discussed in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in Exhibit 13.1, this
Amnual Report on Form 10-K includes the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The impact of these errors also required the restatemem of our Selected

Fmanc:al Data mcluded m Exhlblt 13.1 for the 2001 and 2002 fiscal years
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General .. ) . . . , ‘

Ve

" Michael Baker Corporation (“we,” “us,” or “our”) was founded in 1940 and organized as a Pennsylvama
corporation in 1946. Today, through our operating subsidiaries, we prov1de engineering and energy expertise for
public and private sector clients worldwide.

Information regarding the amounts of revenues, income from operations before Corporate overhead
allocations, total assets, capital expenditures, and depreciation and amortization expense attributable to our
reportable segments is contained in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, which is included within
Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

According to the annual listings published in 2006 by Engineering News Record magazine, based on total
cngmecrmg revenues for 2005, we ranked 37 among the top 500 U.S. design firms; 13" among pure design”
firms; 24" among program management firms; 11™ in water and water supply, including 21* in sanitary and
storm sewers; 25" among site assessment and compllance firms, 16™ among transportation design firms,
mcludmg 22™ in highways, 11™ in bridges and 25" in airports; 31" among construction management-for-fee
firms; 19" in transmission lines and aqueducts; 17 in pipelines (petroleum); 10™ in distribution and warehouses
{general building); and 60™ among environmental firms. In addition, we believe that we are one of the largest
providers of outsourced operations and maintenance services to the energy industry in the Gulf of Mexico.

Strategy

Our strategy is based on four concepts: maximizing growth, optimizing profitability, innovating and
leveraging.

Maximizing growth — We seek to maximize growth by securing larger and more complex projects and
program management opportunities in both the Engineering and Energy segments in the United States and
abroad. The addition of the Multi-hazard flood mapping and modernization program (“MHFMM”) with FEMA
is a prime example of our execution of this concept.

Optimizing profitability — We seek to optimize our profitability through long-term, performance based
contracting vehicles. This strategy is evident in our recent wins, including contracis such as the FEMA contract
mentioned above for. the Engineering segment, and the onshore managed services contracts for the Energy
segment.

Innovating — We strive fo constantly and consistently innovate ways to deliver services to our clients. We
utilize mapping and geographic information technology in a number of innovative ways, including the estimates
to damage of homes and other facilities in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina.

Leveraging — We strive to levcrage our expertise in the Engineering and Energy segments to enhance our
competitive position with customers. This is most evident in Sheridan, Wyoming, where we have brought both
segments together to assist our client there in the safe, efficient and compliant production of coal bed methane
gas.

Business Segments

Our business segments have been determined based on how executive management makes resource decisions
and assesses our performance. Qur two reportable segments are Engineering and Energy. Information regarding
these business segments is contained in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations, which is included within Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated
herein by reference.




The following briefly describes our business segments: G

Engineering — Our Engineering segment provides a variety of design and related consulting services,
principally in the U.S. Such services include program management, design-build, construction management,
consulting, planning, surveying, mapping, geographic information systems, architectural and interior design,
construction inspection, constructability reviews, site assessment and restoration, strategic regulatory analysis,
regulatory compliance, and advanced management systems. The Engineering segment has designed a wide range
of projects, such as highways, bridges, airports, busways, corporate headquarters, data centers, correctional
facilities and educational facilities. This segment also provides services in the water/wastewater, pipeline,
emergency and consequence management, resource management, and telecommunications markets. Thls segment
is susceptible to upward and downward fluctuations in federal and state government spendmg v

Our transportation services have benefited from the U.S. government’s federal transportatton infrastructure
legislation (SAFETEA-LU} in recent years. Additionally, we have benefited from increased federal government
spending in the Departments of Défense and Homeland Security, including FEMA, US-VISIT and the Coast
Guard. We partner with’ other contractors to pursue selected design-build contracts, which continue to be a

growing project dellvery method within the transportation and civil infrastructure markets S
! o N
- Energy — Our Energy segment provides a full range of services to operatmg cnergy producuon facilities

worldwide. This segment’s comprehensive services range.from complete outsourcing solutions to specific
services such as training, personnel recruitment, pre-operations engineering, maintenance management systems,
field operations and maintenance, procurement, and supply chain management. The -Energy segment serves both
major and smaller independent oil and gas producing companies, but does not pursue exploration opportunities

for cur own account or own any oil or natural gas reserves. . oL g

One delivery method employed by the segment is Managed Services, an operating model that has broadened
the Energy segment’s service offerings in the offshore Gulf of Mexico and the onshore United States: This model
has the potential to enhance our operating margins as well as our clients’. Onshore, we have taken over full
managerial and administrative responsibility for chents producing properties. Oﬁ'shore the segment has
organized a network of marine vessels, helicopters, shore bases, information technology, safety and compliance
systems, spec1alxsts, and a leadership team that manages the sharing of resources, thereby resulting in improved
profitability for participants. Presently, we are working under Managed Services agreements with oil and gas
producers in the Gulf of Mexico and'in the Powder River Basin in Wyoming and Monténa foen

The segment also operates in over a dozen foreign countries, w1th major pI'O_]eCtS in Venezuela Thalland
Trinidad, Algeria and Nigeria. The local polltlcal environment in certain of these countries subjects our related
trade receivables, due from subsidiaries of major oil companies, to lengthy collection delays, Based upon past
experience with these clients, after giving effect.to our related allowance for doubtful accounts ba]ancc at
December 31, 2005, we believe that these receivable balances w1|l be ful]y collectible. This segment also has
exposure to currency related gains and losses but a substantial amount of our foreign transactlons are settled in
the same currency, thereby greatly reducing our exposure to material currency transaction gains and losses.

Domestic and Foreign Operatmns

. For the years ended December 31 2005, 2004 and 2003, approx:mately 88%, ,88% and 87% of our total
contract revenues, respectively, were derived from work performed for U.S. -based clients within the United
States. Further financial information regardmg our domestic and foreign operations is contained in Notes 5 and
12 to the consolidated financial statements, which are included within Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K. Such
information is incorporated herein by reference. Of our domestic revenues, the maJonty comprises. cngmeenng
work performed in the Mid-Atlantic region of the U.S. and operations and maintenance work performed by our
Energy segment in Texas, Louisiana, Wyoming, Montana and the Gulf of Mexico.+Our international revenues are
derived primarily from our Energy segment < : ¢ “
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Backlog

. (In milliuns)‘ ' . - December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004
CERgINERING .. ..t : $1,109.2 - $1,1152 .
Energy i i 2126 284.3
Totale e el eeee e U S s13m1s 81,3995

Our backlog consists of that pomon of uncompleted work that is represented by signed or executed
contracts Most of our contracts with the Federal government and other clients may be terminated at will, or
option years may not be exercised; therefore, no assurance can be given that all backlog will be realized. Of our
total backlog at December 31, 2005, amounts totaling $183 million and $165 million are expected to be
recognized as revenue within the next year by our Engineering and Energy segments, respectively.

As of December 3 l‘, 2005 and 2004, $566 million and $678 million of our backlog, respectively, relates to a
$750 million contract in the Engineering segment to assist FEMA in conducting a large-scale overhaul of the
nations flood hazard maps, which commenced late in the first quarter of 2004. This contract includes data
collection and analysis, map production, product delivery, and effective program management; and seeks to
produce digital flood hazard data, provide access to flood hazard data and maps via the Internet, and implement a
nationwide staté-of-the-art infrastructure’ that enables all-hazard mapping. Due to the task order structure of the
contract, realization of the timing and- amount of the original contract value of $750 million remains difficult to
predict. FEMA has identified specific program objectives and prionities which it intends to accomplish under this
program. As the initial task orders are completed and progress against objectives is' measured, we will become
better able to predict realization of this contract award. We may at a time in the future reduce the backlog
accordingly.

Y . : . o

In our Energy segment, wé also consider purchase orders from clients for labor services as backlog. These
purchase orders typically have a twelve-month term and amounts recorded as revenues on a periodic basis are
reduced from backlog. Most puréhase orders have cancellation clauses with thirty-day notice provisions. Oil and
g£as industry merger, acquisition and dlvesnture programs affectmg our clients can result in increases or decreases
in our Energy segment s backlog. :

There is no direct correlatlon between our total backlog amounts and our annual total contract revenues.
Further, our backlog amounts do not represent a guarantee of future revenues or results of operations. In the case
of miulti-year‘contracts, total contract revenues are spréad over several years and correspond to the timing of the
contract rather than our fiscal year“ Many multi-year contracts, particularly with agencies of the U.S. government,
provide for optional renewals on the part of the customer. Our experience has been that these optional contract
renewals havé'generally been exercised. Engineering backlog generally is highest during the last quarter of our
fiscal yeat because that corresponds to'the first quarter of the U.S. government’s ﬁscal year, which is when many
government contract renewals occur” " :

v . oL ol ' [

Significant Customers

Contracts with various branches of the U.S. government accounted for 31%, 26% and 17% of our total
contract revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively. Qur contracts with
FEMA accounted for approxlmately 20% and’15% of our revenues in 2005 and 2004, respecnvely No individual
customer acc0unted for more than 10% of our total contract revenues in 2003. - :

[

Competitive Conditions '

Our business is highly competlnve wrth respect to all principal services we offer. Our Engineering and
Energy segments compete with numerous public and private firms that provide some or all of the services that we
provide. In the Engineering segment, our competitors range from large national and international firms such as
Parsons Brinkerhoff Inc., CH2M Hill Companies, PBS&J, Tetra Tech, URS Corporation and CDM to a vast
number of smaller, more localized firms. In the Energy segment, we compete with vnits of the Wood Group and
Bristow Group.
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The competitive conditions in our.businesses relate to the nature of the contracts being pursued. Public-
sectar contracts, consisting mostly of contracts with federal and state governmental entities, are- generally
awarded through a competitive process, subject to the contractors’ qualifications and experience. Our business
segmems employ cost estimating, scheduling and other techniques for the preparation of these competitive bids.
Private- sector contractors compete primarily on the basis of quahﬁcatwns quality of performance and price of
sérvices. Most private and public-sector contracts for professional services are awarded on a negouated basrs

We believe that the principal competitive factors (in various orders of importance) in the areas of services we
offer are quality of service, reputation, experience, technical proficiency, local geographic presence and cost of
service. We believe that we are well positioned to compete effecuvely by emphasrzmg the quality of services we
offer and our widely known reputation in providing professional engmeermg services in the Engineering segment
and technical and operations and maintenance services in the Energy segment We are also dependent upon the
avarlabllny of staff and our ability to recruit. ‘ ~

Seasonality VLo, L s .

Based upon our experience, our Engineering segment’s total contract revenues and incomie from operations
have historically been lower for our first fiscal quarter than for the remaining quarters due to the effect of winter
weather conditions, particularly in the Mid-Atlantic and Midwest regions of the United States. Typically, these
seasonal weather conditions unfavorably impact our performance ,of construction: management services. Our
Energy segment,is not as drreclly lmpacted by seasonal weather conditions.  *. . vy - 7o L

Lo g . . B L T {

Personnel . o o SRR R Rl ST P

At December 31, 2005, we had 4,817 total employees. Of this year-end 2005 total, our Engineering'\'segment
had 2,217 employees, our Energy segment had 2,546 employees, and our Corporate staff included 54 employees.
Certain employees of our 53%-owned Nigerian subsidiary are subject to an industry-based in-country.collective
bargaining agreement. The remainder of our workforce is not subject to collective bargaining arrangements We
believe that our relations with our employees are good. Conn .

' S ! ' . ' . v . . ' LA . .
E;(ecntive Officers. | v ' X o L 5 A

“The following represents a llstmg of our executwe officers as of December 31 2005 ot

4t

# . Donald P. Fusilli, Jr. — Age 54; President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer since Aprll 2001 Mr. Fusﬂll has
been employed by us in various capacities since 1973, including President and- Chief Operating Ofﬁcer from 2000
to 2001, and Executive' Vice President of our Energy segment from 1994 to 2000.. - - " .

William P. Mooney — Age 55; Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June 2000. Prior
to joining us, Mr. Mooney served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of FEI Company in-

Hillsborg, Oregon, a global supplier of caprtal equipment to the semrconductor and data storage mdusmes from
1999 to June 2000. . ‘

‘H. Ja.;nes McKnight — Age 61; Executive Vice. President, Generath0unsel and Secretary since Ju_neLZOOO.
Mr. McKnight has been employed by us since 1995, serving as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary from 1998 to 2000 and as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary from 1995 to,1998.

Monica L. lurlano — Age 48; Executive Vice President and Chief Resources Officer sincé May 2002.
Ms. Iurlano previously served as Vice President of Human Resources with L.B. Foster from 1999 to May 2002.
Prior 1o joining L.B. Foster, Ms. Iurlano served in various management positions at Highmark Blue Cross Blue
Shield from 1995 to 1999. Ms. Iurlano was also prevrously employed by us. from 1992 to 1995.as our Benefits
Manager. - . R " . L. . —

Craig O. Stuver — Age 45; Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller, Treasurer and Chief Accounting
Officer- since+April 2001. Prior to joining. us, Mr. Stuver served as a vice president of finance for Marconi
Communications from September 2000 to April 2001. Mr. Stuver was also previously employed by us from 1992
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to 2000, serving in various capacities including Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer briefly
in 2000 and as Vice President, Corporate Controller and Assistant Treasurer from 1997 to 2000. - s o

Bradley L. Mallory — Age 53; President of our Engineering segment since October 2003. Mr. Ma]Iory
previously served as a Senior Vice President from March 2003 through September 2003. Prior to Jommg us,
Mr. Mallory worked in various management capacities with the Pennsylvama Department of Transportatron
mcludmg Department Secretary from 1995 to 2003.

Richard W. Giffhorn — Age 56} ‘President of our Energy segment since September 2002. Prior to’ Jommg our
Energy segment, Mr. Grffhom was a self-employed consultant in 2001 and 2002, and previously served as Vice
President of ' Operatlons ‘for Baker Hughes INTEQ in Houston, Texas from 1993 to 2000. In June 2006,
Mr. Giffhorn resigned from his executwe ‘officer posmon

John D. Wh:teford Age 46 Executive Vice President of Mlchael Baker- Jr., Inc a subsidiary, and
Manager of our North Region since June 2000. Mr. Whiteford previously served in various capacities with us
since 1983, including Vice President of our Energy segment from 1997 to 2000.

vd

James B. Richards — Age 59; Executive Vice President of Mrchael Baker Jr., Inc. and Manager of our South
Region srnce June 2000 Smce joining us in 1996, Mr. Richards served as Vice President of Michael Baker I,
Inc. and Regtonal Manager of our Southeast Region from 1996 to 2000.

" Rex P. Doyle — Age 47;'Senior Vice President of our Energy segment since September 2003. Mr. Doyle
a]so served as Vice President of Sales and Marketing for our Energy segment from September 2002 to September
2003 and held various management positions at the Corporate level from August 2000 through August 2002.
Prior to joining us in August 2000, Mr. Doyle served as Director of Account Management for Enron from 1999
to July 2000. In Apnl 2006 Mr Doyle resrgned from his executive officer position.

#

Our executwe ofﬁcers serve at the dlscretron of the Board of Directors and are elected by the Board or
appointed annually for-a term of office extending through the election or appointment of their successors. .. -

. . 6 - L e - 1 e . + S
Available Information . . . . ERTYS

Our Internet website address is www.mbakercorp.com. We post our annual reports on Form 10-K, our
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports to’our
website as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. These reports and any amendments to them are also available at the website of the
Securitiess and Exchange Commission (“SEC™), hfip://www.sec.gov. We also post préss releases, earnings
releases, ‘the Code of Ethics for Senior Officers and the Charters related to the Governance and Nominating
Committee, Audit Committee and Compensation Committee to our website. Qur website and the information
contained on it are not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

e

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS - ’

Fa ! . .

In addition to other mformatron referenced in this report we are subject to a number of specific nsks

outlined below. If any of these risks or uncertainties actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows, and the market price of our common stock could be materially affected.

Changes ar'td‘ﬂuctuations in the U.S.'governmént’s spending priorities could materially affect our ~
future revenue and growth pmspects. ,

Our primary customers, which compose a substantial portion of our revenue and backlog; include agencies
of the U.S. federal goverriment and state and local governments and agencies that depend on funding or partial
funding provided by the U.S. federal government. Consequently, any significant changes and fluctuations inthe
government’s spending priorities as a result of policy changes or economic downturns may directly affect our
future fevenue streams.

Addmonally, reduced spending by the U.S. govemment may create competitive pressure wuhrn our mdustry
which could result in lower revenues and margins in the foture. - . e
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Our ability to attract, train, and retain professional personnel of the highest quality is a ‘competitive
advantage. Our future inability to do so would adversely affect our competitiveness.

Our contract obligations in our engineering and energy markets are performed by our staff of well-qualified
engineers, technical professionals, and management personnel. Our future growth potential requires the effective
attraction, training, and retention of these employees Our mablhty to retain these well-qualified personnel and -
recruit additional well-qualified personnel would adversely affect our business perforrnance and limit our ability
to perform new contracts.

+

Due to the nature of the work we perform to complete engmeermg and energy contracts, we are
sub.;ect to potentlal liability- clatms and contract dlsputes.
' . . o T
Our engineering and energy contracts often involve large projects where design, construction, or systems
failures could result in substantially large or punitive damages for which we could have liability. We maintain
insurance coverage through various policies which are intended to reduce-our financial exposure to any potential
liabilities or future claims.

L ' ' ‘ I oo

We may also experience a delay or withholding of payment for services due to performance disputes. If we
are unable to resolve these dlsputes and collect these payments, we would incur proﬁt reductlons and reduced
cash flows. : ‘ ‘ -

We are subject to procurement laws and regulations associated with our government contracts. If we do
not comply with these laws and’ regulatlons, we may be prohibited from completion of our existing
government contracts or suspended from government contracting and subcontracting for some perlod
of time, )

Our comphance with the laws and regulattons relatmg to the formatlon admtmstratton and performance of
these contracts is dependent upon our ability to ensure that we properly desxgn and execute compliant procedures.

Qur termination from any of our larger government CONLracts or suspension from future government

contracts for any reason would result in ‘material declines in expected revenue. .

We are subject to routine U.S. government audits related to our government contracts If audlt findings
are unfavorable, we could experience a reduction in our profitalnllty ' :

Our government contracts are SUb_]CCt to audit by the U.S. govemment These audits may result in the
determination that certain costs claimed as reimbursable are not allowable or have not been properly allocated to
government contracts according to federal govemment regulations.

We are subject to audits for'several years after payment for services has been received. Based on these
audits, the U.S. government may adjust or seek reimbursement for previously paid amounts. As a result, we could

experience negative effects to our revenue, profits, and cash flow. -

- . .. b . " i .o i ' '
We are subject to unpredictable economic cycles. A weakening of domestic and international economies
may result in a reduction in our revenues, profits, and financial condition.
t
Our engineering and energy services are affected by the overall level of economic activity‘within our target
markets. Econonuc activity is sub_lect to volatility that is due to a vanety of factors that are beyond our control.

Our private and government clients may change spendmg pnorttles due to economic downtums Addition-
ally, downturns may result in delayed or failed payments by some customers as well as delays in committing to
new contracts. . . "
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Our inability to continue to win or renew government contracts could result.in materlal reductlons in
our revenues and profits, : . ~ ; '

“We have increased our contract activity with the U.S. federal government in recent years.

“If our relatwnshlp or reputation with the federal govemmcm deteriorates for any reason and affects our
ablllty to win new contracts Of renew exlstlng ones, we could experience a materlal revenue decline.

Our involvement in partnerships exposes us to additional legal and market reputatidn”dama‘ges. )

Our methods of service delivery include partnerships and other ventures. If our partners fail to perform in a
satisfactory and timely manner, we may be exposed to claims for damages that are a result of a partner’s
performance. We could also suffer contract termination and damages to our reputation as a result of a partner’s
performance. :

We are engaged in highly competitive markets that pose challenges to continued revenue growth;

Our business is characterized by competition for contracts within the government and private sectors in
which service contracts are typically awarded through competitive bidding processes. We compete with a large
number of other service providers who offer the principal services we offer. In this competitive environment, we
must provide technical proficiency, quality of service, and experience to ensure future contract awards-and
revenue and profit growth.

Our dependence on other contractors and subcontractors mcreases proﬁt uncertamty t‘or our individual
comracts

+ ! . b

Our service delivery model frequently includes subcontracts, joint ventures, and other contractual agree-
ments with other contractors and subcontractors when bidding for and completing projects. If our partners are
iinable to provide quality services in a timely manner, our ab111ty to perform the contracted services and meet
expected profit levels could be compromised. R

Our international business operations are snbject to unique risks and challenges that create incl:'easeq ‘
uncertainty in these markets.

Qur international operations are subject to unique risks. These risks can include: potentially -dynamic
political and economic environments; civil disturbances, unrest, or violence; volatile .labor conditions due to
strikes and general difficulties in staffing international operations with highly qualified personnel; and logistical
and communication challenges. : :

We also could be subject to exposure to liability due to the Foreign Corrupt l_)raetices Act.”

Our goodwill or other intangible assets could become impaired and result in a material reduction in
our profits. . -

We have made acquisitions which have resulted in the recording of goodwill and intangible asséts within our
organization. If these assets become 1mpa1red a material write-off in the required amount would lead to
reductions in our profits. - : - - : :

We use “percentage-ef-completion” accounting methods for many of our projects This method may
result in volatility in stated revenues and profits.

Our revenues and proﬁts for many contracts are recognized ratably over the life of those contracts as work is
performed. This rate is based primarily on the proportion of labor costs incurred to date to total labor. costs
projected to be incurred for the entire project. The potential for material profit revisions exists should the total
labor cost to complete a project or percentage of the project that is completed be inaccurately estimated. .
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS ::

With respect to comments received from the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission on our
periodic and‘currént’ reports requlred under the Secuntres Act of 1933 no staf’f comments currently remain
unresolved. N O A 2 T

ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

In January 2003 we relocated our headquaners OfﬁCCS o Moon TOWIlShlp, Pennsylvama ThlS burldmg,
which we lease, has approxrmately 117000 square feet of office space and is used by our Corporate and
Engmeenng staff. Our Engineering and Energy segments primarity occupy leased office space in stand-alone or
multi-tenant buildings at costs based on prevailing market prices at lease inception. In addition to our Moon
Township offices, our. Engineering segment also has a major leased office in Alexandria, VA, and leases other
office space totaling-approximately 473,000 square feet in the U.S. and Mexico. Likewise, our Energy segment
has its principal offices in Houston, TX, and leases office space totaling approximately 102, 000 square feet in the

u.s. and abroad These leases expire at various dates through the year 2016.
r.

We also own a 75 000 square foot office building located in Beaver, Pennsylvama Wthh is srtuated on
approximately 230 acres and utilized by our Engineering segment. We believe that our current facilities’ will be
adequate for the operation of our business during the next year, and that suitable additional office space is readlly
available' to aceommodate any needs that may arise. o : o

K

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have been named as a defendant or co- defendant in legal proceedings wherem substanual damages are
claimed. Such proceedings are not uncommon to our business. We believe that we have recognized adeguate
provisions for probable and reasonably estimable liabilities associated with these proceedings, and that their
ultimate resolutions will not have a material impact on our corsolidated financial position or annual results of
operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TOA ‘VOTE oF SECURITY HOLDERS

i. 1

No matters were submltted to a vote of our. security holders dunng the fourth quarter of 2005
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PART II CL e

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER L
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES oo

Market Information

Our Common Stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “BKR.” The hiéh
and low closing prices of our Common Stock for each quarter during 2005 and-2004 were as follows:: B

| .. High " Lew
Year ended Deceﬁber 31, 2005: , P . . .l o
First quarter . . . .. ..... e A o ieviee.oi..l. $2455 ¢ $18.00 -
Second QUANter ........... . io.ioce.eeie $22.95  $16.32
Third quarter .. .........0....... e SO i 527607 1800
Fourth quarter ........... L IO .. 82700 $22.19
Year ended Décember 31, 2004: S o o
First quarter . ... ... TR RSP PETTT L0 s1270 0 81046
Second'quancr.......................................— ............... $1560 $11.95.
Third quarter .............. F R $16.60 $13.22
FOUPth QUATTET .+« e e e ettt e e e e e e et e e e S 17'$2002  $15.60
Holders . R o . . . o S U

As of June 30, 2006, we had 1,487 holders of our Common Stock. , . . |,

Dividends

Qur present policy is to retain any earnings to fund our operations and growth: We have not paid any cash
dividends since 1983 and have no plans to do so in the foreseeable future. Our loan agreement with our banks
places certain limitations on amounts of dividend payments.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2005 about equity awards under our equity
compensation plans and arrangements in the aggregate.

(n) (b) ()
Number of Securities Number of Securities Remaining
to be Issued upon Weighted-Average Available for Future Issuance
Exercise of Exercise Price of under Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options,  Outstanding Options, Plans (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))

Equity compensation plans
approved by :
shareholders . ......... 419,130 $11.57 964,757

Equity compensation plans
not approved by
shareholders .. ........ —

Total .................. 419,130

I|

“H
—
—
o
~1

964.757

16




Sales of Unregistered Securities+ -~~~ . - S 4

We did not sell any unregiste'red‘ éecuritiesz duriné the 'year ended Decerhber 31 2005.

e -

Purchases of Equity Securities

Neither we nor any affiliated purchaser bought any Mrchael Bakcr Corporatlon (“Baker“) equity securities

dunng the fourth quarter of 2005.>~ + 7
st e PR ot
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA - S S b .

RN .

A summary of selected ﬁnancral data for the five years ended December 31, 2005 is set forth m the
“Selected Financial Data” sectron of Exhibit 13. 1 1o this Form 10-K. Such summary is mcorporated herem by
reference. ' A " o

»
vy

The ﬁnancial data incorporated herein by reference for the years ended December 31,.2004 and 2003, ancl as
of December 31, 2004, has been derived from our consolidated financial statements for these periods, which have
been restated based on the matters'described in Note 2 to such consolidated financial statements, and are included
in Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K: The surrirhzir’y‘ﬁnancial data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, has also been restated based on the matters described in Note 2 to
our consolidated ﬁnancnal statements '

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

A discussion and analysis of our results of operations, cash flow and financial condition is set forth in the
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Résults of Operations” section of
Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K. Such discussion is incorporated herein by reference. :

. The discussion and analysts incorporated herein by reference for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, and as of December 31,.2004, has been revised for the matters giving rise to the restatement described in
Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements, whrch are also included in Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A QUANTITATI VE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK "

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 our primary mterest rate nsk related to our variable-rate investments
(mcluded in cash and cash equrvalents) whrch totaled $17.9 million as of December 31, 2005 and $13.0 million
as of December 31, 2004. Assuming : a 10% decrease in interest rates on these variable-rate investments (i.e., a
decrease from the actual werghted average mterest rate of 3.23% as of December 31, 2005, to a weighted average
interest rate of 2.91%), annual interest mcome woulcl have been approximately $58,000 lower in 2005 based on
the outstanding balance of vanable-rate mvcstmcnts as of December 31, 2005, Assuming a 10% decrease in
interest rates on these variable-rate investments (i.e., a decrease from the actual weighted average interest rate of
1.16% as of December 31, 2004, to a Weighted average interest rate of 1.05%), annual interest income would
have been approximately $15,000 lower in 2004 based on the outstanding balance of variable-rate investments as
of December 31, 2004. We had no variable-rate debt obligations or interest rate swap or exchange agreements as
of our 2005 or 2004 year-end dates. Based on the foregoing discussion, we have no material exposure to interest
rate risk. . . P C :

We have several forelgn sub51d1ar1es that transact pomons of their local actrvmes in currencies other than the
U.S. Dollar At December 31, 2005, such currencres included the British Pound Mexican Peso, ngerlan Naira,
Thai Baht and Venezuelan Bolivar. These subsidiaries composed 14.2% of our consolidated total assets at
December 31, 2005, and 6.2% of our consolidated total contract revenues for the year then ended. In assessing
our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk, we recognize that the majority of our foreign subsidiaries’
assets and liabilities reflect ordinary course accounts receivable and accounts payable balances. These receivable
and payable balances are substantially-settled in the same currencies as the functional currencies of the related
foreign subsidiaries, thereby not exposing us to material transaction gains and losses. Accordingly, assuming that
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foreign currency exchange rates could change unfavorably by 10%, we have no ‘material ‘exposure to foreign
currency exchange rate nsk We have no forelgn currency exchange contracts

Based on the nature of our busmess we have no direct exposure to commodlty price risk.
= "

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements, together with the repons thereon of our independent reglstered public
accounting firm (Deloitte & Touche LLP} and our predecessor independent registered public accounting firm
{PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP), and supplementary financial information are set forth within Exhibit 13.1 to this
Form 10-K. Such financial statements, the reports thereon, and the supplementary financial mformatron are
incorporated herem by reference. ) oo e -

Deloitte & Touche LLP- audited our consolidated l‘mancial statements as of and for the year'ended
December 31, 2005. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP audited our consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and for the years ended December 31,2004 and 2003 t '

The consolldated ﬁnancral statements :ncorporated herem by reference for the years ended December 31
2004 and 2003, and as of December 31, 2004, have been restated for the matters described in Note 2 to our
consolidated financial statements. s N T
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

_ FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE I BRI ST (R T . -

Not appllcable. s T

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES '

a0 L D
Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Coritrols and Procedares = - !

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with participation of olr management, including our
Chief - Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chiéf Financial Ofﬁcer'—(“CFO”),"of ‘our disclosure’ controls and
procedures, as such term'is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undér the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act™), as of December 31, 2005. This evaluation considered our various procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be 'disclosed by s-in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time penods specified in the rules and
forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that ‘such 1nformatlon is accumulated and commumcated
to managemem mcludmg our CEQ and CFO, as approprlate to allow tlmely decisions regard:ng requtred
disclosure. Based upon’ that evaluation, which mcluded the matters drscussed below our CEO and CFO
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effectwe as of December 11, 2005. Notwrthstand—
ing these material weaknesses, our managenient has concluded that the ﬁnancral statements ‘inclided in’ this
Form 10-K fairly present 'in all material respects our financial posmon results of operations : and cash flows for
the periods presented in confonmty with generally accepted accounting prmcnples in the Umted States
(“GAAP”)

' ¥ S Lo vl

- 1. We did not maintain effectrve controls including monitoring, over the’ accountmg for our sales and use
taxes. Specifically, we did not have a' complement -of operations. and accounting personnel aware of.the tax
ramifications of entering a new jurisdiction which resulted in misstating accrued sales and use taxes.
Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement in the aforementioned account that would
result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would .not be
prevented or detected. Accordlngly, we have determined that thrs control deﬁcrency constrtutes a, matenal
weakness. ©

v

2. We did not maintain effective controls-over the accounting for our mcurred bat not reponed (“IBNR”)
liabilities as required under GAAP. Specifically, we did not properly account for adjustments and- increased
activity in evaluating the liability. This control deficiency resulted in an adjustment to our condensed consolidated
financial statements for the second quarter of fiscal year 2005. This control deficiency could result in a
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misstatement in the aforementicned IBNR liabilities that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or
interim consclidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, we have
determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

Management’s Report on Internal Comrol Over Financial Reportmg ! o

Management is responsible for eslabhshmg and maintaining adequate mtemal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed under the supervision of our principal executive and principal financial- officers to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reportinig and the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accountmg pnnc1ples Our
internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that: .

(i) Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fau'ly reflect
transactions and dispositions of our assets; : .

(ii) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our directors; and

(iii) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of company assets that could have a material effect on cur financial statements. -

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the ‘degree of compliance w1th the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. W

.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer .
and chief financial officer, we conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over. financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005. The assessment was based on criteria established in the framework Internal
Control — Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzatlons of the Treadway :
Commission (COSO) ‘ "

Asa result of the material weaknesses descrlbed above, management has conc]uded that as of December 31,
2005 our internal control over financial reporting was not effective. : |

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial 'Report_ing

-

There were changes, as discussed below, in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as such term is
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2005, and that have materially affected, or is reasonably hkely to matenally affect, our internal
control over financial repom_ng .

v

Plan for Remedlatmn . !

We believe the steps described below, some of which we have already taken as noted herein, together with
others that are ongoing or that we plan to take, will remediate the matcna] weaknesses discussed above:

At

(1) We establlshed a tax function with a qualified tax director supported by internal and external
resources (began in July 2005)

.+ {2) We have supplemented our existing accounting and finance staff with additional mternal and

external resources as appropriate. We will continue to add financial personnel as necessary to provide
adequate resources with appropriate levels of experience and knowledge of GAAP (began in July 2005).

.+ (3) We have enhanced our review and documentation of accounting estimates. This includes but is not
limited to estimates of realizability of tax assets, potential loss contracts and insurance reserves (commenced
in October 2005). . ‘. e -
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In addition, we have implemented the following procedures to lmprove our internal control over ﬁnanclal
reporting: .- Co .

(1) We have emphasized ceriain key controls in an effort to mitigate significant risks and strengthen
our control environment. In this regard,- we have elevated within the company the awareness and
communication of tax related contingencies and financial repomng risks associated with contract accounting
and insurance reserves (began in June 2005).

)

{2) We have enhanced our momtonng of accounls by deploying account reconc1hatlon software,that
- facilitates access and review of reconciliations (deployment began in August 2005).

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 200$ has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered publicaccounting firm, as follows:

"REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Sharehoiders of
Michael Baker Corporation

We have audited management’s asséssment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporting, that Michael Baker Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
did not maintain effective 1ntemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, because of the effect
of the material weaknesses identified in ‘management’s assessment based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion. on management’s assessment and an opinion on-the effectiveness of the Company s
internal control over ﬁnanc1a1 repomng based on our audit. .

"We conducted our audll in accordance wnh the slandards of the Public Company Accountmg Over51ght
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. ‘We believe that our' audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions. -

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnancial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 'the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection. of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
coilusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on.a.timely basis. Also, projections of any evaltuation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
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because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. .

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been 1denuﬁed and included in management’s
assessment: . . . P T T -y

*+ The Company did not design and implement effective controls to provide reasonable assurance that

. liabilities for- sales and use taxes were identified and recorded timely. Specifically, the Company did not

“».  have a sufficient number of operations and accounting personnel with the requisite expertise to monitor,
identify, and account for the tax ramifications of entering a new tax jurisdictions. As a result, material
adjustments to accrued sales and use. tax liabilities were necessary in order to’ present the. 2005
consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Due to the
adjustments identified, the potential for additional misstatements to occur, and the lack of adequate
mitigating controls, there is a more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim consolidated financial statements could occur that would not be prevented or detected.

‘

* The Company’s controls over the process to estimate its liability for certain self insured general and
medical liability claims did not operate effectively. As a result certain assumptions used to estimate the
liability for claims incurred but not reported were not appropriate which resulted in a material adjustment
that was necessary to present the Company’s 2005 annuval financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Due to the significance of the misstatement that was identified,

. the potential for additional misstatements to occur, and the lack of other mitigating controls, there is more
. - .than a remote likelihood that:a material misstatement of the annual or interim consohdated financial
statements could occur that would not be prevented or detected.

These: material -weaknesses were considered. in-delermining'lhe nature, timing, and extent of audit tests
applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ‘the Company as of and for'the .year ended
December 31, 2003, and this report does not affect our reports on such financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over
financial ‘reporting as of December 31,:20035, is fairly stated, in all material respects,. based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, bécause of the effect of the material wéaknesses described above
on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in fnternal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoi‘ihg Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We ha\ie also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 20035, of the
Company and our report dated August 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s! Deloitte & Touche LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP . e

. ) - . ' B "
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania_ L, D
August 135, 2006 PR
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION . - . : - Cats
Not applicable. .

PART III - : N

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT T

Director Nommees

The following table sets forth certain information regardmg the nominees as of June 30, 2006. All of the
nominees except General (Ret.) Foglesong were elected directors by our shareholders at the 2005 Annual
Meeting. Except as otherwise indicated, each nominee has held the principal occupation listed or another
executive position with the same entity for at least the past five years. On April 24, 2006, the Board of Directors
appointed General Foglesong to the Board.

Robert'N. Bontempo .......... R Professor at Columbia University School of Busmess since July

Age 47 o - 1994. Formerly: Assistant Professor of International ‘Business at

Director since 1997 Columbia University Graduate School of Business from July
1989 to July 1994.

Nicholas P. Constantakis .. ........... Retired. Formerly: Partner, Andersen Worldwide SC (independent
Age 66 public accountants and consultants) from June 1961 10 August

Director since 1999 : 1997. Holds numerous investment company directorships in the
- . Federated Fund Complex and is Chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Funds as-of February 2005.

William 1.- Copeland . Retired. Formerly: Chairman of the Board of the Company; Vice

'

Age 88 : ' B} Chairman of the Board of PNC.Financial Corp and Pmsburgh
Director since 1983 :  National Bank. y

Donald P. Fusilli, Jr. ................ President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since

Age 54 . April 2001, Formerly: President and Chief Operating Officer
Director since 2001 ' from May 2000 to 2001; President Baker Energy until 2000,

Executive Vice President — Energy since 1994, other positions .
with the Company since 1973. Director RTI International Metals,

; Inc. - .o
Robert H Foglesong ................ President of Mississippi State University since February 2006
Age 61 : . Formerly a 33-year career with the United States Air Force,
Director since Aprll 2006 . including serving as Vice Commander, and retiring in February.

2006 as a four star general and Commander; United States Air
Force Europe. Founded and leads the Appalachian Leadershlp .
and Education Foundation.

Roy V. Gavert, Jro ... i " Chairman of Horton Company (manufacturer of valves for
Age 72 . household appliances) since August 1989. Formerly: President
Director since 1988 and Chief Executive Officer of Kiplivit North America, Inc.

(manufactunng) Chairman of World Class Proccssmg, Iic.
{manufacturing); retired Executive Vice President, Westinghousé
Electric Corporation. Director Fincom, Inc.; Trustee Bucknell

1
'

University.
John E. Murray, Jr. ................. Chancellor Duquesne Umversnty since 2001 Professor of Law of
Age 73 Duquesne University since prior to 1995. Formerly: Presiderit of -
Director since 1997 Duquesne University since prior to 1995 until 2001. Holds

numerous investment company directorships in the Federated
Fund Complex. : Lo
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Pamela S. Pierce ................. ... Self employed (consultant)..Formerly: President of Huber Energy

Age 51 until July 2004; President and Chief Executive Officer of Mirant

Director since 2005 Americas Energy Capital and Prodiiction Company from
September 2000 until September 2002, Vice President Business
Development, Vastar Resources, Inc. from February 1996 to
September 2000.

Richard L. Shaw ................... Chairman of the Board of the Company since ]993 Formerly
Age 719 . _ Chief Executive Officer from September 1999 to April 2001;
Director since 1965 .. President and Chief Executive Officer from September 1993

" through September 1994; President and Chief Execuuve Officer
from April 1984 to May 1992,

- oo

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, consisting of Dr. Bontempo as Chairman, and Mr. Constantakis and Mr. Gavert, held
24 meetings in 2005. The Board of Directors has concluded that all Audit Committee members are independent
as defined by the American Stock Exchange listing standards. In addition, the Board has determined that
Mr. Constantakis quatifies as an “‘audit committee financial expert” as such is defined by the regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. - O

Executive Officers L - ~

A v

[nformauon relating to our executive officers is set forth i in Part I of this Report under the capuon “Executlve
Officers.” Such information is incorporated herein by reference ) . -

L4

. *

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporti_r_lg Coﬂ;lplianée‘l . ’ N

" Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers to file
reports of beneficial ownership and changes in beneﬁcnal ownershlp of M1chael Baker Corporauon stock

[l

Directors and officers must furnish us with copies of thesereports. Based on these copies and dlrectors and

executive officers’ representations, we believe all directors and executive officers complied with the requirements
in 2005.

Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

‘We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Officers incorporating the provisions required by the SEC for
senior financial officers of the Company. A copy of this Code of Ethics is posted on our website at
www.mbakercorp.com. In the event that we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver from a provision of the
Code of Ethics for Senior Officers that requires discussion under SEC nules, we will disclose the amendment or
waiver and the reasons for such on our website.

The obligations of the Code of Ethics for Senior Officers supplement, but do not replace, the Code of
Business Conduct applicable to our directors, officers and employees A copy of the Code of Busmess Conduct is
posted on our website. I v '

(S . (.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION .

Directors’ Coampensation

A S

Compensation for non-employee directors is-as follows:

. Annual retainer — $17,000;

e Attendance at each regularly scheduled or- spemal meeting of the Board of Directors — $1,000
(Chairman — $1,250);

LI

* Attendance at a Board of Directors’ committee meeting — $750; : y
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* » Telephonic attendance at a Board of Directors or committee meeting — $100; S
' . - Co .
» Additional annual retainer.for Chairman of the Board of Directors — $15,000; and - TN

* Additional annual retainer for committee chairmen — $2,500 (Audit Committee Chairman — $4,500).

In addition, non-employee directors participate in the 1996 Nonemployee Directors Stock Incentive Plan,
which provides long-term incentive compensauon to eligible dlrectors Under this plan, each member of the
Board of Directors who is not an employée is granted 1,500 restricted shares and an ;optmn to
purchase 2,000 shares of our common stock on the first business day following the annual meeting of
shareholders each year.

See also “Related Party Transactions™ section below.

- SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

This i:';ble shows the c6mpensatipn for our Chief Executive Officer and the four remaining most highly paid
executive o_fﬁcers in 2005. ) ‘ o . -

Long Term , ‘._
Compensation :
Awards
Annual Compensation T itie All Other Total
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Payouts(l) Compensation(2) Compensation
Donald P. Fusilli . ........... 2005  $423,406 $ $205 005 ' $ 24210 . $652,621
President and Chief 2004  $410,010 3270, 606 $ — $154,005 - ' $834,621°
Executive Officer 2003 3407278 % — 3 — $ 13,622 $420,900
William P. Mooney . ......... 2005 $262,0000 $§ — § 61,501 $ 8727  $332318
_Executive Vice President and 2004  $246,002 . $103,321 $  —..  $102,133 $451,456
Chlef Financial Officer 2003 $244,158 § — 3 — $ 858  $245016
H. James McKnight ......... 2005 $250,518 $ — % 60216 $ 22,703 $333,437
- 'Executive Vice President, 2004 $244,019  -$103,190- § - — - % .82,871 + $430,080
General Counsel and - 2003 $239,059 . % — $ i — - $-13322 $252,381.
Secretary B
Richard W. Giffhorn ......... 2005  $222,659 % — $ 51,251 $ 6,897 $280,808
President — Baker Energy(3) 2004  $212890 $ 86,102 . % . — . $ 6034 . $305026
) 2003 $192,793 % — . $ — $ 9,688 $202,481
Bradley L. Mallory(4)‘.'. S _2()(55 '$221,678_ $ --— ‘$' 51,251 - $ 12,658 - "$285,588
President = Baker ° ' 2004  $205005 $ 86,102 $ = — $ 91247 ' $300,354'
Engmecrmg . 2003 $141008 $ - % — -3 8215 . $149 223

t RO N !

(1 ) Reflects the payment of the award for the performance pemod January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004 granted
.in 2003. . . . . :

(2) Includes matchmg conmbutwns made under'its 401(k) plan paid on behalf of the following individuals. in
2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively: Mr. Fusilli, $9,225, $9,225, and $11,000; Mr. McKnight 39,225, $8,479,
and $11,000; Mr. Giffhorn, $5,556, 35322 and $9,058; Mr. Mallory, $9,225, $8,535 and $7,755. Also
includes group life insurance premiums paid on behalf of the following ‘individuals as employees in 2005,
2004 and 2003 respectively: Mr. Fusilli $2,622, 32,622, and $2,622; Mr. Mooney $883, $883, and $838;
Mr. McKnight $5,449, 32,322 and $2,322; Mr. Giffhorn $1,331, $712, and $636; Mr. Mallory $712, $712
and $460. Includes $142,158 for Mr. Fusilli, $101,250 for Mr. Moohey and $72,070 for Mr. McKnight with
respect to stock option exercises in 2004. Includes tax gross-up payments and country club dues for the
following individuals in 2005: Mr. Fusilli, $12,363; Mr. Mooney $7,844; Mr. Mcnghr 38,029; and
Mr. Mallory, $2,721.

(3} Mr. Giffhorn resigned from the Campany in June 2006.
{4) Mr. Mallory joined the Company in March 2003,
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2005 Aggregate Option Exercises. and Year-End Optmn Values - S L

ThlS table shows the number and value of stock opuons exerc;sed and unexerc1sed for the named executwe
ofﬁcers

L e A ' i | S Do il AT [T
. v rNnml:m of becuntl&s e - e
’ Underlying Unexercised * Value Of Unexercised
. Shares .. P ~ W+ Options at™ ,» In-the-Money Options at
) Acquired on Value, . December 31, 2005 . . December 31, 2005
Name ‘ : " Exercise Realized Exercisable/Unexercisable ExemlsabldUnexerclsable( 1)
—_— \ C L = - — — - =
Donald P. Fusilli,Jr. .. O, ..  S$O. . 13291920503 $3,131,132/$316,259.
William P. Mooney . .. 0 $0 19,708/0 ) $195,602/%0
. H.James McKnigl:lt T 0o - %0 7 , 4,I824I17,010 . $47,878/3262,379
Richard W. Giffhom... . 0 $0 . oo, 00
0 .$0 N /(¢ I L 0I0|

Bradley L. Mallory e
(1 ) The value of unexercised options is based on rhe d{ﬁ"erences berween the exercise prices of the various option
grants and the closing price of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange on December 3 1, 2005 of

$25.55.

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

The following table provides mformatlon regardmg the potentlal payouts under the 2003 Long Term
Incentive Compensation Plan for the targets, established durmg .2005 . for' the January 1,. 2005 through

December 31,2007 pcrformance period. : : T . :
. T Performance or- o NS .
; Estimated Fut Payouts Und
A = -N.“mbl?zlgffrham’ g Other Perlod .. M0l Stack Price Based Plans
. IName * *twov . Other Rights * or.Payout ' - Threshold * Target .' Maximom -
_ Donald P. Fusilli, Jr. ... . (1) ' 1/05- 12/07 S — 7t 430498 $645,747
~ William P. Mooney . ... T 10512007 = $135304  $202.956
.. H.James McKnight.... ... (1) e 1/05 - 1207 . . $126,537.  $189.805 -
Richard W. Giffhorn ... ., ~(y.c 0 1/05-12/07, . — - . 3115253  $172,879
Bradley L. Mallory. ..~ el (1) lIOS - 12/07 — $115,253  $172, 879
- A - s

Pl

(1) Value af award is denominated in dollars. Payout will consist of 50% cash and 50% common stock of rhe

Company, one half of which is restricted for one year, . ' : I

12003 Lang -Term Incentive Compensanon Plan. In February 2003, the Board adoptcd the 2003’ Long Term
Incentive Compensation Plan, subject to shareholder approval. The shareholders approved this Plan at the annual
meeting on April 24, 2003, The new long-term incentive compensation plan is designed to award employees for
specific performance factors, which are defined in the Plan, over a three (3) year time period. During the first
three year time period, the awards are paid annually based on performance factors for a single year. The
Compensation Committee and the Board believe that this plan design provides a commitment to long-term
performance. The Plan provides for the payment of performance-based incentive awards to employees and
includes provisions that protect our ability to take a tax deduction for such awards. Payment of incentive awards
will be, in par, in the form of restricted stock, which will assist in aligning the interests of employees and
shareholders.

Employment Continuation Agreements

We entered into Employment Continuation Agreements in October 2000 with Messrs. Fusilli, Mooney and
McKnight; in September 2002 with Mr. Giffhorn; and in February 2004 with Mr. Mallory. Under the Agreements
with Messrs. Fusilli, Mooney and McKnight, the executives agree to remain in our employment for thirty-six
months following the date of a change of control (as defined in the Agreements), and we agree to provide salary
and benefits at levels commensurate with those prior to the change of control for that period. The Agreements
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further provide that if the executive’s employment is terminated by reasons other than death, disability, voluntary
tem‘unatlon (except a voluntary termination for good reason as defined in the Agreements), or is terminated by us
other than for cause (as defined in the Agréements), during that period, we will pay the executives their (1) earned
salary, (i) a severance amount equal to three times the sum of the executives’ annual base salary and the
executive’s average bonus for the five fiscal years preceding the change of control, and (iii) obligations accrued
under applicable benefit plans and programs, and continue their benefits for three years. The payments under the
Agreements may be subject to reduction to the extent that they are considered excess parachute payments under
the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, the executives will under certain circumstances receive similar benefits
if their employment is terminated in contemplation of a change of control and a change of control occurs within
one year following such termination. -

The Agreements with Mr. Giffhorn and Mr. Mallory are the same exce'pt that the executive agrees to remain
in our employment for twenty-four months following a change of control and the severance amount is an amount
equal to two times the sum of the executive’s annual base salary and the executive’s average bonus for the five
fiscal years preceding the change of control w;th continued beneﬁls for two years Mr. Glffhorn re51gned from the
Company on June 29, 2006. .

Related Party Transactions

We entered into an Employment Agreement with Richard L. Shaw in April 1988, which was supplemented
in March 1992, October 1994, June 1995, March 1998 and September' 1999. During 2001, Mr. Shaw, as our
Chief Executive Officer until April 25, 2001, was compensated under the terms of his Employment Agreement at
an annual salary of $425,006. In addition, we covered the costs of health insurance and maintained a life
insurance policy for Mr. Shaw as provided for in the Agreement. This: Agreement also provided for a
supplemental retirement benefit of $5,000 per month commencing on expiration of the Agreement. Effective
April 25, 2001, Mr. Shaw retired from the position of Chlef Executive Officer, and we and Mr. Shaw entered into
a Consulting Agreement for Mr. Shaw’s consulting services for the perlod April 26, 2001 through April 26, 2003.
The Consulting Agreement provides an annual compensation equal to 25% of Mr. Shaw’s previous salary of
$425,006. In addition, under the Consulting Agreement, we cover the costs of health insurance and maintain a life
insurance policy for Mr. Shaw. The Consulting Agreement also provides for a supplemental retirement benefit of
$5,000 per month commencing at the expiration of the consulting term. During 2003, we agreed to extend the
term of this Agreement for two years until April 26, 2005. During 2005, we extended the term of this Agreement
for an additional year. During 2006, we agreed to extend the term of this agreement for an additional year
through April 26, 2007. During 2005, we compensated Mr. Shaw at the rate of $35,000 per month in lieu of the
monthly compensation under his consulting agreement for the three-month period commencing on January 24,
2005 and ending on April 21, 2005 in return for his increased services provided during Mr. Fusilli’s previously
announced medical leave. ThlS adjusted arrangement covered the perlod until Mr. Fusﬂh s full-time, return in
April. -

+
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIFP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT -~

. COMMON STOCK OWNERSH[P :
Director and Executive Officer Stock Ownershlp

Under the proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Commlssmn a persan beneﬁc1ally OWns Mlchael
Baker Corporatmn common stock if the person has the power to vote or dispose of the shares, or if such power
may be acquired, by exercising options or otherwise, within 60 days. The table below shows how much Michael
Baker Corporation common stock is beneficially owned as of June 30, 2006, by directors, nominees for director, -
the chief executive officer, the four other highest paid executive officers in 2005 and all directors and executive
officers as a group. Each person has sole voting power and sole dispositive power unless, indicated otherwise.

“ , S _ Shares Percent
Executive Officer . OQwned(1(2)(3) ) of Class
Donald P. Fusilli, Jr. .. .........oooiiiii i oo 187,807 . 22%
William P. Mooney ......... e e P Lt 21,2020 00 0 %
H. James McKnight .. .. ... ... 23519 ¥
Richard W. Giffhorn . . ... ST I S 4166 T«
Bradley L. Mallory .............0....... i ] L Tgie
. . . - . '. . 'Shares - Percent
Non-employee Director/Nominee 0wned(2)(3) of Class
Robert N. Bontempo . .....c.......oooint e 21,500 ... *
Nicholas P. Constantakis...:............. b T Lo 27,000 *

- William J. Copeland .......... A, e VU .y 23,000 *
Roy V. Gavert, Jr. .......... F T U S 19000 0 ox
John E. Murray; Jr. SRR PR 21,500 .
o Pamela S.Pierce ............. P I 300t e
‘. Richard L. Shaw ........ PO L 312054 %

. Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (18 persons) ..... . cee.e., 448612(1) 5.3%

*_Less than 1% ' e . L '

(1)} Includes the number of shares of common stock indicated for each of the following persons ‘or group which

“are allocared to their respective accounts as participants in the. ESOP and as to which they are éntitled to

© give binding voting instructions to the trustee: of the ESOP: Mr. Fusilli 29,201 shares, Mr. McKnight

163 shares, Mr. Giffiorn 2,870 shares, Mr. Mallory 518 shares and directors and oﬂicers as'a group
61,625 shares. ESOP holdings have been rounded ro the nearest full share.

{2) Includes options thar are exercisable on or within 60 days of June 30 2006 as follows: Dr Bontempo
14,000 shares, Mr. Constantakis 11,000 shares, Mr. Copeland 14,000 shares, Mr. Fusilli 148,186 shares,

% " Mr. Gavert 9,000 shares, Mr. McKnight 21,834 shares Mr. ‘Mooney 19 708 shares, Dr. Murray
: " 14,000 shares, Ms. Pierce 2,000 shares, Mr. Shaw 13,000 shares, and all directors and oﬁicers as a group

297,330 shares. '

. { 3 ). lncludes restricted stock in whlch the Directors do not have dlsposl!we power until restrictions lift as follows:
Dr. Bontempo 1,500 shares, Mr. Consiantakis I, 500 shares, Mr. Copeland 1,500 shares, Mr. Gavert
1,500 shares, Dr. Murray 1,500 shares, Mr. Shaw 1,500 shares. :

(4) Includes 5,500 shares gifted to Mr. Shaw's spouse for which Mr. Shaw disclaims beneficial ownership.
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Owners Of More Than 5% . R s . a ; ct

The following table shows shareholders who are known to the Company to be a beneficial owner of more
than 5% of Michael Baker Corporation’s common stock as of December 31, 2005,

- " Shares of Percent
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Common Stock(1} of Class
Michael Baker Corporation . ..... P T R T Coees . e 1')701‘0-50(2), 2004% .
Employee Stock Ownership Plan , L
" Michael Baker Corporation ) )
Airside Business Park, ' . C o
100 Airside Drive - e ' o ! T
Moon Township, PA 12108 : s c- o
Jeffrey Gendell . .. ... ... . i 847,300(3) = 9.90%
55 Railroad Avenue, 3rd Floor : ' ’ -
. Greenwich;, Connecticut 06830 e S T
Wellington Management Company, LLP. .......................... 536,3004). .6.27%
75 State Street : P
Boston, MA 02109 ] o ;
Dalton, Greiner, Hartman, Maher & Co . ....... 0., 425,900(5) 5.06%

565 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2101
New York, NY 10017

(1) Under regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, a person who has or shares .voting or
investment power with respect to a security is considered a beneficial owner of the security. Voting power is
the power to vote or direct the vating of shares, and investment power is the power 1o dispose of or,direct the
disposition of shares. Unless otherwise indicated in the other foomores below, each person has sole vormg
power and sole investment power as to all shares listed opposite such person’s name.

{2) The ESOP requires the trustee to vote the shares held by the trust in accordance with the t'nstr.'u-ct‘ibn.s from
the ESOP participants for all shares allocated to such participants’ accounts. Allocated shares for which no
such instructions are given and shares not allocated to the account of any employee are voted by the trustee
in the same proportion as the votes for which participant instructions are given. In the case of a tender offer,
allocated shares for which no instructions are given are not voted or tendered, and shares not allocated to the
account of any employee are voted by the trustee in the same proportion as the votes for which participant
instructions are given.

(3) Accordmg to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006, Mr. Gendell is a managmg member of Tanrme

«  Management, L.L.C., which beneficially owns, as general partner.of Tonrme Partners, L.P., 360,845 shares,

, Tontine Capital Managemem L.L.C., which beneficially owns, as geneml partner of Tontine Capital
Partners, L P., 85300 shares, and Tontine Overseas Associates, L.L.C., which beneficially owns
401,155 shares, and in that capacity directs their operations. Acco:dmgly he shares both dispositive and
voting power with respect to the 847,300 shares. ’

(4) According to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006, Wellington Managemem Company shares votmg
power with respect to 382,200 shares and dispositive power with respect ro 536,300 shares in its capaary as
an investment advisor.

(3} According to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006 Dalton, Greiner, Hartman, Maher & Cp. has sole
voting power with respect to 414,665 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 425,900 shares. '

See Item 5 for Equity Compensation Plan Information. : Vo

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

We entered into an Employment Agreement with Richard L. Shaw in April 1988, which was supplemented
in March 1992, October 1994, June 1995, March 1998 and September 1999. During 2001, Mr. Shaw, as our
Chief Executive Officer until April 25, 2001, was compensated under the terms of his Employment Agreement at

28




an annual salary of $425,006. In addition, we covered the costs of health.insurance and maintained a life
insurance policy for Mr. Shaw as provided for in the Agreement. This Agreement also provided for a
supplemental retirement benefit of $5,000 per month commencing on expiration of the Agreement. Effective

April 25, 2001, Mr. Shaw retired from the position of Chief Executive Officer, and we and Mr. Shaw entered into

a Consulting Agreement for Mr. Shaw’s consulting services for the period April 26, 2001 through Apnl 26, 2003.
The Consulting Agréement provides an annual compensation equal to’25% of Mr. Shaw’s previous salary of
$425,006. In addition, under the Consulting Agreement, we cover the costs’of health insurance and maintain a life
insurance policy for Mr. Shaw. The Consulting Agreement also provides for a supplemental retirement benefit of
$5,000 per month commencing at the expiration of the consulting term. During 2003, we agreed to extend the
term of this Agreement for two years until April 26, 2005. During 2005, we extended the term of this Agreement
for an additional year. During 2006, we agreed to extend the term of this agreement for an, additional year
through April 26, 2007, During 2005, we-compensated Mr. Shaw at the rate of $35,000 per month in lieu of the
monthly compensation under his consulting agreement for the three-month period commencing on January 24,
2005 and ending on April 21, 2005 in return for his increased services provided during Mr. Fusilli’s previously
announced medical leave. This adjusted arrangement covered the perlod untnl Mr. Fusﬂll ] full time return in
April. . : :

T

Mr. Fusilliis a reglstered professional engmeer In order to facilitate the Company’s compliance with certain
state regulatory requirements, Mr. Fusilli holds a 50% ownership interest in a Pennsylvania pannershlp, Baker
and Associates, which was established for the purpose of practicing professional engineering in those states.
Mr. Fusilli receives no gain or profit from the partnership or the contracts into which it enters. All profits from
such contracts are assigned by the partnership to Michael Baker Corporation or a subsidiary.

- ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit fees

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees for services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Deloitte & Touche LLP

2005 PwC 2004
Audit Fees . ... i e $1,285,353(1) $1,375,279(4)
Audit Related Fees. . ... oiiiir it ienennnnns $  14,000(2) L} 3,253(5)
Tax Fees ................... P $ 19,700(3) $ 100,785(6)
Al Other Fees .. ... ... it —_ —
Total Bees .ottt e e $1,319,053 $1,479,317

(1) Deloitte & Touche LLP's audit fees represent the aggregate fees billed for fiscal year 2005 for professional
services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statement and
review of financial statements included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Included in the
audit fees for fiscal year 2005 are $609.853 of additional fees related to the restatement of our financial
statements for fiscal years 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

{2) Services related to ESOP audit fees.

(3) Services related to revenue certification, Nigerian corporate taxes and Nigerian VAT taxes. In addition to the
fees listed for services related 1o fiscal year 2005, Deloitte & Touche LLP’s fees for the same type of services
related to prior fiscal years performed and billed in 2006 were $91,0600.

(4} PwC'’s audit fees represent the aggregate fees billed for fiscal year 2004 for professional services rendered by
PwC for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statement, the review of financial statements included in
the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and for Sarbanes Oxley testing for the U.S. Included in the
audit fees for fiscal year 2004 are $386,892 of additional fees related to the restatement of our financial
statements for fiscal years 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
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{5) Services related to ESOP audit assistance.
(6) United Kingdom tax services and .Nigerian payroll rax services.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Pollcles and Procedures

~ The Avdit Committee is respon51ble for the appointment, compcnsanon and oversight of the work of the
independem auditor. As part of this responsibility, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and
non-audit services performed by the independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of such services
does not impair the auditor’s independence. :

The annual audit services engagement terms and fees are subject to the specific pre-approval of the Addit
Committee. With respect to other permitted services, the Committee pre- approves certain services and categories
of services on a fiscal year basis subject to thresholds. All other permitted services must be pre- approved by the
Audit Committee.

The Chief Financial Officer determines whether services ta be provided require pre-approval or areAinclu_ded
within the list of pre-approved services.

All services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP and PwC in fiscal year 2005 were pre-épproved by the
Audit Committee. '
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.' ',

(a)x(1)

The following financial statements are incorporated in Item 8 of Part I1 of this Report by reference to the
consolidated ﬁnancml statements wrthm Exhibit 13.1 to this Form 10-K: :

Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the peried ended December 31, 2005

- Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

@)(2)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the perlod ended December 31, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Investment for each of the three- years in the period ended
December 31, 2005 . Co - :

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Reglstered Public- Accounting Firm (Delome & Touche LLP)

Report of Independent Registered Pubhc Accounnng Frrm (PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP)
Fmancral statement’ schedule for the year ended December 31 2005: AR

Schedule l] — Valuatlon and Qualifying Accounts

‘Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm -(Deloitte & ‘Touche LLP) on Financial

Statement Schedule for the year énded Decémber 31, 2005 (included as Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 10-K)

' Report of Independent Regrstered Public Accountmg Firm (PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP) on Financial

Staternent Schedule for the yea.rs ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (included as Exhlblt 99.2 to this

Form 10-K). ‘ : oo : T
All other schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the requ1red information is shown
in the consolidated ﬁnancral statements or notes thereto ~ oo
(a)(3) The followmg thlblts are included herewrth as a part of this Report S .
Exhibit - ‘ e . P T Y.
No. ’ o Descnptmn .
.3.1.  Articles of lncorporauon as dmended filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual ‘Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, and incorporated herein by reference.
32 By-laws, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
: ended December 31, 1994, and iricorporated herein by reference. -
4.1 Rights Agreement dated November 16, 1999, between us and American Stock Transfer and Trust -
Company, as Rights Agent, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Report on Form 8-K dated November 16, 1999,
and incorporated herein by reference. .
10.1 2005 Incentive Compensation Plan (Attachments excluded) filed herewith..
10.2 Consulting Agreement dated . April 25, 2001, by.and between us and Richard L. Shaw filed as

Exhibit 10.2(c) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference

10.2¢(a) First Amendment to Consulting Agreement dated Apnl 26, 2003 by and between us and Richard L.

Shaw, filed as Exhibit 10.2(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31,
2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.2(b) Second Amendment to Consulting Agreement dated April 26, 2005, by and between us and

10.3

Richard L. Shaw, filed as Exhibit 10.2(a) 1o our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
June 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Continuation Agreement dated as of October 27, 2000, by and between us and Donald P.
Fusilli, Jr., William P. Mooney and H. James McKnight, filed as Exhibit 10.2(c) to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
No.

10.3(a)

10.3(b)

10.3(c)

10.3(d)

10.3(e)

10.4

10.5,

106

10.7

10.7(2)

108

13.1

21.1
23.1
K1
312
321
99.1

99.2

Description
Employment Continuation Agreement dated as of October 27, 2000, by and between us and James B,
Richards and John D. Whiteford, filed as Exhibit 10.2(d) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.,
Employment Continvation Agreement dated April 16, 2001, by and between us and Craig O. Stuver,
filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30 2001, and
incorporatéd herein by reference. P
Employment Continuation Agreement dated September 23, 2002, by and between us and Richard W.
Giffhorn, filed as Exhibit 10.3(c) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31; 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.
Employment Continuation Agreement dated April 1, 2003, by and between us and Moenica L. urlano,
filed as Exhibit 10.3(d) to cur Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2003,
and incorporated herein by reference.
Employment Continuation Agreement dated February 23, 2004, by and between us and Bradley L.
Mallory, filed as Exhibit 10.3(e) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003, and mcnrporated herein by reference. .
First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated September 17, 2004, by and between us and
Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, PNC Bank, National Association and Fifth Third Bank, filed as
Exhibit 10.4(a) to our Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.
1995 Stock Incentive Plan amended effective April 23, 1998, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.
1996 Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit A to our definitive Proxy
Statement with Tespect to our '1996 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and mcorporated herein by
refererice.
Office Sublease Agreement dated August 6, 2001, by and between us and Airside Busmess Park, L.P.
(exhibits omitted), and incorporated herein by reference
Third Amendment to Office Sublease Agreement dated February 19, 2003, by and between us and
Airside Business Park, L.P., filed as Exhibit 10.7(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference,
2003 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, filed as Exhibit A to our April 24, 2003 Nottce of
Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement, and incorporated herein by reference.

‘Selected ‘Financial Data, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations, Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, Reports of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firms, and Supplemental Financial Information, filed herewith and to be included as the
Financial Section of the Annual Report to Shareholders, for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Subsidiaries, filed herewith. ‘

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounung Firm (Deloitte & Touche LLP), filed herewith.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith, ’
Certification of .the Chief Financial Officer pursuant-to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith.
Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Deloitte & Touche LLP) on ﬁnanc1al
statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed herewith.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountmg Firm (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) on
financial statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES '

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly

caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 15, 2006

MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION

By: /s/ Donald P. Fusilli, Jr.

Donald P. Fusilli, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by
the following persons on our behalf and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature

fs/ Donald P. Fusilli, Jr.

Donaid P. Fusilli, Jr.

/s/  William P. Mooney

William P. Mooney

fs/ H. James McKnight

H. James McKnight

/s/ Craig O. Stuver

Craig O. Stuver

fs! Richard L. Shaw

Richard L. Shaw

/s/ Robert N. Bontempo

Robert N. Bontempo

fs! Nicholas P. Constantakis

Nicholas P. Constantakis

fs/  William J. Copeland

William J. Copeland

fs/ _Robert H. Foglesong

Robert H. Foglesong

fs/  Roy V. Gavert, Jr.

Roy V. Gavert, Jr.

Title

Director, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Sentor Vice President, Corporate
Controller and Treasurer
(Chief Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

33

Date

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006

August 15, 2006




Signature

/s/ John E. Murray, Jr.-’

f'

John E. Murray, Jr.

/s{ Pamela S. Pierce

Pamela S. Pierce
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For the years ended

Column A _

MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION

Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)

Column D

Column B Cotumn C Column E
Additions Balance at

. .. Balance at Charged to . Charged to Deductions — End of
Description Beg. of Year Expense  Other Accounts Describe Year
For the year ended .
' December 31, 2005:
Inéome tax valuation allowance  $6,237 5 (1@ $0 $ 0 $6,150
Nigerian prepaid taxes -« ... $1,198 $ 362(b) $0 b 0 $1,560
Allowance for doubtful

accounts $ 683 $ 572 30 $ (509c) $ 746
For the year ended ' 'j ": o Co ,
" December 31, 2004: R
Income tax valuation allowance

(restated) T $4,053 -$2,174(a) $0 $ 0 $6,227
Nigerian prepaid taxes ) ’ o .

(restated) $ 970 . 3 228(b) $0 $ 0 $1,198
Allowance for doubtful ; . . ‘ .

accounts -$2,392- + - § 587 50 $(2,296)(c) $ 683
For the year ended

December 31, 2003:
Income tax vaJuatibp allowance ... ,, el :

(restated) $2,497 $1,556(a) 30 k] 0 $4,053
Nigerian prepaid taxes . . -

(restated) $ 847 $ 123 30 3 0 35 970
Allowance for doubtful ., L .
TCaccounts T T YT T U$24257 0§ 312 “$0 $2,392

$° (345)(c)

{(ay Relates to valuation of féderal, state, and foreign net operating losses.

(b) Relates to the inability to realize Nigerian prepaid income tax assets..

(c) For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the deduction amount primarily reflects accounts
receivable balances written off during the ¥ear as well as recoveries of allowances previously expensed.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA -

EXHIBIT 13.1

)
!
I

{Dollar amounts in thousands, ; Restated* Restated* Restated* Restated*
except per share information) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
' ' - )
Results of Operations ‘ . . ‘
Total contract revenues $ 579,278 § 552,046  $426,761 $405,264 | $403222
Ir;come from operations™ 16,882 18,868 5720 7 16,354 19,603
Net income/(loss) 5,051 8,394 (800) 9,039 . 8,~l7|5h1
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share $ 0.58 _$ 0.93 . $ 010y % 106 . $. B 104‘
Return/(loss) on average equity 6.5% 12.1% (1.2)% 14.8% 16.8%
. b
Financial Condition . . REE
Total assets $ 235361 7S 215,013 T $181099  $i45495  '§143,562
Working capital $ 49264 $ 43624 § 42,768 $ 35,5]2‘ $ 32,172
Current ratio - 135 1.32 1,42 147, 137
Long-term debt . $ — 3 —i- $ 13,48] $ - § -
Shareholders” investment 79,824 74,781 64,343 65,977 56,398
Book value per outstanding share : 9.40 8.78 7.3 71.87 6.81
Year-end closing share price $ 2555 § 1960 § 10.35 $ 1095 $ “1520
Cash Flow v
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating o
activities $ 12461 $ 28494 §(14,658) §$ (9,139} $ 19,602
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing ‘ ot )
activities (7,078) (4,055) (4,787) <121 (71718)
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing ' 1
activities (1,813) (18,094) 18,686 U421 L {(2,524)
Increase/(decrease) in cash : $ 3570 ¢ 6,345'. s (759) " $°(8,597) $ 9,360
’ ' . v L, TR | )
Backlog B . S .
Total . ' Co - $1,321,800 $1,399,500°  $720,700 * $545,200 - $509.600
Share Information :
Year-end shares outstanding 8,490 8,519 8,320 8,384 8,278
Average diluted shares outstanding :
during year 8,715 - 8,554 8,403 8,543 8,449

* See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K for a discussion of the restatement.
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N ceocce s . MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSISOF - ror 0 L o0 e
¢« i+ FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS ... .
S e ‘ : A TV

Restatement . ot : ' e ,4.77,- ,»i‘-"'?-:i‘ URL

' We have restated our prevrously issued consoltdated financial statements for the years 2004 and 2003 as
well as our prevrously issued selected financial data for the years 2004, 2003 2002 and 2001 for the rnatters
discussed more fully in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in this Form 10 K ‘Al amounts and
commentary mcluded in this Management 5 Dtscussron and Analysis of Fmancral Condmon and Results of
Operatrons sectlon grve effect to the restatement . , \ .4

.1 F PO o

As a result we did not timely file our quarterly reports on Form lO Q for the periods ended June 30} 2005
September 30, 2003, and March 31, 2006, or our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2005, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC”). These failures to file timely SEC reports have
caused us to be out of compliance relatwe to our listing agreement with_ the American Stock Exchange The
Amencan Stock Exchange has mdrcated that we Tnust ﬁle the above referenced SEC Forms no later- than
August 15 2006 in order to régain comphance

e Loy o ' i [

In addmon we did not meet the SEC’s filing deadhne related to our Form 10-Q for the second ‘quarter of
2006. Accordingly, we will remain out of compliance relative to our listing agreement with the American Stock
Exchange until our-Form 10-Q for.the second quarter of 2006°is filed. We have requested an extension of.time
fromi the American Stock Exchange to regain compliance with our-listing agreement. .4 .- = 7/ .., o

i, . T, N

Business Overview . .. . SR e e . .

We prov1de engmeermg and energy expemse for pubhc and private sector chents worldwrde Our pnmary,
services include engineering design for the transportation and civil infrastructure markets operauon and
maintenance of oil and gas production facilities, architectural and environmental services, and construction
management services for buildings and transportation projects. We view our short and long-term liquidity as
being dependent upon our results of operations, changes in working capital and our borrowing capacity,

Business Environment

Our operations are affected by appropriations of public funds for infrastructure and other government-
funded projects, capital spending levels in the private sector, and the demand for our services in the engineering
and energy markets. We could also be affected by additional external factors such as price fluctuations and capital
expenditures in the energy industry.

Since its approval in 1998, the federal government’s TEA-21 legislation has made significant transportation
infrastructure funding available to the various state agencies. TEA-21 expired on September 30, 2003, but was
extended 11 times at previous funding levels. On August 10, 2005, the U.S. Congress approved a new, six-year
$286.5 billion measure entitled SAFETEA-LU, the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity
Act-A Legacy for Users. This new level of guaranteed funding reflects an increase of approximately 46% over the
TEA-21 levels. The most significant impact of the numerous extensions of TEA-2| was that many states were
unable or unwilling to make sizeable long-term investments in major transportation infrastructure projects. This,
in turn, has had a marginally adverse impact on our transportation planning, design and construction management
services in 2005. However, with the new bill now enacted, we expect to see increasing activity occurring in the
second half of 2006 and into 2007. From 2002 through 2005, we have observed increased federal spending
activity on Departments of Defense (*“DoD’”) and Homeland Security (“DHS”) activities, including the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA™). To mitigate the effect of the state transportation budget constraints
on our business, management has focused more marketing and sales activity on these agencies (DoD and DHS) of
the federal government. As a result of this strategy, we increased our revenues from U.S. federal government
contracting activity in excess of 100 percent since 2002. Additional government spending in these areas, or on
transportation infrastructure, could result in profitability and liquidity improvements for us. Significant contrac-
tions in any of these areas could unfavorably impact our profitability and liquidity. In March 2004, we announced
that we had been awarded a five-year contract with FEMA for up to $750 million to serve as the Program
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Manager to develop, plan, manage, implement, and monitor the Multi-Hazard Flood Map Modernization Program
for flood hazard mitigation across the United States and its territories. Approximately $566 million of this
contract value was included in our backlog as of December 31, 2005. In addition, during 2004, we were selected
for several indefinite deliveryfindefinite quantity task order contracts by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
U.S. Air Force and the U.S. National Guard. During 2004, we were also selected for several contracts with the
Mineral Management Service, agencies within the U.S. Department of Transportation, DHS (which includes
FEMA, US-VISIT and the U.S. Coast Guard), the Department of Energy, and the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. During 2003, we continued to be awarded new work from DOD and DHS, including a five-year
indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contract with a potential maximum value of $30 million by the U.S. Army
Corp of Engineers, Transatlantic Programs Center. In addition, we received a three-year, indefinite deliv-
ery/indefinite quantity contract with a potential maximum value of $3 million from the Savannah District,
U.S. Army Corp of Engmeers :

In 2003, our Energy busmess refocused its offshore Managed Services offering to include onshore U.S. oil
and gas producers, as demonstrated by two new fou;—year contracts totaling $144 million received during 2003
from Huber Energy. During 2005, we received an additional $1.0 million per year onshore Managéd Services
contract in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming from Storm Cat Energy, to operate and maintain its coal bed
methane production facilities, which are adjacent to the Huber propertics. With regard to offshore Managed
Services, during the third quarter of 2004, we executed a long-term, multi-million dollar Managed. Services
contract with Anglo-Suisse Offshore Partners, LLC (“ASOP”’) to operate, maintain and optimize the perform-
ance of ASOP’s offshore oil and gas producing properties in the Gulf of Mexico. We have also increased our
presence into the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and international markets, where oil and gas producers are currently
investing significant amounts of capital for new projects. Internationally, weé received a multi-million dollar
contract in 2005 to provide operations assurance services for the Agbami Floating Production Storage and
Offloading Project in deepwater offshore Nigeria.
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Results of Operations D i

The following table reflects a summary of our operating results (excluding‘intercompany transactions) for
ongoing operations.for the years ended December 31, 2005,.2004 and 2003 (dollars in millions). We evaluate the
performance of our segments. primarily based on income from operations before Corporate overhead allocations.
Corporate overhead is allocated between our Engineering and Energyrsegments based on a three-part formula“
comprlsmg revenues, assets and payroll. - Sanet N B

' Total Contract Revenuesllncome from Operauons

Restated . Restated

B v o0 - . “2005 - 2004 2003
. , . ot ‘ e ' o : o BRI
Engineering | U S S ‘ SR o
Total contract revenues = . . v . - .o L $371.1 . $343.3 .. $250.6
Income from operatlons prc-Corporate overhead . " ' | _ 40-._2' . 332 17.9
Pementage of Engmeermg revenues 10.8% 9.7% 7.1%
Less: Corporate overhead . 7 . ‘ (13.6) (11.3) (1.5
Percentage of Engineering revenues ' ) ' . . 3.7% 3.3% 4.6%
Income from operations C ) . c 26.6 21.9 6.4
Percemdg'e of Engineering revenues e ‘7.2% & 6.4% 2.6% .
Epergy, ~ T T L .
Total contract revenves., . . .. ST 2082 2087 1762
rlncomel(loss) from operatlons pre- Corporate overhead ' 0.9) 2.7 47
Percentage of Energy revenues ' _ (0.4)% 1.3% ’. 2.7%
Less: Corporate overhead ' ' ‘ ' (5.1) 4.7 (4 0)
Percentage of Energy revenues 2.4% 23%+ . 2.3%
Income/(loss) from operations. . . . . S o (6.0) 20 -. 07
Percentage of Eriergy revenues - . ' . . o (2.9)% (1.0)% = 04% .
Tolal reportahle segments ) L ' : ‘ _
Total contract revenues _ _' ' . ) o T 579'.3 ' '5520 426.8
Incoriie from operations pre-Corporate overhead v o 393 59 0 N6
Percemage of total reporrable segment revenues o ' T 6.8% 6.5% Y 5.3%
Less: Corporate overhead ~ ~ o , o a8mn 60y . (155)
Percen!age of total repormble segment revenues L o 3.2% 29% 3.6%
Income from operations g ! . ‘ N ' ‘ 206 ' 199 ' 7.1
' " Percentage of iotal reportable segment revenses a 3.6% 3.6% 1.7%
Other Corporatellnsurance expense ‘ ' (3:’7) (1.0 ‘ 1.4

_ . $169 " S 189 § 57
Percemage of total Company revenues . ] C2.9% 34% = 1.3%

Total Company — Income from operallons

[P
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Total Contract Revenues C o

Total contract revenues increased 5% for 2005. In our Engineering .segment, revenues increased 8%,
reflecting the addition of the above mentioned FEMA map modernization program management project, which
commenced near the end of the first quarter of 2004. In addition, as a result: of achieving certain performance
levels from the second quarter of 2004 through the third quarter of 2005 on'this project, the Engineering segment
recognized revenue associated with incentive awards totaling $6.4 million during 2005. Total revenue from
FEMA was $114 million in 2005 versus $80 million in 2004. Much of the FEMA revenue growth was associated
with the cost’ of building the information infrastructure required for the project. Revenue from Engineering's
private and public sector clients increased 9% and 8%, respectively. In the our Energy segment, revenues
decreased slightly as a result of lower revenues on certain contracts in Energy’s computerized maintenance
management and operations assurance services (“CMMS”) business, as partially offset by revenue increases
associated with the addition of the aforementioned ASOP Managed Services, Storm Cat Energy and Agbami
projects. The lower 2005 revenues associated with CMMS contracts were due to the wind down of several
projects during late 2004 and early 2005. Also negatively impacting Energy revenues in 2005 was the loss of
certain offshore projects in'the Gulf of Mexico, where propertics were sold and we were not able to retain the
contracts with the new owners. :

Total contract revenues increased 29% for 2004. In our Engineering segment, revenues mcreased 37%,
reflecting the addition of the above mentioned FEMA map modernization program management project, which
commenced near the end of the first quarter of 2004. Engineering’s revenues were lower during 2003 due. to
delays in the commencement of certain public sector projects due to state budget constraints in the first half of
2003 and a slow down in its private sector contract activity during 2003. Revenues from our Engineering
segment’s private sector clients increased by 4% in 2004, while revenues from public sector clients increased by
41% as a result of the new FEMA project. Engineering’s revenues for transportation-related services increased by
6% in 2004 due to the continued funding of transportation infrastructure projects under the TEA-21 legislation. In
our Energy segment, revenues increased 19% for 2004 primarily as the result of the two new onshore Managed
Services contracts that commenced during 2003, as well as the addition of several new ovqrsea's contracts and
additions to existing contracts that occurred during 2003 and 2004, ‘

+

Gross Profit

Expressed as a percentage of total contract revenues, gross profit decreased to 14.4% in 2005 from 15.7% in
2004. Our Engineering ‘segment’s gross profit percentage increased slightly to 19.5% in 2005 from 19.4% in
2004. With respect to FEMA, the positive effect of the aforementioned incentive awards was more than offset by
a higher use of subcontractors (at lower margins) to build the information infrastructure in 2005, Our Energy
segment’s gross profit percentage decreased to 7.1% in 2005 from 9.9% in 2004. In 2005, Energy’ s gross proﬁt
expressed as a percentage of revenues was adversely affected by the previously mentioned loss of certain projects
in the Gulf of Mexico and the resulting change in our contract mix toward lower margin labor-based contracts,
and the delays and cancellations of contracts in our CMMS business and related headcount reductions that
occurred during the first and second quarters of 2005. We also increased our reserve for medical insurance claims
by $0.7 million during the second quarter of 2005 and the majority of this expense was allocated to cost of work
performed, thereby reducmg gross profit for both the Engineering and Energy segments. Out gross profit for 2005
was further unfavorably impacted by $1.25 million as a result of the subsequent event relating to a professional
liability insurance claim that is further discussed in Note 17 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Additionally, higher costs: related to workers’ compensation and general liability claims had a
negative impact on our Energy segment’s gross profit for 2005,

Expressed as a percentage of total contract revenues, gross profit mcreased to 15 7% in'2004 from 14.3% in
2003. Overall, our 2004 gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenues benefited from cost reduction
measures lmplemented by management relative to our medical insurance coverage and from lower workers’
compensation and general liability insurance costs associated with several favorable claim. developments Our
Engineering segment’s gross profit percentage increased to 19.4% in 2004 from 18.1% in 2003, This increase is
primarily attributable to the effect of the new FEMA project, as slightly offset by higher medical insurance costs.
Our Energy segment’s gross profit percentage increased slightly to 9.9% in 2004 from 9.7% in 2003, This slight
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improvement reflects' an increase in gross profit related to certain Managed Services contracts in 2004, cost
reduction measures we implemented relative to our medical and 401(k) retirement benefit plans, and lower
general liability insurance costs partially offset by lower profitability associated with certain overseas contracts.

Direct labor expressed as a percentage of total contract revenues was 31%, 30% and 37% in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Direct labor is.a major component of our cost of work performed due to the nature of our
service businesses. The recent decreases were attributable to greater usage of subcontractors by, both our
Engineering and Energy segments as compared to 2003. : . 1

Sellmg, General and Admmzstrauve Expenses

¢ Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A™) expenses expressed as a percentage of total contract revenues

decreased to 11.5% in 2005 from 12.2% in 2004. In the Engineering segment, SG&A expenses ‘expressed as a
percentage of revenues decreased to 12.3% in 2005 from 13.1% in 2004. In the Energy segment, SG&A expenses
expressed as a percentage of revenues decreased to 10.0% in 2005 from 10.9% in'2004. These decreases in
SG&A expenses expressed as a percentage’ of revenues primarily reflect the combination ‘of significantly lower
incentive compensation expense in both segments for 2005 in conjunction with the 5% increasé in revenues. In
addition to significantly lower incentive compensation expense being recorded in 2005 due to our 2005 financial
performance, amounts previously accrued at' December 31, 2004 under our long-term incentive compensation
plan and totaling $0.3 million were reversed in the second quarter of 2005 when such amounts were no longer
considered to be payable under the plan. Offsetting these decreases in SG&A expenses expressed as a percentage
of revenues was the effect of our setiling the A&L litigation. As discussed in Note 17 to the accompanying
financial statemérits, this settlement had the effect of increasing our SG&A expenses (specifically Corporate
overhead expense) by $0.9 million m * the second quarter of 2005. Aside from the éffect of this litigation
settlement, Corporate overhead expense incréased by $1.8 million for 2005, pnmanly due to hlgher salary and
salary-related costs and professronal fees ‘Professnonal fees related 1o the restatement totaled '$0.5 mlllton in
2005. oot

SG&A expenses expressed as a percentage of total contract revenues decreased to 12.2% in ,2004 from
13.0% in 2003. Desprte a 22% increase in SG&A expenses for 2004, the decrease in SG&A expenses as a
percentage of revénues resulted from: the ‘aforementioned 29% increase in revenues. The increase in SG&A
expenses was primarily related to accruals for our 2004 short-term and long-term incentive compensation
programs at maximum levels. Allocated Corporate overhead costs expressed as a percentage of revenues
decreased in 2004 as a result of lower spending associated with our new information-systems, as partially offset
by professional fees totaling $1.0 million incurred during 2004 in connection with our implementation of SOX. In
our Engineering segment, SG&A expenses (including Corporate overhead) expressed as a percentage of revenues
decreased to 13.1% in 2004 from 15.5% in 2003. Engineering’s SG& A expenses (excluding Corporate overhead)
expressed as a percentage of revenues decreased to 9.8% in 2004 from 10.9% in 2003. Engineering’s Corporate -
overhead allocation amount was slightly lower in 2004, while its revenues increased by 37%. In addition, our
Engineering segment’s higher 2004 incentive compensation costs were more than offset by revenue increases
resulting in an SG&A percentage decrease; excluding’ Corporate Overhead. I ‘our Energy segment, SG&A
expenses (including Corporate ovérhead) expressed as a percentage of revenues increased to 10.9% in 2004 from
9.4% in 2003. Our Energy segment’s SG&A expenses {excluding Corporate overhead) expressed as a percentage
of revenues increased to 8.6% in 2004 from 7.1% in 2003. Energy’s Corporate overhead-allocation percentage
was 2.3% in both 2004 and 2003; accordingly,’ hrgher 2004 mcentwe compensatron expense accounted for both
of Energy s SG&A percentage mcreases N Ces

far T -4

. Other lncome and Expense R e e fo

. Interest income mcreased to $0. 3 mllllon m 2005 versus $0.1 mllllon in 2004 We were. in a net 1nvested
position for the majority of 2005 versus a net borrowed posmon for the majorlty of 2004. Interest expense
increased to $1.5 million in 2005 from $1.4 million in 2004. As a result of our underpayment of income, payroll,
value added, and sales and use taxes in our Energy segment (see further discussion in Note 2 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements), we accrued $1.4 million in interest expense in.2005 versus $1.1 million in
2004. Other expense for 2005 totaled '$0.6- million-and included a- write-down totaling $0.6 million associated
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with an unconsolidated Energy subsidiary as the result of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. Other income for 2004
totaled $1.2 million and primarily included a gain of $0.2 million on the sale of an investment and equity eammgs
totaling $0.6 millicn from two unconsolidated minority-owned.- ventures. o .

Interest income was an insignificant amount in 2004 and 2003 due to minimal invested amounts and low
interest rates on investments during both years. Interest expense was $1.4 million in both 2004 and 2003: We
were in a net borrowed position under our credit agreement for the majority of 2003 and the first quarter of 2004.
This borrowed position during the majority of 2003 and early 2004 resulted from changes in our billing process
and system effective January 1, 2003, which caused temporary delays in both client billings and cash collections
during 2003. (See additional discussion under the Liquidity and Capital Resources section below.} During the
second and third quarters of 2004, .we alternated back and forth between net borrowed and net invested positions.
During the majority of the fourth quarter of 2004, we were in a net invested position. As a result of .our,
restatemem we accrued $1.1. million in interest expense in 2004 versus $0.6 million in 2003. These interest
accruals relate to the underpayment of income, payroll, value added and sales and use taxes in our Energy
segment (see further discussion in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements). Other income
was $1.2 million for 2004 as compared to other expense of $0.7 million for 2003. Other expense for 2003
primarily consisted of a $0.8 million impairment of an investment in Energy Virtual Partners (“EVP"), an Energy
services business, whose board voted to discontinue operations and liquidate the business. |

o 5 : :

Income Taxes . o .. ' ' S

Our prov1snons for income taxes resulted in effective tax rates of 67% in 2005, 55% in 2004 ancl 122% in
2003. The variance between the United States (“U.S.”) federal statutory rate and the effective rate for these
periods is due pnmanly to taxes on foreign income, which we are not able to offset with U.S. foreign tax credits.
Our effective rate is also negatwely impacted by state income taxes, permanent items that are not deductible for
U.S. tax purposes and Nigerian income taxes that are levied on a deemed income bass.

Contract Biicklog

. - T 1 ' . . . : ] . . . ot
{In millions) L . o . December 31, 2005 December 31,,2004
Engineering o ch 8 L1092 $ L1152
Energy =~ _ ‘ ‘ : ' 212.6 12843
Total . . $ 1,321.8 .. $ 1,399.5

Backlog consists of that portion of uncompleted work that is represented by signed or executed contracts.
Certain of our contracts with the Federal government and other clients may be terminated at will, or opuon years
may not be exercised, therefore, no assurance can be given that all backlog will be realized.

As of December 31, 2005 _and 2_004, $566 million and $678 million of -our backlog relates to a $750 milljon
contract in the Engineering segment to assist FEMA in conducting a large-scale overhaul of the nations flood
hazard maps, which commenced late in the first -quarter of 2004. This contract includes data collection and
analysis, map production, product delivery, and effective program management; and seeks to produce digital
flood hazard data, provide access to flood hazard data and maps via the Internet, and implement a nationwide
state-of-the-art infrastructure that enables all-hazard mapping. Due to the task order structure of the contract,
realization of the timing and amount of the original contract value of $750 million remains difficult to predict.
FEMA has identified specific program objectives and priorities which it intends to accomplish,,under this
program. As the initial task orders are completed and progress against ObjeCI’.lVCS is measured, we will become
better able to predict realization of ‘this contract award We may’ at a‘time in the future reduce the backlog

accordingly. } ' 7 ' _
R e g e o : : i Lo

In our Energy segment, we also consider purchase ordcrs from clients for labor services as backlog These
purchase orders typically have a twelve-month term. Amounts recorded as revenues on a periodic basis are
reduced from backlog. Most purchase orders have cancellation clauses with thirty-day notice provisions. -
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $12.5 million in 2005 and $28.5 million in 2004 compared to
net ‘cash used in operating activities of $14.7 million in 2003. The decrease in cash provided by operating
activities for 2003 resulted primarily from lower net income, higher days sales outstanding associated with our
net unbilled revenues, and lower accrued compensation (related to the 2004 incentive compensation bonuses that
were paid in 2005). The cash provided by operating activities for 2004 was the direct result of significantly higher
net income, higher payables at year-end 2004 associated with Engineering’s new FEMA project, the accrued
Engineering and Energy 2004 incentive compensation bonuses, and the accrued 2004 discretionary contribution
to our 401(k) retirement plan totaling $1.5 million. The cash used in operating activities for 2003 was negatively
affected by lower net income and year-end 2003 increases in receivables and net unbilted revenues of $9.2 million
and $10.3 million, respectively. These increases were related to our implementation of our new billing system
and related changes to our billing process effective January 1, 2003. As a result of these billing system and
process changes, we experienced certain data conversion and training 1ssues which caused delays in producmg
client invoices during the first quarter of 2003, ..

Net cash used in investing activities was $7.1 million, $4.1 million and $4. 8 m11110n in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The cash used in investing activities for all three years relate entlrely to capital expendlturcs The
capital expenditures for 2005 include office and field equipment purchases totaling $3.0 million, computer and
software equipment totaling $3.1 million and leasehold improvements totaling $0.9 million. The capital
expenditures for 2004 included office and field equipment purchases totaling $1.5 million, upgrades to our
information systems totaling $1.0 million, and computer software and equipment purchases totaling $0.9 million.
For 2003, the capital expenditures included leasehold improvements totaling $2.5 million for our largest
Engineering office and $1.4 million relating to the new information systems. Qur capital expenditures also
included computer equipment and software purchases totaling $0.7 million for 2003. We also acquire computer
equipment and software, as well as office space, furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles, and other equipment
through operating leases. The use of operating leases reduces the level of capital expenditures that would
otherwise be necessary to operate hoth segments of our business.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.8 million and $18.1 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively,
versus net cash provided by financing activities of $18.7 million for 2003. The cash usage for financing activities
during 2005 resulted from stock repurchases totaling $1.8 million for 104,300 treasury shares, as partially offset
by proceeds from the exercise of stock options in an amount of $0.6 million. During 2005, we alsopaid
$0.6 million in capital lease obligations. The cash usage for financing activities during 2004 resulted from
repayments of long-term debt totaling $13.5 million, the elimination of a book overdraft balance from year-end
2003 and payments for capital lease obligations of $0.3 million, as partially offset by proceeds from the exercise
of stock options totaling $1.7 million. The cash provided by financing activities for 2003 reflects the proceeds
from long-term debt totaling $13.5 million (which was used to fund the aforementioned working capital needs in
conjunction with changes in our billing process and 'system and the resultant billing and collection delays), our
book overdraft position with our bank at year-end 2003 and payments for capital lease obligation of $0.2 million.
In addition, pursuant to our stock repurchase program, we paid $0.7 million to acquire 80 ,400 additional treasury .
shares during the first quarter of 2003.

In 1996, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 500,000 shares of our Common Stock in
the open market. In 2003, the Board of Directors authorized an additional repurchase of up to 500,000 shares for
a total authorization of 1,000,000 shares. During 2003, we repurchased 80,400 treasury shares at an average
market price of $8.58 per share (based on market prices ranging from $7.90 to $8.81 per share) for a total cost of
$690,000. We made no treasury share repurchases during 2004. During the second and third quarters of 2005, we
repurchased 104,300 treasury shares at an average market price of $17.11 per.share (based on market prices
ranging from $16.35 to $18.56 per share) for a total cost of $1,808,000. As 6f December. 31, 2005, 520,319
treasury shares had been repurchased under our Board’s authorizations..Under our credlt agreement which
became effective in Sepiember 2004 (see discussion below), our treasury share repurchases ‘cannot exceed
$5 million during the four-year term of the agreement.
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The following table represents the number of shares available for repurchase under our stock,repurchase
program:
Y- 2005 2004 7 2003

_Shares available for repurchase —'beginning of the year , . l583,981 ‘583,981v ‘ I64l,3;81
Additional share authorization K ‘ —_— - = -500,000
Share repurchases o " - (104,300) -—  {80,400)
Shares available for repurchase —end of the year . ‘ 479,681 583,9'81:' 583,981

e Worlcing capital increased.to $49.3 million at December 31, 2005 from $43.6 million at December 31, 2004.
Our current ratios were 1.35:1 and 1.32:1 at the end of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

: We have an unsecured credit agreement (the “Agreement”) with a consortium of financial mstrtutrons The
Agreement ‘provides for 2"commitment of $60 million through September 17, 2008. The commitment includes the
sum of the principal amount of revolving credit loans outstanding and the aggregate face value of outstanding
letters of credit. As of December 31, 2005, only letters of credit totaling $7.0 million were outstanding under the
Agreement The Agreement requires us to ineet minimum equity, leverage, interest and rent coverage, and current
rano covenants If any, of these ﬁnancral covenants or certain other conditions of borrowing are not achieved,
Uinde’r ceitain elrcumstances after a cure period, the banks may demand the repayment of all’ borrowings
outstanding and!or requrre depostts to cover the outstandmg letters of credit. We expect to be in complrance wrth
these ﬁnancral covenants for at Ieast the next year.

+

.t In connection with the'restatement of:our consolidated financial statements thfough March 31, 2005, we did
not ttmely file our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the second and third quarters of 2005 and the first'quarter
of 2006, or our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. As a result, several covenant
Violations related to the timing of our financial reporting occurred under the Agreement. The lenders have waived
these violations by allowing us to'file our Forms 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2005 and:September 30,
2005, our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, and our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2006 w1th the SEC by August 15, 2006 We expect to complete all of these past due ﬁltngs by August 15 2006.

Furthermore we dld not meet the SEC’s filing deadlme related to our Form 10-Q for the second quaner of
2006. Accordingly, our lenders have also waived our resulting covenant violation related to the timing of this
filing. by .allowing us to file such Form 10-Q by September 30,-2006. We currently expect to be. able to file our
Form '10-Q for the second quarter of 2006 by September 30, 2006. Beginning with our Form 10-Q filing for the
third quarter of 2006, we currently expect to complete our quarterly and annual SEC filings within the SEC’s
filing deadlines.. - . . . vi e

ln 2003, as a result of the tncreased borrowmgs and our financial performance we were requrred to seek and
obtain waivers of several of our ﬁnancral ratio covenants at the end of the second and third quarters The most
notable covenams that required warvers were debt to cash flow and leverage ratios. In connection w1th the third
quarter warver we were able to amend our minimum owners’ equity and leverage ratio financial covenants
effective with the fourth quarter of 2003 computations, and the cost in excess of billings covenant was elrmmated

In the second quarter of 2003, we also entered into an agreement with our banks to provide a Revolving
Credit Note (the “Note”) in the’ amount of $5 million through the middle of the third quarter of 2003. The Note
provided us with additional hqurdrty that was needed in conjunction' with changes in our billing process and
system which catsed temporary delays in both client billings and cash collections during the 'first nine months of
2003 All borrowmgs were repard and the Note matured during the third quarter of 2003. '

o . Y /-

. We plan to. uttllze our. borrowing capac1ty under the Agreement for short-term workmg capital needs; to
support strategic opportunities that management identifies, and to make our past due tax payments. .Our strategy
is 1o better position ourselves for growth in our Engineering and Energy segments through selected opportunistic
acquisitions that compliment our experience, skill and geographic presence. We consider acquisitions and
investments as components of our growth strategy and intend to use both existing cash and the Agreement to fund

+
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such endeavors, If we commit to funding future acquisitions, we may need to adjust our credit facilities to reflect
a longer repayment period on borrowmgs used for acquisitions.

After giving effect to the foregoing, we believe that the combmatlon of cash-generated from operations and
our existing credit facility will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital expenditure requirements for at
least the next year.

Contractual Obllgatlons and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

A summary of our contractual obhgattons and off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2005 are
as follows:

nil

(Amounts in thousands) ' ' s .
R e te - Payments Due by period

o : - Within |~ 2-3 4-5 Over 5
Contractual Obligations * Total Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligations .~ $ 65738 $ 15130 § 24904 $ 14370 $ 11,334
Capital lease obligations + . . 1726 814 . 883 . 29 —
Purchase obligations,. - . ‘.~ . . 6,580 3,050 3,350 180 —
Other -long-term liabilities ~ * 707 — — — 707
Total contractual obligations . % 74751 % 18994 § 29,137 $ 14579 $ 12,041

St T e Co - Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

Within 1 C2-=3 4-5 Over 5
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements Total Year Years Years Years
Standby letters of credit - - - $ 6957 § — 3 — % — % 6957
Performance and payment bonds L 30 30 — — —
Total commercial commitments §, 6987 § 30 $§ . — $  — § 695

We pnmarlly utlltze operatmg leases to acqutre assets used in our daily business activities. These assets
1nclude office- space, computer and rélated equipment, and motor vehicles. The lease payments for use of these
assets are’ recorded’ as expenses, but do not appear as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Our most
51gmﬁcant individual operating lease commitment relates to approximately 117,000 square feet of office space
under lease in, Moon Townshtp, PA for our corporate and Engineering segment headquarters, through January 31,
2013..The related lease commitment for thls office space tota[ed $16.1 million at December 31, 2005.

Our purchase obligations relate to legally binding agreements to purchase goods or services at agreed prices
as of December-31, 2005. These obligations are associated with such items as maintenance agreements related to
our information and telecommunication systems, services related to audits of our consolidated and subsidiary
financial statements, insurance premiums and consulting agreements. Other long-term liabilities include those
amounts on our December 31 2005 ba}ance shcet representing deferred compensation payable to our board of

dlrectors l g

Our banks issue standby letters of credit (“LOCs™) on our behalf of under the Agreement discussed above.
As of December 31, 2005, most of our outstanding LOCs were issued to an insurance company to serve as
collatera] for payments ‘the’ msurer is required to make under certain of our self-insurance programs. This LOC
may be drawn .upon in'the event that we do not reimburse the insurance company for claims payments made on
our behalf Such LOC renews automaucally on an annual basis unless either the LOC is returned to the bank by
the beneﬁctary or our banks elcct not (o renew it

£ . - s L
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Critical Accounting. Policies : : y eonLT '

We have identified the following critical accoun'ting' policies as those that are most irrtportant to the portrayal
of our results of operations and financial condition, and which require management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments. Each of these policies are also addressed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements:

Project Cost Estimates to Complete — We utilize the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for the
majority of our contracts in our Engineering segment. Revenues for the current.period on these contracts are
determined by multiplying the estimated margin at completion for each contract by the pro_lect s percentage of
completion to date, adding labor costs, subcontractor costs and other direct costs (“ODCs™) incurred to date, and
subtracting revenues recognized in prior periods. In applying the percentage-of-completion method, a project’s
percent complete as of any balance sheet date is computed as the ratio of labor costs incurred to date divided by
the total estimated labor costs at completion, Estimated labor costs at completion reflect labor costs incurred to
date plus an estimate of the labor costs to complete the project. As changes in estimates of total labor costs at
completion and/or estimated total losses on projects are identified, appropriate eammgs adjustments are recorded
during the period that the change or loss is identified. Due to the volume and varying degrees ‘of complexity of
our active Engineering projects, as well as the many factors that can affect estimated costs at completion, the
computations of these estimates require the use of complex and subjective judgments. Accordingly, labor cost
estimates to complete require regular review and revision to ensure that project earnings are not misstated. The
percentage-of-completion method is also to account for certain construction-type contracts in.our Energy
segment. We have a history of making reasonably dependable estimates of costs at completion on our contracts
that follow the percentage-of-completion method; however, due to.uncertainties inherent.in the estimation
process, it is possible that estimated project costs at completion could vary from our estimates. As of
December 31, 2005, management does not believe that material changes to project cost estimates at completion
for any of our open projects are reasonably likely to occur.

Revenue Recognition — As referenced above, we recognize revenue untder the-‘perc'entage'-of-completion
method for the majority of our Engineering segment contracts in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”,
Under certain circumstances, we may agree to provide new or additional engineeririg services to a client wrthout
a fully executed contract or change order. In these instances, although the costs of providing theseé ‘services are
expensed as incurred, the recognition of related contract revenues are delayed until the contracts and/or change
orders have been fully executed by the clients, other suitable written pro_]ect approva]s are received from the
clients, or until management determines that revenue recogmtlon is appropnate based on the probability of client
acceptance. The probability of client acceptance is assessed based on such factors as our historical relationship
with the client, the nature and scope of the services to be provided, and management s abt]tty to accurately
estimate the realizable value of the services to be provided. Under this policy, we had not recogmzed potential
future revenues estimated at $1.4 million and $2.0 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for
which the related costs had already been expensed as of these dates. The consistent application of this policy may
result in revenues being recognized in a period subsequent to the period in which the related costs were incurred
and expensed. : e L.

+

Our Energy segment recognizes revenue for the majortty of 1ts contracts in accordance with SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. (*“SAB™) 104, “Revenue Recognition.” SAB 104 requrres 'that revenue should generally
be recognized only after (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) the related services have been
rendered, (3) our selling price is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectibility is- reasonably ~assured..

Income Taxes — We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Fmancral Accountlng
Standards No. (“SFAS”) 109. We record our annual current tax provmon based upon our ibook income pl]us or
minus any permanent and temporary differences multtplred by the statutory rate in the approprlate Jurtsdrcttons
where we operate. In certain foreign jurisdictions where we operate 1ncome tax is based on a deemed proﬁt
methodotogy which is a function of revenue. In these foreign jurisdictions, ‘we ¢alculate our annual current tax
provision based on our recorded revenue multiplied by the foreign junsdictions statutory rates. The calculation of
our annual tax provision may require interpreting tax laws and regulations and could result in the use of
judgments or estimates which could cause our recorded tax liability to differ from the actual amount due.
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-+*We recognize current tax assets and liabilities: for estimated taxes refundable or payable on tax-returns for
the current year. We also récognize deferred tax assets or liabilities for the estimated:future tax effects attributable
to.temporary differences.and carryforwards. Our current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based
on provisions in:enacted tax-laws in each jurisdiction.where we operate. We do not consider the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates in the current period. We: analyze .our. deferred tax assets and -place’a valuation .

allowance oh'those assets, if we:do not'expect the realization of these assets to be more likely than not.
e T

Conrmgenc:e — The prcparatlon of ﬁnancml statements in confom'uty with accountmg principles gcnera]ly
accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts. of assets and liabilities andrthe disclosure :of contingént assets and liabilities as of the date of the
financial statements; and also affect the amounts of revenues and éxpenses-reported for each period. Specifically,
management estimates are inherent in the ‘assessment of our exposure to insurance claims that fall below policy
deductibles and to litigation and other-legal claims:and contingencies, as'well as in determining our liabilities for
incurred but not reported (*IBNR™') insurance claims. -Significant judgments by us, and reliance on third-party
experts. are-utilized in determining probable and/or reasonably estimable amounts to be recorded or disclosed in
our:-financial - statements. The results.of any changes in accounting estimates are reflected in the financial
statements of the period in which the changes are determmed We do not beheve that material changes to these
estimates are reasonably likely to occur. .- et ,

Recent Accountmg Pronouncements | ., o o s _

i - In zDecember 2004, the Fmanmal» Accounting Standa:ds BoaId (“FASB”) lssucd SFAS. 123R which
replaces. SFAS 123 ‘and supersedes Accounting ‘Prin¢iples'Board Opinion No. (“APB*') 25, *Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R also amends SFAS 95, .“Statement of Cash Flows,” to require reporting
of excess tax benefits from the exercises of stock-based compensation awards as a financing cash inflow rather
than as an operating cash inflow. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) subsequently amended the
effective date of SFAS 123R to be effective for the first interim period after December 31, 2005 for calendar year
companies. SFAS 123R requires that the expense resulting from all share-based payment transactions be
recognized in the financial statements. This statement applies to all awards granted after the required effective
date, and shall not apply to awards granted in periods before the required effective date, except if prior awards are
modified, repurchased or cancelled after the effective date. In March 2005, the SEC released Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB™) 107 to assist registrants in implementing SFAS 123R while enhancing the information that
investors receive. The FASB has also issued interpretative guidance. We will adopt the provisions of SFAS 123R
on January 1, 2006 and expect to use the modified prospective application method in our adoption of SFAS 123R.
SFAS 123R will not have a material impact on our financial statements since we have been recording our stock-
based compensation expense under the fair value method in accordance with SFAS 123 since January 1, 2003.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153 “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets — an Amendment of
APB No. 29.” APB 29 is based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based
on the fair value of assets exchanged. The guidance in APB 29, however, included certain exceptions to that
principle. SFAS 153 amends APB 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
substance. The provisions of this statement are effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not expect the provisions of this statement will have any impact on
our financial statements. .

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. (“FSP} 109-1, “Accounting for Income Taxes, to
the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004,” and
109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” FSP 109-1 provides guidance on the application of SFAS 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” to the provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“‘the Act”)
that provides a tax deduction on qualified production activities. FSP 109-2 provides for a special one-time tax
benefit on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer, provided certain criteria are met. Both
FSP 109-1 and 109-2 were eﬂ"ectlve upon issuance. Neither of these provisions had any 1mpact on our 2005
financial statements. "
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In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations.”
FIN 47 clarifies that the term “‘conditional asset retirement’obligation’; as used'in SFAS 143, Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset.retirement activity: in which the
timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of
the entity. Accordingly, FIN 47 clarifies that an entity, is required to recognize a liability for:the. fair value of a
conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the:fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated.
This interpretation was effective for fiscal years ending after Decembcr 15, 2005. We adopted FIN 47 m the
fourth quarter of 2005 and such adoptlon had 'no impact on our ﬁnanmal statements

Caand e " v

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, “Accountmg Changcs .and Error Correctlons a replacement of
APB No.-20 and FASB Statement No..3.” SFAS 154 requires, among other things, retrospective: application,
unless impracticable, to prior period financial. statements «for voluntary changes. in accounting principles .and
changes required by an-accounting pronouncement in the unusual circumstances invwhich the pronouncement
does not include specific transition ,provisions. SFAS.154 also requires that"a change in -depreciation;
amortization, or depletion method for long-lived, nonfinancial assets should bé accounted: for as.a change in
accounting estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. The guidance for reporting-the correction of an
error in previously issued financial statements and the change of an-accounting estimate .will not' change- from
APB 20. SFAS 154 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of this standard
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertaint} 'i'ri'Incdme'Taxés. » FIN'48 proVid\es
guidance' on' the measurement, recognition, classification and disclosure of, as well‘as the - interim period
accounting for, uncertain-tax positions. We will be required to adopt the provisions of FIN. 48 effective January 1,
2007. We are currently evaluating the:impact that FIN 48 will-have-ontour financial statements.-." ~

- C . she o,
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003
{As Restated - (As Restated -
{In thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 See Note 2) See Note 2)
Total contract revenues $ 579,278 $ 552,046 $ 426,761
Cost of work performed 495,883 465,601 365,703
Gross profit 83,395 86,445 61,058
Selling, general and administrative expenses 66,513 67,577 ‘55,338
Income from operations 16,882 18,868 5,720
Other income/(expense): . .
Interest income 341 84 23
- Interest expense (1,520) (1414) (1,400)
Other, net (586) 1,181 (640}
Income before income taxes -15,117 ‘ 18,719 _ " 3,703
Provision for income taxes 10,066 10,325 - 4,503
Net income/(loss) 5,051 8,39'4. e /.(800)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
, Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of 30 tax 425 (217) . (3431
Unrealized gain on investment:
Unrealized holding gain, net of $30 tax in 2003 —_ — “ 37
Less: Reclassification adjustment for gain on sale
included in net income, net of $89 tax benefit
in 2004 — (109) —
Comprehensive incomel/(loss) $ 5,476 3 8,068 5 (1,106)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share $ 0.59 $ 1.00 $ (0.10)
Diluted earnings/floss) per share $ 0.58 $ 0.98 $ (0.10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS' o t
As of December 31,
- - ! L 2004
. ) - {As Restated -
{In thousands) 2005 ° See Note 2)
Current Assets .
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,041 $ 15,471
Receivables, net : - . . 719,177 ¢ - 79,559
Unbilled revenues on contracts in progress 84,654 73,852
Prepaid expenses and other 8,373 11,893
Total current assets 191,245 180,775
Property, Plant and Equipment, net - 21,805 v 19,013
Other Assets . L o
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 8,661 8,947
Other assets ‘ LT 3,750' v, o 5,640
Long-term deférred tax asset _ . 638
Total other assets 12411 15,225
Total assets . - % 225,461 $. 215,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

[ L A v
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED'BALANCE SHEETS

VE . ‘--

LLABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

As of December 31,

= .- . - - 2004
. - . (As Restated -
{In thousands, except share amounts) ) 2005 See Note 2)
Current Liabilities b L P
Accounts payable : . $. 45570 % | 48,723
. Accrued employee compensation . 25,475 . 31,596
Accrued insurance 11,544 9,758
Billings in excess of revenues on contracts in progress " 13,060 9,705
Current deferred tax liability 13,197 - 11,957
Income taxes payable . Y 9,827 "4,464
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 23,308 20,948
.Total current liabilities . _141,‘981 137,151
Other Liabilities -
Commitments and coh{ingencies (Note 13) ) — —
Other iong-term liabilities e 2,900 ¢ 3,081
Long-term deferred tax liabilities - _ . Tyt v 756 f—
~Total liabilities ‘ t 145,637 140,232
Shareholders’ Investment i
Common Stock, par value $1, authorized 44,000,000 shares, issued T ' K
8,985,168 and 8,910,371 shares in 2005 and 2004, respectively . 8,985 . 8910
Additional paid-in capital 42,138 - -40,730
Retained earnings o B 34,339 - 29,288
Unearned compensation . gy a73) (65)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss — - ) '
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments ‘ . (704) (1,129)
Less — 495,537 and 391,237 shares of Common Stock in treasury, at cost, e
“in 2005 and 2004, respectively . (4,761) (2,953)
Total shareholders’ investment 79,824 ' 74,781
. Total liabilities and shareholders’.investment $ 225461 § 215013

LI

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,

: C . 2004 .7'2003
o gt e (As Restated - {As Rcstated -

{In thousands) 2005 See Note 2) See Note 2)

Ca'sh‘F!dws from Operating Activities e e -

Net income/(loss) e $ 5051~ % -8394 - - § - (800)

Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash
prov:ded by/(used in) operating activities: - et
- Depreciation and amortization 5,093 4919 N 5,081

Stock-based compensation expense 128 674 - o ¢ 78
- Tax benefit of stock- compensation 140 493 . 33
+ ‘Deferred income tax expense -2,743 7,922 2,279 -
Impairment of Energy Virtual Partners — — 770
) Changes in assets and liabilities: . .
Increase in rccewables and contracts in progress (7,075) (32,988) . (19,462) ]
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses’ 66 42,094 - 916
(Increase)ldecrease in other net assets 6,315 . (3,014) . (3,553)
Total adjustments 7,410 20,100 {13,858}
Ner cash provided by/{(used in) operating activities 12,461 28,494 . .(14,638)

Cash’ Flows from Investing Activities . .

Additions to property; plant and equipment (7,078) © (4,055) 4,787
Net cash used in,investing activities (7,078) (4,055) . (4,787

Cash Flows from“Financing Activities

(Repayments of)/proceeds from long-term debt —_ (13,481) - . "= 13,481

Payments for capital lease obligations CL . i (581) (325). . . (176)

(Decrease)increase in book overdrafts r V— {6,022) 6,022

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 576 1,734 - 49,

Payments to acquire treasury stock (1,808) — " (690)
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (1,813) {18,094)+- v 18,686
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,570 6,345 (759)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ‘ "15471 9,126 9,885
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ' T$7 19041 S 15471 - $° 9,126

Supplemental Dlsclosures of Cash Flow Data ' '

Cash paid during the year for: : . ' AP
Interest paid $ 163 $ 283 8 789
Income taxes paid o $' 864 . % . 2557 % 4826 .

Supplemental Schedule of Non- Cash Investing and

Financing Activities . ..
Vehicles & equipment acquired through capital lease

obligations $ 675 $ 1,063 $ 544
Equipment acquired on credit $ 41 $ 516 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS? INVESTMENT

Common L. .- . PR - Accumulated
Stock, Additional ' Other
Par Valpe _ 1Yeasury  paigIn Retained Unearned Comprehensive
{In thousands) $1 Shares Amount Capital Earnings Compensation Income/(Loss)

t

Balance, January 1, 2003* $ 8694 “3INS (2,263) § 38349 § 21,694 $ . — 49
Net loss* . - - — p— l! g "(SOQ) = =
Stock options exercised* 10 — = 72 = —- . -
Restricted stock issued . 7 B — 52 o —_ _(60) . -
Amortization of restricted stock - - - — .- G- 20 —
Options granted y - . = — | " — . — —
Treasury stock purchases : . — (80) . (690) — — — ) —

Other comprehensive .
income/(loss), net of tax*: s
Foreign currency transtation
adjustments — — — - — P » {343)

Unrealized holding gain on
investment L — T _ 7

Balance, December 31, 2603 8,711 (391 (2,953) 38,534 20,894 (40) ) (803)

Net income* — —_ —_ T . 8394, —_ ' -

Stock options exercised* N 192 — e 2,035 L= - -

Restricted stock issued 7 — b © 81 v — - (88) - - —

Amortization of restricted stock — — g i - 63

Options granted — — — 8- — o _

Other comprehensive loss, net - ’ t '
‘of tax*: . '
Foreign currency translation

adjustments — — — — - = 217

Reclassification adjustment .
for gain on sale of . )
investment : — — — — _ - (109)

Balance, December 31, 2004 8910 - (391) (2,953) 40,730 . 29,288 ' (65) (1.129)

1

Net income . = = - te— 7 5051 — R
Stock options exercised g 43 — - 673 - e e -
Restricted stock issued R S — 601 T~ (24 —
Amortization of restricted stock — — e _ ! _— 134 _
Options granted ’ ) — _ ' — 134 _ - ’ _
Treasury stock purchases . — {104 (1,808) e — - . —
Other comprehensive income, . . . . -,

. net of tax:

Foreign currency translation ) : ‘
adjustments — —_ — —_ —_ - 435

Balance, December 31, 2005 $. 8,985 (495)'$ (4,761) § -42.138 $ 34,339 $ (173)7. §  (04)

* As Restated — See Nofe 2.

-
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO.CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -~ -

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-
 Principles of Consohdauou oL T :

N e -t ' ' Lo
The consolidated ﬁnancnal statements include the accounts of Mlchacl Baker Corporation (“we, us, our™),
our subsidiaries, subsidiaries over which we exercise control, and entities for which we are determined {o be the
primafjr beneficiary under” Financial ~Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. (“FIN") 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” We do not have any variable interest entities requiring
consolidation. Minority interest amounts relating to our less-than- wholly—owned consolidated subsidiaries are
included within the other, net caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income and within the other long-term
liabilities caption in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Investments in non-consolidated affiliates (20 to 50%
owned companies) over which we exercise significant influence are accounted for under the equity method, and
entities which we own less than 20% are accounted for under the cost method, in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets and Statements of Income. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Accounting for Contracts

We earn our revenues from the provision of Engineering and Energy related services. In providing these
services, we typically incur direct labor costs, subcontractor costs, and certain other direct costs (*ODCs") which
include “out-of-pocket” expenses. Under certain cost-type contracts with governmental agencies in our
Engineering segment, we are not coniractually permitted to earn a margin on subcontractor costs and ODCs. The
majority of all other Engineering contracts are structured such that margin is earned on direct labor costs, and not
on subcontractor costs and ODCs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. (“EITF”).99-19,
“Reporting Revenue. Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,” and EITF 01-14, “Income,Statement
Characterization of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred,” we have assessed the
indicators provided in EITF 99-19 and determined that we will include our direct labor costs, subcontractor costs
and ODCs in computing and reporting our total contract revenues as long as we remain responsible to the client
for the fulfillment of the contract and for the overall acceptability of all services provided.

Revenue is recognized for the majority of contracts in our Engineering segment under the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”’) 81-1, “Accounting
for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Performance-Type Contracts.” Revenues for the current
period on fixed-price and cost-type contracts are determined by multiplying the estimated margin at completion
for each contract by the project’s percentage of completion to date, adding labor costs, subcontractor costs and
ODCs incurred to date, and subtracting revenues recognized in prior periods. In applying the percentage-of-
completion method to these contracts, we measure the extent of progress toward completion as the ratio of labor
costs incurred to date over total estimated labor costs at completion. As work is performed under contracts,
estimates of the costs to complete are regularly reviewed and updated. As changes in estimates of total costs at
completion on projects are identified, appropriate earnings adjustments are recorded during the period that the
change is identified. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded during the period in
which such losses become evident. Revenues related to contractual claims, which arise from customer-caused
delays or change orders unapproved as to both scope and price, arc recorded only when the amounts have been
agreed with the client. Profit incentives and/or award fees are recorded as revenues when the amounts are both
probable and reasonably estimable. For contracts that do not gualify for percentage-of-completion accounting,
revenue is recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. (“SAB”) 104, “Revenue Recognition.”
Under SAB 104, revenue is generally recognized only after (1) persuasive evidence of an ‘arrangement exists,
(2) the related services have been rendered, (3) our selling price is fixed or determmable and (4) collecublhty is
reasonably assured.

Under certain circumstances, we may agree to provide new or additional engineering services to a client
without a fully executed contract or change order. In these instances, although the costs of providing these
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

services are expensed as incurred, the recognition of related contract revenues is delayed until the contracts
and/or change orders have been fully executed by the clients, other suitable written project approvals are received
from the clients; or until management determines that revenue recognition is appropriate based on the probability
of client acceptance. The probability of client acceptance is assessed based on such factors as our historical
relationship with the client, the nature and scope of the services to be:provided, and management s ah111ty to
accurately estimate the realizable value’ of the services to be pr0v1ded :

+

Total contract revenues for the operauons and maintenance contracts in our Energy segment are pnmanly
recogmzed as related servrces are provided in accordance with SAB 104. Performance bonuses are earned under
certain operanons and maintenance contracts in the Energy segment These bonuses are recorded as Tevenues
when all criteria of SAB 104 have been met. '

! b, ‘ * .I" . L ' . A J

Fair Value of Financial Instruments ' : R
The fair value of financial mstruments classrﬁed as cash and cash equwalcnts recelvables accounts payable
capital lease obligations and other long-term liabilities approxlmates carrying value due to the short-term nature

of the instruments.

UseofEsnmatesi o S e
L h 3

- The preparation of: ﬁnancral statements in conforrmty with ,accounting principles generally accepied in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the report_ed
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of. the date of the
consolidated financial statements, and also affect the amounts of revenues and expenses reported for each period.
Actual results could differ from those which result from using the estimates. The use.of estimates is an integral
part of determining cost estimates to complete under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for
contracts!'Management-also utilizes estimates in recordinig profit incentives and/or award fee revenues under its
contracts, in the assessment of our exposure to insurance claims that fall bélow policy deductibles, in determining
our liabilities for incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) insurance claims, incentive compensation and income tax
expense, and to 'assess its ]itigation and other legal claims and contingencies. The results of any chdnges in
accounting estimates are' reflected in the consolidated ﬁnanc1al statements of thc period in which the changes

become ev1dent -
T - ! . . StET . .

o,

Cash and Cash Equivalents ' Pee e ot o

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand or deposit, and money market mutual funds with remaining
maturities of less than 90 days at the time of purchase. Con .

Forergn Currency Translatwn

+  Some of our forelgn subsidiaries unhze the local currencies as the funcuona] currency. Accordmgly, assets
and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated to U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet
date whereas income and.expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates during the year. The resulting
translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of shareholders’. investment. We also have a foreign
subsidiary for which the functional currency is the U.S. Dollar. The resulting translation gains or losses for this

subsidiary are included in our Consolidated Statements of Income.. i ‘ CotL e

-

v

Leases

We lease office space with lease terms ranging from 1 to 10 years. These lease agreements typically contain
tenant improvement allowances.and rent holidays. In instances where one or more of these items are includedina
lease agreement, we record these allowances as a leasehold improvement asset (which is included in property and -
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES.TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

equipment, net) and a related deferred rent lability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These asset amounts: are
amortized on a straight-line basis over.the shorter of the term of the lease or useful life of the asset as additional
amortization expense and a reduction . to.rent expense, respectively. The deferred rent liability . balances are
recognized over,the term of the.lease:. Lease agreements sometimes contain rent escalation clauses, which are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. (“SFAS”) No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” as amended. Lease terms generally range from 1 to
10 years with one or more renewal options. For leases with renewal options, we record rent expense and amortize
the leasehold improvements on a straight-line basis over the original lease term, exclusivé of the renewal period.
When a renewal occurs, we record rent expense over the new term. We expense any rent costs 1neurred durmg the
period of time we perform construction actwmes on newly leased property.

4

We lease computer hardware and software, office equipment and vehicles with lease terms ranging from 1 to
5 years. Leasing is used for certain capital additions when considered cost effective relative to other sources of
capltal Before entenng mto a lease, an analy51s is performed to determme whether a lease should be classified as
a capltal or an operatmg lease accordmg to' SFAS 13 ‘ cree edteopt

. . SR et e,

' . 4 7 . . +

Long-Lwed Assets
In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accoummg for the Impamnent or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets (including our investments in unconsolldaled subsidiaries and
equity mvestees) when events or changes in c1rcumstances suggest that the carrying valtie of assets may not be
recoverable. If the carrylng 'value of a long-lived asset is determined to exceed its fair value, an 1mpa1rment

charge is recorded in the penod in which the 1mpa1rment becomes evident. R

.o . [ oy,

Capitalization of Software Costs ' R

We capltahze certam costs incurred in connection with developing or obtammg mtemal use software in
accordance with SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Interna
Use.” During the software application developmem stage, capitalized costs include the cost ,of the softwaré,
external consulting costs and internat payroll costs for employees who are directly assoc1ated with a software
project. Similar costs related to software upgrades and enhancements are capitalized if they result in added
functlonahty which enables the software to perform tasks it was previously mcapable of performing. These
capitalized software costs are included in “Property, Plant and Equipment, net” ‘in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Software data conversion, training and maintenance costs are expensed in the.period in which they are
incurred. :

Depreciation and Amortization

Deprecnatlon on property, plant and equipment is principally recorded using the stralght -line method over
the estlmated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives range from 2 to 40 years on buildings and
improvements, 3 to 10 years on equipment and vehicles, 30 years for marine vessels, -and 3 to 7 years on
computer hardware and software, Assets held under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Upon disposal of
property, the asset and related accumulated depreciation accounts are relieved of the amounts recorded therein for
such items, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income. Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets is
provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Our only amortizing intangible asset
is a non-compete agreement which is being amortized over 7 years.

Goodwdl i \

[ B 4 ‘1

Goodw1ll which represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of net assets of acqmred

companies, has not been amortized since we adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

January 1, 2002. Our goodwill balance of each reporting unit, as defined-by SFAS 142, is evaluated for:potential
impairment during the second quarter of each year or when events occur or circumstances change that.could
cause the balance to be |mpa1red Reporting units for purposes of this test are ldentlca] to our operating segments,
which are further discussed in Note 5. The evaluation of i impairment involves companng the current fair value of
the business to the recorded-value, including goodwill. We utilize estimates of future net cash flows and eammgs
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortlz.anon (“EBITDA ) multiples to defermine the fair value of the

1 ‘ oo,

business. i o 2 . P - v

N N T AT B B SRR TS
Comprehenswe Income el : C e PANE ; -
Comprehensive income consisted of net income, foreign currency translatlon adjustments;-and urirealized
gainf(loss) on equity investments, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. These

componenls are’ mcluded in the accompanymg Consohdated Statements of [ncome and Shareholders lnvestmem

-y ewm gam- [ © o v bt p

;¢* , From 2000 through the first quarter of 2004 we held a common stock investment in an insurance company.

Dunng this period, unrealized gains and losses on this investment were included in shareholders investment as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. When this investment ,was sold in the. ﬁrst quarter of 2004
the related accumulated unrealized gain as of December 31, 2003 was reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensnve loss to other income. - : S S P A AT

Subsequent to the sale of our common stock investment in the first quarter of 2004, the only component of

,our accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) balance was foreign currency translanon adjustments as of

December3l~2005 and 2004. s e U — - —-.-‘ -

. ' . . . .
R RS LREL . ey : b gt
a0 Jerase S - . LIRS ITR S L e o owe T L. owe -

“Income taxes

3

- TWwe account, for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” We record our
annual -current tax provision.. -based - upon..our. book income, plus. or. minus. any. permanent.and temporary
differences, multiplied by the statutory rate in the majority of the jurisdictions where we operate..In certain
foreign jurisdictions where we operate, income tax is based on a deemed profit methodology which is a function
of revenue. In these foreign jurisdictions, we calculate our annual current tax provision based on our recorded

‘revenue multiplied by the foreign jurisdictions statutory rates. The catculation of our annual tax prov1sndli may

require mterpretmg tax laws and regulations and could result in the use of Judgmems or estimates which could
cause our recorded tax llablhty to differ from the actual amount due. : "

" We recognize current tax assets and liabilities for estimated taxes refundable or payable on tax retums for
the current year. We also recognize deferred tax assets or liabilities for the estimated future tax effects attributable
to temporary differences and carryforwards. Our current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based
on provisions in enacted tax laws in each jurisdiction where we operate. We do not consider the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates in the current penod We analyze our deferred tax assets and place valuation
allowances oni'those assets, if we do’siot expect 'the realization' of these assets to be more hkely than not

J" v 4 + =
, Penalties resulting from underpald income taxes are included in sellmg, general and adrmmstratwe expenses
in. our Consolidated Statements of Income.Interest expense associated with. underpald income taxes is included in
the interest expense caption-in.our Consolidated Statements of income.

Accounung for Stock Optwns

I R A
B BT +oare
As permitted under SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatlon - Transition and Disclosure™
and discussed further in Note 15, we adopted the prospective method of applying SFAS 148. Under the
prospective method, we began expensing the fair value of all stock opnons granted, modified or settled eﬁecuve
January 1, 2003. Pnor to January 1, 2003, we utilized the intrinsic value method of accountmg for stock- based
compensation, asuonglnally promulgated by Accounting -Principles . Board - Opinion. No.-. "(“APB"). 25,
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“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and as permitted under SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensauon : . . v

, During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we granted a total of 16,000, 14,000 and 14,000 options to our rion-empioyee
Board members and recognized related compensation expense in the amounts of $133,000, $80,000 and $61,000,
respectively. The exercise prices associated with these option grants were equal to the average market prices on
the dates of the grants. We do not currently pay dividends. .

If compensation expense for our stock incentive plans had been determined based on the fair value at the
grant dates for awards under those plans, consistent with the method prescribed by SFAS 123, our pro forma net

income/(loss} and eammgsl(loss) per share amounts would have been as follows: ot
N ' v o o 4% - L Resated’  Restatéd
{In thousands) ™+ v : Lo S o 008 - 0 2004 . ' 2003
Net income/(loss), as reported St 85051 $ 83947 8 . (800)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation A e -t T
" ‘expense included in reported net ' s - ‘ "o
" income/(loss), net of related tax effects : a . . -T2, o378 v 33

Deduct: Total stock-based employee
_. compensation expense determined under.
fair value method for all awards net of

h {. AT g

related tax cffects e 89) @81 ' (259)
Pro forma net income/(loss) $ 5,034 $ 8291 % (1,026)
. i . s . ' Restated, .. Restated
2005 2004 . 2003

Reported earnings/(loss) per share e ' i : : Lot
Basic : S * 8059 8 100§ (0.10)
" Diluted : C o A 0.58" 098 * " (0.10)
Pro fon‘na earmngs/loss) per share ' ) L . ' o
Basic ot . $ 059 $ 099 .. % (0.12)
Diluted ; B ) 6.58 0.97 (0.12)
. f A N . T 1 ‘.

Eammgs/(l.oss) Per Common Share : ' - - R N

The followmg isa reconcnhauon of the numerators and denominators of the basic and dlluted earmngs per
share computations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The additional shares included in
dlluted shares outstandmg are entlrely attributable to stock opt:ons

§ . . N

(In thousands e.xcept per share data) - . . 2008 2004 . 2003
Net income/(loss) . : v $45051 $ 8,394 $  (800)
Basic Weighted average shares outstanding 8,507 8,402 8,324
Basic earnings/(loss) per share $ ‘0598 100 § (0.10)
Effect of dilutive securities;: . « S . : S R

" Stock options e e ' : 208 152 0 —
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding - - o 8715 8,554 8,324
Diluted earnmgsl(ioss) per share . $ 058 $ 098 % (0.10)
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rAs of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we had zero, 174,624 and 296,435 stock options -outstanding,
respectively, which were not included in the computations of diluted shares outstanding for the respective twelve-
month periods because the option exercise prices were greater than the average market prices of the common
shares. Such options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in future periods. If we would have earned a
proﬁt durmg 2003, 78,471 common equivalent shares would have been added to basic weighted average shares
outstanding to compute diluted welghted average shares outstandmg This revision had no effect on the
prewous]y reported 2003 diluted earnings per share amounts.

[ i

Reclassifications , . . o

. i e ' - » . ) ) o
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ consolidated statements of cash flows and
consolidated statements of shareholders’ investment in order to conform to the current year presentation.

L

2. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS’ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsequent to the issuance of our condensed consolidated ﬁnancna] statements for the: quarter ended
March 31, 2005, we determined that accounting errors, as described below, were included in our “previously
1ssued consohdated financial statements. As a result, we have restated the accompanying 2004 and 2003
consolxdated financial statements to correct the acct)untmg errors described below. The following table presents
the impact of the restatement on thé 2004 and 2003 net income/(loss) and dlluted eammgs/(loss) per share
(amounts in thovsands, except earnings per share)

For the Years Ended December 31, -

Lt ' - . e - - -

o _ . , : _ 2004 . 2003
L Amount  Diluted EPS Amount  Diluted EPS
Net income, as originally reported 5 12,292 $ 144 § 2066 $ 025
Restatement items pre-tax:
Penaltlcs .and’ 1nterest on taxes (1) : (1,710) (899)
Domestlc sales and use taxes (2) . (1,714) . (13
) ]ntemanonal ‘payroll taxes (3) - ' o (1,537) , T (824)
) Intemattonal value added taxes 4) . _ (635 (240
Mmonty mterest adJustments (5) -~ , (156) . ) 5
Sale of marketable securities (6) (145) . =
.. Professional liability IBNR (7) _ . T (- 10)] . 20)
Unrecorded capital Jeases (8) . " ' (10) : 3
* Revenue for reimbursable taxes (9) - ' 1,295 ‘ ‘ 778
Incentive compensation adjustment (10} 514 —
* 'Project-claim settlement (11)- 499 : —
Reclassification of non-income taxes (12) (438) —
- :S’ubtotal'—-'pre-tax -adjustments - 4,07 '  {(1L,217)
Income tax-adjustments:
International income taxes (13} (1,274) (L0053
Income tax effects on the above (14) L 1,453 + (596)
Net inebme'/(l'oss), as restated $ 87394 $ 098 $ (800) $ (0.10)
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Our accompanymg 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial statements are being restated to correct the following
errors: . ‘ . .. .

(h

Fl

{2)

The underaccrual of estimated penalties and interest related to the underpayment of international incoime,
payroll and value added taxes and domestic sales and use taxes by certain wholly-owned Energy segment
subsidiaries, as noted in items (2)-(4) and (13) below. These ‘adjustments had the effects of reducing
beginning retained earnings for fiscal year 2003 and reducing pre-tax income in both 2003 and 2004. '

The underaccrual of domestic sales and use taxes by one of our v.;holly—owned Energy segment subsidiaries.
This adjustment had the effects of reducing pre-tax income in both 2003 and 2004.

(3) The underaccrual of international payroll taxes by a wholly-owned Energy subsidiary related to employees .

)

5)

6

working on international projects. These adjustments had the effects of reducing begmmng retalned earnings
for fiscal year 2003 and reducing pre-tax income in both 2003 and 2004.

L P TN

The underaccrual of international value added taxes by certain wholly-owned Energy segment subsidiaries.
These adjustments had the effects of reducing beginning retamed earmngs for ﬁscal year 2003 and reducmg
pre-tax income in both 2003 and 2004. - ' i

Adjustments related to minority interest balances recorded by our majority-owned. Nigerian subsndlary

" These adjustments are primarily related to the valuation allowances recorded against prepaid 1ncome tax

asset balances that are referred to in item (13) below. These adjustments had the effects ofrmcreasmg
begmmng retained earnings and pre-tax income for fiscal year 2003 and reducmg pre- -tax mcome for 2004

Failure to record an ad_lustmem related to the demutualization of an insurance company (Wthh had
previously provided us with coverage), from which shares of stock were received and subsequently sold.
The shares were not valued and recorded as an asset when received in 2000, unrealized gains and losses

" were not recorded as other comprehensive income during the holding period, and the entire amount of sale

)

®)

{9}

(10)

(11)

(12)

proceeds was improperly recorded as a gain when sold in the first quarter of 2004. This adjustment had the
effects of improving beginning retained earnings for fiscal year 2003 and reducmg pre-tax income in the

first quarter of 2004. . AT

Failure to record an IBNR liability for self-insured professmnal llablllty insurance losses in all sprior periods.
This adjustment had the effect of reducing opening retained earnings in fiscal year 2003, and there were
immaterial adjustments to the liability balance and related expense amounts in both 2003 and 2004

Unrecorded capital lease assets and obligations related to leased equipment and vehlcles These adjustments
had the effects of reducing beginning retained earnings for fiscal year 2003 by an immaterial amount and
reducing pre-tax income in both 2004 and 2003 by immaterial amounts. These adjustments further resulted
in additional capital lease assets and related capital lease obligations totaling approxlmately 3105 ml]hon
being recorded as of December 31, 2004. . NI B

Adjustments to record additional revenue related to certain international income, 'payroll and value added
taxes (as discussed in items (3) and (4) above and item {13) below) which are reimbursable by a customer
pursuant to the terms of the related contract. These adjustments had the effect of increasing pre-tax income
in both 2003 and 2004, . e Py

An adjustment to reduce our long-term incentive compensation plan expense for the impact the restatement
had on reducing net income. Because a key element of our plan is our financial results, these incentive
compensation amounts were not subsequently paid. This adjustment had the effect of i mcreasmg pre—tax
income for the fourth quarter of 2004. . - t ‘

Failure to properly record a non-routine accountmg adjustment related to a self-insured project-claim
settlement. This adjustment had the effect of increasing pre-tax income for the fourth quarter of 2004.

A reclassification of ¢ertain international taxes other than income that were-previously included in our 2004
provision for income taxes. In connection with our preparation of the restated 2004 i income tax provision, it
was determined that these amounts were improperly classified. An offsetting amount is included in item
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(14) below. This reclassification had the effect of decreasing both-pre-tax income and our prov151on for
income taxes in 2004, but had no effect on our 2004 net income. .= . (LI

{13) The underaccrual of international income taxes by certain wholly-owned Energy segment subsidiaries.
" Additionally, we recorded valuation allowances against the prepaid income tax asset balances recorded in
-, prior periods by a majority-owned Nigerian subsidiary, which valuation allowances should have been
- previously recorded based on our inability to realize these assets. In summary; these adjustments had_the
effects of reducing beginning retained earnings for fiscal year 2003 and reducing net income in both 2003

and 2004

(14) The incremental effects of all foregomg restatement adjustments on the provnsmn for income taxes in our *
“* ‘Consolidated Statements of Incointe, as well as certain other adjustments that were determined to be
necessary when the restated income tax provisions were prepared, such as the balance sheet effect on paid-
in capital of. the windfall tax benefits associated with_stock option exercises. These adjustments had the
effects of increasing begmnmg retained earnings, for fiscal year 2003, reducmg net income for 2003, and
increasing net income for 2004.

The following table presents the effects of the adjustments on our previously issued Consolldated
Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2004:

\ . . For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

" As Previously "~ As
(In thousands, except per share amountis) Reported ~ " Adjustments Restated
Total contract revenues (footnote 9) Coe B 550,75]-‘ 3 1,205 § 552,046
‘Cost of work perfoﬁned (footnotes 3 & 11} . . . 464,563 N 1,038 465,601
Gross profit ) 86,188 257 . - 86,445
-Selling, general and administrative expenses (footnotes 1, oo o :
2,4,7, 8,10 & 12) e T 64760 2817 . 67,577
Incqme from operations. Yo e - %1428 N (2,560). ‘18,868
Other income/(expense): ; L. . ‘
Interest income . \ . 84 . — . 84
Interest expense (footnotes 1 & 8) ~ =~ = 777 U196y (1,218) (1,414)
Other, net (footnotes 5 & 6) ) 1,480 o (299) 1,181
Income before income taxes . 22,796 (4,077) 18,719
Provision for income taxes (footnotes 13 & 14) 10,504 (179) 10,325
Net income 12,292 '(3,898) " 8,394
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency transtation adjustments (117) (100) 217)
Reclassification adjustment for gain on investment
included in net income (footnote 6) —_— (109) (109)
Comprehensive income $ 12,175 $ 4,100y $ 8.068 .
Basic earnings per share b 1.46 $ (046) 3 1.00
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.44 $ 046) $ 0.98
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The following table presents the effects of the adjustments on our prevnously issued Consolidated

Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2003:

[

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

. sAS R
- o : e Previously - re As
(In thousands, except per share amounts) o . Reported . Adjustments Restated
Total contract revenues (footnote 9) I " § 425983 ' § 778§ ' 426,761
Cost of work performed (footnote 3) 364,879 824 365,703
" . [ i [ ' v 1 . .
Gross profit L o 61,104 .. (46) . 61,058
Selling, general and administrative expenses (footnotes 1, A CoL ] ,
2,4, 7&8) ' N 54,743 595 - 55,338
Income from operations e T © 6,361  (641) 5,720
Other income/(expense):
Interest income - '. 23 —_ 23
Interest expense (footnotes 1 & 8) (B0G) (594) (1,400}
Other, net (footnote 5)*. ' (658) 18 {640)
Income before income taxes ) - 4,920 (1,217) 3,703
Provision for income taxes (footnotes 13 & 14) 2,854 1,649 4,503
Net income/(loss) 2,066 (2,866) (800)
Other comprehensive income/(loss}, net-of tax —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (144) ,(199) (343)
Unrealized holding gain on investment (footnote 6) — 37 - ‘37
Comprehensive income/(loss) 1922 § (3028 § (1,106)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 025 % 035 $% (0.10)
Diluted earnings floss) per share $ 025 § (035) '$ (0.10)

|
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- . The following table presents.the eﬂ‘ects of the adjustments on our. prevnonsly issued Consolidated

Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2004: . TN i ‘
ASSETS : o As of December 31, 2004
7 As Previously As
(In thousands) - o Reported Adjustments «  Restated
Current Assets . : s . P
Cash and cash equivalents - . 3 15471 % —  § . 15,471
Receivables, net ‘ 79,559 — 79,559
Unbilled revenues on contracts in progress oot 71,280 2,572+ 1 73,852
Prepaid expenses and other 12,941 (1,048) ! 11,893
Total current assets 179,251+ - + 1,524 180,775
Property, Plant and Equipment, net - 17, 8795 : 1,134 < 19,013
Other Assets Y
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 8. 947 — . 8,947
Other assets 5,667 @n - 5,640
Long-term deferred tax asset — 638 - - 638
‘Total other assets 14,614 611" 15,225
Total assets B B $ 211,744 § 3269 §. 215013
LIAB]L]T]ES AND SHAREHOLDERS "INVESTMENT’ B l
Current Liabilities - : -- . - .
Accounts payable o 3 48326 § 397 $ . 48,723
Accrued employee compensation (footnote 3) B 27278 4,318° 31,596
Accrued insurance 9,180 578 9,758
Billings in excess of revenues on contracts m progress - 9,705 . — 9,705
Current deferred tax liability 11,145 812 11,957
Income taxes payable (footnotes 13 & 14) N — 4,464 Y 4464
Other accrued expenses & current liabilities . .. .
(footnotes 1, 2 & 4) 13,484 7,464 20,948
Total current liabilities 119,118 18,033 137,151
Other Liabilities L
Commitments and contingencies — —_ ‘ —
Other liabilities 6,094 (3,013) 3,081
Total liabilities 125,212 15,020 140,232
Shareholders’ Investment . _
Common Stock 8,910 — 8,910
Additional pald in capital (1} 40,000 - . 7130 . 40,730
Retained earnings (2) 41,769 (12;481) 29,288
Unearned compensation | : v e . (65) . — T (65)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss — i - , _
Cumulative currency translation adjustments (1,129) — (1,129)
Less — Treasury shares (2,953) " — ©(2,953)
Total shareholders’™ investment X 86,532 (11,751) ' - - 74,781
Total liabilities and shareholders’ investmént $ 211,744 § 3269 $° 215013

(1) Restatement adjustment relates to the windfall tax beneﬁts assoc1ated with stéck option exercises from 2002
through 2004. Of this adjustment, $493 related to 2004. ,

{2) See effect on opening retained earnings as of January 1, 2003 (shown in the table at the end of this Note 2),
plus the 2003 and 2004 adjustments to net income (shown in the table at the beginning of this Note 2).
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. The following table. presents the:effects of the adjustments -on’ our prevmusly issued Consohdated
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004: .

N . For the Year Ended December 31, 2004
- P . As Previously As
(In thousands) : . ST Reported Adjustments Restated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities S
Net income - ;! - $ 12292 § (3898 § - 8394

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
- operating activities: .

Depreciation -and amortization;..: 1 1 - ' 4,604 315 ' 4,919
Stock-based compensation expense. + =T 674 - 674
Tax benefit of stock compensation —_ 493 ‘ -493
Deferred income tax expense * 7,950 : @28 ' 7922
" Changes in assets and liabilities: o '
Increase’in receivables and contracts in progress " (31,194 (1,794) < (32,988)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses ’ T 36,633 5461 . 42,094
Increase in other net assets I C (1,364 (1,650) (3,014)
Total adjustments N TY 7 R 3471 20,100
Net cash provided by operating activities ¢ 28,921 {427) - 28,494
Cash Flows from Investing Activities . o ' . .
Addmons to property, plant and equlpment ey (4,807 o 152 (4,055)
Net cash used in mvestmg act:vmes (4,807 . .. 752 3 (4,055}
Cash Flows from Financing Activities ' ' i
Repayments of long-term debt " . * - (13481) = * (13,481)
Payments for capital lease obligations - ~ - e {325) _ (325
Decrease in book overdrafts . (6,022) T — . (6,022)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,734 _— 1,734
. "Net cash used i in ﬁnancmg acuvmes o . .(17,769) . . {325 (18,094)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,345 a - , _._6',345
- Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 9,126 ' — T -9.126
Cash and cash equivalents, end. of vear 3 15,471 $ —  $ 15,471

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Data
Cash paid during the year for .

Interest paid . % 29 8 54 $ 283
Income taxes paid e T % 2551 .8 — $ 2557
Supplemental Schedule of Non Cash lnveslmg and ' o T )
Financing Activities - : Tt
Vehicles & equipment acqmred through cap:tal leasc ‘
obligations : 5 — 8 1,063 % 1,063
Equipment acquired on credit S R T — - 5 516 $ 516
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The following table presents the effects of the adjustments on:our prevmusly issued Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2003: . c

‘ For the Year Ended December 31, 2003
- . S L . As Previously _ e As
(In thousands) L. L. ) Reported Adjustments | . Restated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities : 1. P
Net income/(loss) ' $ 2,066 $ - (2866 S .. . (800)

Adjustments to reconcile net mcomel(loss) to net cash used
in operating activities:

'
PR

Depreciation and amortization . 4,902 L1719 5,081
Stock-based compensation expense ' —_ N
Tax benefit of stock compensation : : T 33 < . . 33
Deferred income tax expense, - =~ 3,975 - (1,696) 2,279
Impairment of Energy Virtual Partners : 770 — - T10
Changes in assets and liabilities: , ' - : A

Increase in receivables and contracts in progress ' (18,684) * ' " {(778) (19,462)

. . .,

(Decrease)lmcrease in accounts payable and accrued i - L
expenses - (2,725) - 3,641 o ! "916
Increase in other net assets (5,138) 1 585 (3 553)
Total adjusrmenrs SR : , (16,900) . 3,042 - (13 858)
Net cash used in operating activities - o (14,834) oare Y (14,658)

Cash Flows from Im"esting A¢tivities S - h ‘ - z:.. ‘l" C

Additions to property, plant and equipment | . @478 . i = o (4,787)
Net cash used in investing activities ' 4,787y - o = (4,787)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities : A o

Proceeds from long-termn debt ' 13,481 7 ~.—"# T 13481

Payments for capital lease obligatib_ns s ' — - arey T (176)

Increase in book ovérdrafts , h : ; Coo6022 0 T 6,022

Proceeds from exercise of stock options N T4 T — ! .49

Payments to acquire treasury stock C ©0) " .. — . (690)
Net cash -pmvided by financing activities 18,862 (176) v 18,686
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents | ) (759 - - = 4 (159)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . - . vo 988 - —_— 9,885

" Cash and cash equivalents end of year = $ ° 9126 % -t — § . -§,'1‘2B

Supplemental Dnsclosures of Cash Flow Data . L : e v .

Cash paid during the yearfor . . : _— R
Interest paid . v $ 753 % 436 % . 789
Income taxes paid ' $ 4826 . § - = § . 4826

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investmg and I

Financing Activities -

Vehicles & equipment acquired through capltal lease , s L
obligations - - ) ) — 5 544 S 544
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These restatement adjustments had the following effects on our opening balances within shareholders’
investment as of January 1, 2003: S : .

S e K As Previously
Reported  Adjustments  As Restated
38,146. § . 203 % - 38,349
27,411 5 G717y $. 21,694
(569 " % 72 3 (497)
71,419 % (5442) 3 65,977

Additional paid-in capital R
Retained earnings
Accumulated ‘othér comprehensive loss

©¥ on o5 oA

Total shareholders’ investment

3. RECENT ACCOUNT[NG PRONOUNCEMENTS '

_ In December 2004 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued.SFAS 123R which
replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes- APB 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R also
amends SFAS 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require reporting of excess tax benefits from the exercises of
stock-based compensation awards as a financing cash inflow rather than as an operating cash inflow. The
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) subsequently amended the effective date of SFAS 123R to be
effectwe for the first interim period after December 31, 2005 for calendar year companies. SFAS 123R requires
that the expense resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements.
This statement applies to all awards granted after the required effective date, and shall not apply to awards
granted-in periods before the required effective date, except if prior awards are modified, repurchased or
cancelled after the'effective date. In March 2005, the SEC released SAB 107 to assist registrants in implementing
SFAS. I23R while enhancmg the information that investors receive. The FASB has also issued interpretative
guidance. 'We will adopt the provnsmns of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006 and expect to use the modified
prospective application method in our adoption of SFAS 123(R). SFAS 123R will not have a material impact on
our financial statements since we have been recording our stock-based compensation expense under the fair value
method in accordance with SFAS 123 since January 1, 2003,

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153 “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets — an Amendment of
APB No. 29.” APB 29 is based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based
on the fair value of assets exchanged. The guidance in APB 29, however, included certain exceptions to that
prmcnple SFAS 153 amends APB 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
subslancc The provisions of this statement are effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal
penods begmnmg after June 15, 2005. We do not expect the provisions of this statement will have any impact on
our financial statements. oo

‘In December 2004, the FASB lssued Staff Position No. (“FSP”} 109-1, “Accounting for Income Taxes, to
the Tax Deductlon on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, and
109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure - Guidance for the Foreign Eamings Repatriation Provision within the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” FSP 109-1 provides® guidance on the application of SFAS 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” to the provision within the Américan Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“‘the Act”)
that provides a tax deduction on qualified production activities. FSP 109-2 provides for a special one-time tax
bénefit on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer, provided certain criteria are met. Both
FSP 109-1 and 109-2 were effective upon issuance. Neither of these provisions had any impact on our 2005
financial statements. '

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations.”
FIN 47 clarifies that the term “conditional asset retirement obligation” as used in SFAS 143, *Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which. the
timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of

60




]

MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the entity. Accordingly, FIN 47 clarifies that an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a
conditional asset retiremerit-obligation when incurred if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated.
This-interpretation was effective for fiscal years.ending after December 15, 2005. We adopted FIN 47 in the
fourther quarter of 2005 and such adoption had no impact on our financial statements,

_ In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of
APB No. 20 and FASB. Statemem No 3 SFAS 154 requires, among other things, retrospective ,application,
unless impracticable, to prior period financial statements for voluntary changes in accounting principles and
changes required by an accounting pronouncement in the Junusual circumstances in which the pronouncement
does not include specrﬁc transition provrsrons SFAS 154 also requires that a change in deprecratron
accountmg estrmate effected by a change in accou.tntmg pnnc1p1e The gurdance for. reportmg the correction of an
eI7or in prevrously issued financial statements and the change.of an accounting estimate will, not change from
APB 20. SFAS 154 is effective for us begmmng January 1, 2006. We do not expect the adoptlon of this standard
will have a material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FTN 48, “Accountmg for Uncertarmy in Income Taxes.” FIN 48 provides
gurdance on the measurement recognmon classification and disclosure ‘of,“as well as the interim period
accounting for, uncertain tax positions. We will be required to adopt the provisions of FIN 48 effective January 1,
2007. We are currently evaluating the impact that FIN 48 will have on our ﬁnancral statements.

4. CONTRACTS o , e

Revenues and billings to date on contracts in progress-at December 31, 2005 and 2004.were' as follows
(in mrllrons) .o ! g ) : . .

2005 2004
AT I 2 . : 1 oo o PR Ty f " . :
Revenues . ) . Sl 1 . . $ 2798 § 2,170
Billings . e et e e Q726 (2106)
- Ne;'uhbiﬂe:d revenue Moot . : $ T g 64

.Trade receivable balances totaling $4,837,000 and $5,752,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectwely,
relate to retainage provisions under long-term contracts which will be due upon completron of the contracts.
Based on management’s estimates, $4,089, 000 and $3 946 1000 of these retention balances at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively, were expected to be collected w1thm one year of the balance sheet dates, and were
therefore included in the recervables net balances *The remaining retentlon balarices reflect long term assets,
whrch were included in the other assets balances in our Consolrdated Balance Sheets

We had allowances for doubtful’ accounts totaling $746,000 and $683,000 as of December 31, 2005 and

2004, respectively. These allowance amounts reflect receivable balances for which collection is doubtful, and
have been netted against the rece1vables balances shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

A - -4

Under certain c1rcumstances we, may agree o provrde new or addltronal engineering services to a client
without a fully executed contract or change order. In these ‘instances, .although the costs of ‘providing these
services are expensed as incurred, the recognition of related contract revenues are delayed until the contracts
and/or change orders have been fully executed by the clients, other suitable written project approvals are received
from the clients, or until management determines that revenue recognition is appropriate based on the probability
of client acceptance. Under this policy, we had not recognized potential future revenues estimated at $1.4 million
and $2.0 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for which the related costs had already been
expensed as of these dates.
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Within each of our operating segments, credit is granted to customers for the payment of services rendered.
Although we have a diversified client base, a substantial portion of our receivables and net revenues on contracts
in progress reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets is'dependent upon U S federal and state govemment
funding. . " T SRS’ :

Federal government contracts are subject to the U:S. Federal Acqulsmon Regulatlons (“FAR™). These
contracts and certain contracts with state and Tocal agencres are sub]ect to periodic routine audlts which generally
aré performed by the Défense Contract Audit' Agency'(“DCAA").-The DCAA audits our overhead rates, cost
proposals, incurred government contract costs and 'internal control systems. Dunng the course of-its audits, the
DCAA may question incurred costs if it believes we have accourited for such Costs in a manner inconsistent with
the- requn'ements of the FAR or the U.S. Cost' Accotnting Standards, and may récommend that 'our
U.S. 'government corporate administrative accountmg officer disallow any such costs. Hlstoneally, we have ‘not
expenenced significant disalloweéd costs-as a result of-these audits; however, management ‘cannot provnde
assurance that future DCAA audits will not result in material dtsallowances of meurred costs. © 7 4

t

[ « ! ' LT -t

Intematlonally, we conduct business in certain countnes where the local pelitical environment subjects our
related trade recewables due from subsrdlanes of major ol compames to lengthy collection delays. Based upon
past expenence with these clients, after giving effect to our related allowance for doubtful accounts balance at

December 31, 2005 management believes that these recetvable balances will be fully collectlble ,

5. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION o
Our business segments reflect how management makes resource decisions and assesses its. performance,
Effective January |, 2005, we have the following two reportable segments: RN
* o QOur Engmeermg segment provides a' variety of “design and ‘related consulting “services. “Such”services
include program management, design-build, construction management, consulting, planning, surveymg,
_mapping, geographic information systems, architectural and interior design, construction inspection,
. constructability reviews, site assessment and restoration, strateglc regulatory ana.lysrs,. regulatory
compliance, and advanced management systems. + - Ve

" Our Energy segment prov1des a full range of servrces for operatmg energy productlon facrhtles
worldwnde These services range from complete outsourcmg solutlons to specnﬁc services such as
tratmng, personnel recruitment, pre- operauons engmeenng, mamtenance management systems, ‘field
operattons and maintenance, procurement, and supply chzun management Many of these servrce oﬂ'enngs
are enhanced by the utilization of this segment s Managed Services operating model as a serv1ce delivery
method. Our Energy segment serves both major and smaller independent oil and’ gas producing
companies, but does not pursue exploration opportunities for our own account or own any oil or natural
, gas reserves. , Y T Y ' L B,

fho1t - . " y

’

The accounttng policies of the segments are the same as those descnbed in the summary of srgmﬁcant
accounting policies (see Note 1). We evaluate the performance of our segments primarily based on operating
income, before Corporate overhead allocations. .Corporate overhead :includes. functional unit costs related to
finance, legal, human resources, information. technology and communications, and is allocated between our
Engineering and Energy segments based on a thiee-part formula comprising revenues, assets and payroll:- - .
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- The following tables reflect the required disclosures for our reportable segments (in millions):

- - " Total Contract Revenues/Income from Operations

Restated Restated
2005 2004 2003
Engineering . S b ome ein .
Total contract revenues $ 3711. % 3433 § 2506
Income from operations pre-Corporate overhead 402 33.2- . 17.9
Less: Corporate overhead (13.6) (11.3) . (1.5
Income Jrom a'perarior':s.. ) I 266 - ,.215 Y
Energy . .
Total contract fevenues T 2082 2087 1762
Income/(loss) from operations pre-Corporate overhead (0.9) 2.7 47
Less: Corporate overhead (5.1 4.1 4.0)
Income from operations (6.0) ) '0.7
Total reportable segments ; . | " I
Total contract revenues 5793 5520 426.8
Income from operations pre-Corporate overhead *  ~ 393 2359, 22.6
Less: Corporate overhead (18.7) (16.0)- (15.5)
Income from operations 20.6 to 1'9'.9? ) 7.1
Other Corporate/Insurance expense (3.7) (1.0). (1.4)

Total Company — Income from operations

- . [

$ 169 $ 189 § 57

v . [ - R
Restated .. |
2005 2004
Segment assets: ' ' .- ' O
Engineering [ $ 1166 '3 1137 y
Energy - R e 80.4 718~ -3
Subtotal — segments 197.0 185.5 ]
Corporate/Insurance sl .. 285 . 0295 . o -
Total $ 2255 $ 2150
7 Restated Restated
2005 2004 2003
Capital expenditures:
Engineering o $ 29 § 34§ 3.6
Energy 23 T .17 7705
Subtotal — segments 5.2 4.5 4.1
Corporate . 2.6 1.1 . 1.2
Total $ 7.8 3 56 % .5.3
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. Restated:. . Restated
2005 2004 2003
Depreciation and amortization exp;née: ”

Engineering ! . $ 20 3 23 § 27
Energy 13 1.0 1.0
Subtotal — segments or 33 33 3.7
Corporate ot 1.8 16 1.4
" Total . $ 51 § 49§ 51
) - IRestated Restated
2005 2004 2003

Interest expense: I ; _
Engineering _ $ 01 $ 014 S ‘. 0.
Energy ’ 14 1.2 0.5
" Subtotal — segments 1.5 1.3 0.6
Corporate - 0.1 0.8
3 15 $ 14 $ 14

$

Total

i . We have determined that intersegment revenues, equity in the net income of investees accounted for by the
equity method, and the amount of investment in equity method investees, by segment, are immaterial for further

disclosure in these financial statements.

Qur enterprise-wide disclosures are as follows (in millions):

. .- " Restated  Restated
2005 2004 2003
Total contract revenues by type of service:
Engineering ' “$ 3711 $ 3433 $ 2506
Operations & maintenance 208.2 208.7 176.2
Total $ 5793 § 5520 § 4268
. Restated Restated
2005 2004 2003
Total contract revenues by géogfaphic,-brigin:
Domestic ' ‘ $ 5073 $ 4836 % 3714
Foreign 72.0 68.4 554
'~ Total ) _ $ 5793 $ 5520 $ 4268
Restated Restated
2005 2004 2003
Total contract revenues by principal markets: -
United States government 31.0% 25.9% 16.6%
Vdrious state governmental and quasi-governmental agencies 26.3% 30.2% 34.7%
Commercial, industrial and private clients 42.7% 43.9% 48.7%
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Our business is substantially conducted in the United States..Contracts with various. branches of the
U.S. ‘government accounted for 31%, 26% and 17% of our total contract revenues for the years ‘ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. One customer-in our.Engineering segment, the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA™), accounted for approximately 20% and 15% of our. total contract
revenues in 2005 and 2004, respectively. No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of our total
contract revenues in 2003. Long-lived assets are pnnc1pally ‘held in the Umted States amounts held m other
locations are immaterial.

'

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consists of the followmg (in, thousands) )

- -

- . Restated

. e . 2005 - 2004

Land ’ ' - S SRR 486 % 486
Buildings and improvements - o e 553 5434
Furniture, fixtures, and office equipment ST 11,232 9,789
Equipment and vehicles o oo e 2,278 12,524
Computer hardware e 12,398 12,507
Computer software ' che o 19521 16,589
Leasehold improvcmcnts - ' ) Cy T 5,092 4',34']
Equipment and vehicles under capital lease ‘ < o - ) (| S 1,813
Total, at cost S - ' 58,945 " 53,483
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization T " (37,140) (34,470)
Net property, plant and equipment — T § 0 21805 $ 19013

Depreciation expense was $4,215,000, $4,254,000 and $4,616, 000 for the yéars ended Deccmber 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The majority of our vehicles are leased and are accounted for as operating leases;
however, certain of these vehicle leases are accounted for as capital leases. Assets under capltal lease in the above
table primarily represent vehicles leased by the Company These assets are bemg amortized over the shorter of
the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Amortization expense related to capital leases was
$592,000, $379,000 and 179,000 for the years 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively. As.of December 31, 2005 and
2004, the Company has recorded $1,022,000 and $507,000 in accumulated amortization for assets under capital
lease. ‘ e

o

7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS . | "

Goodwill and other intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

2005 2004

Goodwill: _ o . o » : _
Engineering . $ 1006 $ 1,006
Energy . 7,465 7,465
Total goodwill ‘ . <. .- 2 8471 8,471

Other intangible assets net of accumulated amortization of $1,810 and $1 524 '

respectively - 7190 476
Goodwill and other ir;tangible assets, net . ' % 8,661 $ 8947
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Under SFAS 142, our goodwill balance is not being amortized and goodwill impairment tests are being
performed: at least annually. We completed our most recent annual impairment review during the second quarter

of 2005, and no impairment charge was.reqmred Similarly, no goodwill 1mpa|rment charges were recorded in
2004 or 2003.

Amortlzatlon expense recorcled on the other 1ntang|ble assets balance was $286,000 in each of 2005 2004
and 2003. Futtire amortization expense of the remaining balance will be $190, 000 for the year ending
December 31, 2006.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT AND BORROWING AGREEMENTS

" In September 2004, we amended ‘and ‘restated our unsecured credit agreement (the “Agreement”) with a
consortium of financial institutions. The Agreement provides for a commitment of $60 million through
September 17, 2008. The commitment. includes the sum of the principal amount of revolving credit loans
outstanding and the aggregate face value of outstanding letters of credit. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
there were no borrowings outstanding under the Agreement; however, outstanding letters of credit totaled

$7.0 million and $7 I million as of these dates, respectively.
b

The Agreement provides for us to borrow at the bank’s prime interest rate or at LIBOR plus an applicable
margin determined by our leverage ratio (based on a measure of EBITDA to indebtedness). The Agreement also
requires us to meet minimum equity, leverage, interest and rent coverage, and current ratio covenants. If any of
these financial coveﬁgnts or certain other conditions of borrowing are not achieved, under certain circumstances,
after'a cure period, the banks may demand the repayment of ail borrowings outstanding and/or require deposits to
cover the outstanding letters of credit. Under the Agreement, we pay bank commitment fees of 3/8% per year
based on the unused portion of the commitment.

In connection with the restatement of our consolidated financial statements through March 31, 2005, we did
not timely file our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the second and third quarters of 2005 and the first quarter
of 2006, or our annual report on Form -10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, with the SEC. As a result,
several covenant violations related to the timing of our financial reporting occurred under the Agreement. The
lenders have waived these violations by allowing us to file our Forms 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2005
and September 30, 2005, our Form lO-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, and our Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2006 with the SEC by August 15, 2006. We expect to complete all of these past due
filings by August 15, 2006.

v

Furthermore, we did not meet the SEC’s f'llmg deadline related'to our Form 10- Q for the second quarter of
2006. Accordingly, our lenders have’ also waived the resulting covenant violation related to the timing of this
filing by allowing us to file such Form 10-Q by September 30, 2006. We currently expect to be able to file our
Form 10-Q for the second quarter of 2006 by September 30, 2006. Beginning with our Form 10-Q filing for the
third quarter of 2006, we currently expect to complete our quarterly and annual SEC filings within the SEC’s
filing deadlines.

The average daily balance outstanding when we were in a borrowed position was'$1,983,000 and
$6,757,000 at weighted-average interest rates of 4.15% and 3.29% for 2005 and 2004, respectively. The proceeds
from these borrowings under the Agreement were used to meet various working capital requirements.

9. CAPITAL STOCK

In 1996, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 500,000 shares of our Common Stock in
the open market. In 2003, the Board of Directors authorized an additional repurchase of up to 500,000 shares for
a total avthorization of 1,000,000 shares. During 2003, we repurchased 80,400 treasury shares at an average
market price of $8,58 per share (based on market prices ranging from $7.90 to $8.81 per share) for a total cost of
$690,000. We made no treasury share repurchases during 2004. During the second and third quarters of 2005, we
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repurchased 104,300 treasury shares at an average market price of $17.11 per ‘share (based on market prices
ranging from $16.35 to $18.56 per share) for a total cost of $1,808,000. As of December 31, 2003, 520,319
treasury shares had been repurchased under our Board’s authunzauons e

As of December 31, 2005, the difference between the number of treasury -shares repurchased under these
authorizations and the number of treasury shares listed on the consolidated balance sheets relates to an exchange
of Series B Common Stock for 23,452 -Common shares which occurred during the first quarter of 2002. The
remaining difference relates to 1,330 shares issued to employees as bonus share awards in the late 1990s. .

" Our monthly share repurchases for the year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

. B () (b) © @

. : Maximum Number

" .- Total Number of

Shares Purchase

{or Approximate
Dollar Value) of

' . . Total Average as Part of | Shares That May
. Number of .Price Publicly yet be Purchased
. e e : Shares . - Paid-per .  Announced Plans  Under the Plans or -
Period Purchased Share or Programs Programs
June 1, 2005- ot
June 30, 2005 89,100 $17.11 89,100 $494 881
July 1, 2005- b o
July 31, 2005 15,200 $18.32 15,200 $479,681
f : . .

i L AT

Under the Agreement (which became effective in September 2004), our treasury share repurchases cannot
excéed $5 million during the four-year term of the Agreement. .

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuance of 6,000,000 shares of Seriecs B Common Stock, par
value $1 per share, which would entitle the holders thereof to ten votes per share on all matters submitted for
shareholder votes. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, there were no shares of such Series B Stock outstanding. We
have no plans of issuing any Series B Common Stock in' the near future. Our Articles of Incorporation also
authorize the issuance of 300,000 shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1 per share, At December 31,
2005 and 2004, there were no shares of such Preferred Stock outstanding.

10. RIGHTS AGREEMENT

In 1999, our Board of Directors adopted a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement’). In connection with
the Rights Agreement, we declared a distribution of one Right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of
Common Stock to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 30, 1999. The Rights will become
exercisable after a person or group has acquired 25% or more of our outstanding Common Stock or has
announced a tender offer that would result in the acquisition of 25% or more of our outstanding Common Stock.
The Board of Directors has the option to redeem the Rights for $0.001 per Right prior to their becoming
exercisable. The Rights will expire on November 16, 2009, unless they are earlier exchanged or redeemed.

Assuming the Rights have not been redeemed, after a person or group has acquired 25% or more of our
outstanding Common Stock, each Right (other than those owned by a holder of 25% or more of the Common
Stock) will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right’s then current exercise price, a number of shares of our
Common Stock having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the Rights. In addition, at any time after
the Rights become exercisable and prior to the acquisition by the acquiring party of 50% or more of the
outstanding Common Stock, our Board of Directors may exchange the Rights (other than those owned by the
acquiring person or its affiliates) for our Common Stock at an exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock per
Right.
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11. LEASE COMMITMENTS

Our non-cancelable leases relate to office space, computer hardwate and software, office equipmeflt and
vehicles with lease terms ranging from 1 fo 10 years. Future annual minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2005 were as follows (in thousands):

Capital.Lease Operating Lease

Fiscél Year . ‘. : . . . - Obligations . Obligations Total
2006 S 0§ 814 $15,130  $15,944
2007 e 639 13,673 14312
2008 244 11,231 11,474
2009 ; 7 29 9,120 9,149
2000 - . S : — 5,250 5,250
Thereafter : Lo Y _ — 11,334 11,334

Total ' o - $1.726 $65,738  $67.463

" "Rent expense under non-cancelable operating Jeases-was $16,590,000 in 2005, $15,265,000 in 2004, and
$12,285,000 in 2003. T .

12, INCOME TAXES

The components of income/(loss) before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

s

S " ‘ 'Restated  'Restated

2005 2004 2003

Domestic . o RN $ 18561 § 18,868 § 3,752
Foreign S ‘ (3,444) (149) (49
Total ' e } $ 15117 § 18,719 § 3,703
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The income tax provision consists of the following (in thousands): . e
Restated'  Restated
2005 2004 2003
Current income raxes:' R Ce - - - - e - - e e
U.S. federal* ’ $ 4173 § - - 127 § (488)
Foreign ‘ C 2,625 . 2,121 - - 2,367
State 5251 ‘v 11557 -1 345
Total current income tax provisio’n)(beneﬁr) 7,323 T 2403 0 2,224
Deferred income tax_els: l . __ .
U.S. federal* B 2,291 1118 2,281
Foreign o . 165 - 369 . ° 86
State S ) '287 < 7435 17 (88)
Total deferred income tax provision/{benefit) $ 2743 $ . 7922 $ 2279
Total provision for income taxes $ 10066 $ . 10325-. $ 4,503

* Includes U.S. taxes related to foreign i income. '

As a result of additional tax deductions related to vested restricted stock grants and stock _option exercises,
tax benefits have been recognized as contributed capital for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
in the amounts of $140,000, $493,000, and $33,000, respectively.

The following is a reconciliation -of -income taxes computed at the Federal-statﬁtory Tate to -income tax

expense recorded (in thousands): *~ °~ o ) T s
. ’ o Restated  Restated
‘ 2008 2004 2003
Computed income taxes at U.S. federal statutory rate - . $ ,5291 . % 6,552 % 1,296
Taxes on foreign income and losses .- . L 3,189 . 1,323 1,465
Taxes on- foreign deemed profits © et ‘- <0 806 T1,219 - 1,005
Foreign earnings indefinitely reinvested - ‘ o7 - = —
Deferred tax on foreign earnings not indefinitely remvcsted L 25 ' . %2‘6 .“ o 91
State income taxes, net of federal income tax beneﬁt . o 812 91 . 110
Permanent differences veoo. » 1 646 , 499 -, 315
Change in ‘valuation allowance, federal . —_— (123) 182
Other L . . (62) Q1)
Total provision for ircome taxes o $ 10,066 $ 10325 § 4,503
. ' : ' . s B . -t L s

N . L . .
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The components of our deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as
follows (in thousands):

U L .. L. . Restated
2005 2004
‘Deferred income tax assets: ¢ ’
. Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes $ 9699 3 8,224
Billings in excess of revenues . ) 10,528 8,982 ' e
Tax loss carryforwards .. ; 6,948 9,216
Charitable® contribution carryforward = - — 123
All other items 70 —
Gross deferred tax assets . 27,245 26,545
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets {6,150) 6,227
Net deferred tax asscts e - 21,095 20,318 )
Deferred i income tax llabllmes o ) .. R
Unbilled revenues (31,653) (27,714) ’
Undistributed foreign earnings _ ' 1,624) (2,351
Fixed and’ lntangible assets o " " (1,771 (1437
All ‘othier items : o ' ' _ — (135) 3
Gross deferred tax liabilities (35,048) (31,637}
Net deferred tax liabilities (13,953) - (11,319)

" . .In assessing the realizability, of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some
portion-or all of the deferred-t2x assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of-future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible! We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable
income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future
taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, we believe it is more likely than
not that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences at December 31, 2005. We have prov1ded
valuation allowances against gross deferred tax assets related primarily to state and foreign net operatmg losses
The amount of the deferred tax isset considered realizable could be reduded in the future if esttmates of future
taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced. ‘

We have state net operating loss (*NOL™) carryforwards with an aggregate tax benefit of $3,253,000, which
‘expire from 2009 to 2025. A valuation allowance of $2,274,000 has been established for these deferred tax assets.
In addition, certain of our foreign subsidiaries have NOL carryforwards aggregating $3,570,000, which expire in
varying amounis starting in 2006; some of these last indefinitely. A full valuation allowance of $3,570,000 has
been established for the foreign NOL carryforwards, We have also recorded a valuation allowance of $306,000
against other foreign deferred tax assets.

We have federal unused capital losses totaling $125,000 as of December 31, 2005, which are available to
offset future capital gains. These carryforwards will expire in 2008. A full valuation allowance of $125,000 has
been established for these deferred tax assets.

During 2005, we made a decision to indefinitely reinvest all earnings from our Venezuelan subsidiary. As of
December 31, 2005, the cumulative amount of foreign undistributed net earnings related to our Venezuelan
subsidiary, for which no deferred taxes have been provided, was $2,688,000. The decision to indefinitely reinvest
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these earnings resulted in a $947,000 U.S . tax beneﬁt in 2003, since U S:taxes had previously been provided on
these earnings. . . W e Lo

_We have certain other non—U S. subsrdmnes for which U. S. taxes have been prov1ded to the extent that a
U.S. tax liability could arise upon any remittance. of earnings from the non-U.S, subsidiaries. As of December 31
2005, we provided $1,624,000 of U.S. taxes atmbutable to.the,undistributed earnmgs of non-U.S. subs:dlanes
Upon any actual, remrttance of such earnings, certain countries may impose, lwnhholdmg taxes that, subject 4]

certain limitations, would then be avarlable for use as credits against any U S. tax liability in that period. .

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 created a temporary incentive for'U.S. corporations to repamate
accumulated income earned abroid’ by provrdmg for an 85% dividends-received deduction for certain dividends
from controlled corporations. After evaluating its effects, we did not utilize this provision during 2005.

The Internal Revenue Serv1ce wa$ in‘the’ process of auditing our 2002 consolidated U.S. incore tax retum as j
of ‘December 31; 2005:* During 2002, the Intérnal 'Revénue Service completed an+'éxamination’ of our 1998
U.S. income tax return and made n6 adjustments. Qur 2003 and 2004 U.S: incdime tax‘réturns remalned subject to
audit as of December 31, 2005. Management believes that adequate provisions have been made for income taxes
at December 31, 2005,

- . . - M
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13. COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES ., , N,

“.We' currently believe that amounts recorded for certain tax exposures identified through our restatement
process' may ultimately éithef be recoverable from clients or may otherwise be reduced. Actual payments could
differ from amounts esumated due to the assessment of certain indirect tax obligations by tax authorities to our
clients-in situations-where we-had the obligation-to charge the client for these taxes; collect the tax and remit-it to
the tax authorities, or our successful negotiation of tax penalties and interest at less than. full statutory rates. in
situations where such penalty and interest obligations have been estimated and accrued at.full statutory rates
based on the best information currently available. Based on information currently available, these exposures have
been determined to reflect probable liabilities. However, depending on the outcome of future negotiations and
discussions withclients-and tax authorities, subsequent conclusions may bé reached which-indicate that portions
of these additional, tax exposures may not _require payment and therefore changes in our estimates could be
necessary in future penods Thls could result m favorable effects on our mcome statements m future penods

Insurance coverage is- obtained for catastrophic exposures as well as those nsks requited to’ be’ insured: by
law or contract.'We require our insufers to'meét certainminimum financial ratings’ at the time’ thé ‘Goverages aré’
placed; however, insurance recoveries remain subJect to the risk that the insurer will be f'mancrally ‘able to pay the
claims as they arise. We are insuréd with respect to our workers’ compensation and general liability exposures
subject to deductibles or self-insured retentions. Loss provisions for these exposures are, recorded based upon our
estimates of the aggregate llablllty for clalms incurred. Such estlmates utlllze ccrtam actuana] assumptrons
followed in the i insurance 1ndustry

I [ ok - Lty R A B

We are self-insured for our primary layer of professional liability insurance through a wholly-owned captive
insurance subsidiary. The secondary layer of the professional liability insurance continues to be provided,
consistent with industry practice, under a “‘claims-made” insurance policy placéd with an.independent-insurancé
company. Under claims-made pohcnes coverage must be in effect when a cla1m is made ThlS insurance is

subject to standard exclusmns N . _
r ¢ + Jal ' [ ' PP

We rely on quahﬁed actuaries to assist us in deterrmmng the level of reserves to establish for both i insurance-
related claims that are known and have been asserted against us as.well as for insurance-related claims that are
believed to have  been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have.not yet been reported to our claims
administrators as of the respective balance sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves in,
our consolidated results of operations. o T L 1 L A
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Our professional liability insurance coverage had been placed on a claims-made basis with Reliance
Insurance Group (*“Reliance”} for the period July 1, 1994 through June 30, 1999, In 2001, the Pennsylvania
Insurance Commissioner placed Reliance into liquidation. We remain uncertain at this time what effect this action
will have on our recoveries with respect to claims made against us or our subsidiaries when Reliance coverage
was in effect. A wholly-owned subsidiary of ours was subject to one substantial claim which fell within the
Reliance coverage period. This claim was settled in the amount of $2.5 million, and payment was made by us in
2003. Due to the liquidation of Reliance, we are currently uncertain what amounts paid to settle this claim will be
recoverable under the insurance policy with Reliance. We are pursuing a claim in the Reliance liquidation and
believe that some recovery will result from the liquidation, but the amount of such recovery cannot currently be
estimated. We had no related receivables recorded from Reliance as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

We have been named as a defendant or co-defendant in other legal proceedings wherein substantial damages
are claimed. Such proceedings are not uncommon to our business. After consultations with counsel, management
believes that we have recognized adequate provisions for probable and reasonably estimable liabilities associated
with these proceedings, and that their ultimate resolutions will not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

At December 31, 2005, we had certain guarantees and indemnifications outstanding which could result in
future payments to third parties. These guarantees generally result from the conduct of our business in the normal
course. Our outstandmg guarantees at December 31, 2005 were as follows:

’ : . " T . L Related Liability

» Maximum . . Balance

Undiscounted Recorded at

{Dollars in millions) B Future Payments * 12/31/05
Standby letters of credit: - : o P 4

Insurance related .- : < Co : $ 68 ! $ - 6.8

Other - ' ’ ! o ' 02 C e

Sale of certain construction assets (see Note 17) 3 0.6 $ ‘ 0.6

Our banks issue standby létters of credit (“LOCs”) on our behalf under the Agreement as discussed more
fully in Note 8 above. As of December 31, 2005, most of our outstanding LOC amount was issued to an
insurance company to serve as collateral for payments the insurer is required to make under certain of our self-
insurance programs. This LOC may be drawn upon in the event that we do not reimburse the insurance company
for claims payments made on our behalf. Such LOC renews automatically on an annual basis unless either the
LOC is returned 1o the bank by the beneficiary or our banks elect not to renew it.

The liability associated with the insurance-related letters of credit reflects the claims payments for which we
cxpebt to reimburse the insurance company (subsequent to their payments of these claims) in order to avoid the
insurance company’s need to draw on the letter of credit. This liability is included as accrued insurance in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

14, EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN AND TRUST

" We maintain a defined contribution retirement program through our ESOP, in which substantially ail
employees are eligible to participate. The ESOP offers participants several investment options, including a variety
of mutual funds and Company stock. Contributions to the ESCP are derived from a 401(k) Salary Redirection
Program with a Company matching contribution, and a discretionary contribution as determined by our Board of
Directors. Under the 401(k) Salary Redirection Program, we revised our matching contribution percentage
effective January 1, 2004 to match up to 100% of the first 3% and 50% of the next full 3% of eligible salary
contributed, thereby resulting in a Company match of as much as 4.5% of eligible salary contributed. Previously,
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1
we matched 100% of the first 5% and 50% of the next full 1% of eligible salary contributed by participants. Our
matching contributions are invested not less than 25% in our Common Stock, with the remaining 75% being
avmlable to invest in mutual funds or our Common Stock, as directed by the participants. Our requlred cash
contributions under this program amounted to $5,349,000, $5,006,000 and $6,341,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respeettvely An addmonal dlsEretfonary employer contribution of $1,500,000 for: 2004 was approved by our
Bdard -of - Directors -in February -2005; and- accrued- as-of--December 31--2004. -No- dlscretlonary emp]oyer

contributions were approved by our Board of Directors in either 2005 or 2003. ' P

* As of December 31, 2005, the market value of all ESOP investments was $191,000, 000 of \'aill'ieh 23%
represented the market value of the ESOP’s investment in our Common Stock. Our ESOP held 20% of| both_the
shares and votmg power of our outstandmg Common Stock at December 31, 2005 e . .

R
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15 'STOCK OPTION PLANS : : : b

As of December 31 2005 we had two fixed stock option plans. Under the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (the
“Plan™), we.were authorized to grant options for an.aggregate of 1,500,000 shares of ‘Commiori Stoék to key
employees through December 14, 2004. Under the amended 1996 Non—employee Directors’ Stock Ineentwe Plan
(the “Dlrectors Plari”), we iiay grant- options.and restricted shares for an aggregaté™ of 400,000 sharés of
Common Stock to non—employee board members through February 18, 2014. The Directors Plan was lamended
by a vote at the annual meeting of shareholders in April 2004 to increase the number of shares available:for grant -
to 400,000 from 150,000 shares. Under both plans, the exercise price of each option equals-the average market
pnce _of our stock on the date of grant. Unless otherwise established, one- fourth of the 0pt10ns granted to key
employees became- 1mmed1ately vested and-the remaining three-fourths -vested in-équal annual- mcrements over
three years under the now explred Plan, while the options under the Directors’ Plan become fuily vested on the
date of grant Vested OpthI‘lS remam exerc:sable for a perlod of ten years from the grant date under both plans.

Under the Directors’ Plan:ieach non-employee director was'issued 1,500 restricted shares of Common Stock -
in 2005 and 1,000 restricted shares in 2004 and 2003, for totals of 12,000 shares in 2005, and 7.000.in 2004 and
2003. We' recogmzed compensatton expense totaling $135,000, $63 000 and $20,000 related to the 1ssuance of
these restricted shares in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectlvely Restrlctlons on the shares expire two years ' aftér the
1ssue date”* RN . Bt e
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MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The followmg table summarizes ali stock optlon act1v1ty for both plans in 2005, 2004 and 2003;:+ ..

' P S L +

_e ‘ . . .
.. . . ‘ L . '

“Shares' Subject
-~ to Option [ ~ . .. per 'Share

Welghted Average,
Exercnse ‘Price

Balance at January 1, 2003 '629854 - § ' 10.34
Options granted S . R ; + 14000, ... w0855
Options exercised ‘ ‘ 9,875 ., s . 494
Options forfelted or explred ) . v (9,698) .. 14.47
Balance at December 31, 2003 *° 624281 ' ' 10,32
Options granted 14000 - o 5o 12,63
Options exercised | - , ‘ 92,136y . . 7.88

Options forfeited or explred ,

Balance at December 31, 2004 AN

~446,145 Tt §T- 1144

Optlons granted L . P “ o . . ; . i
Options exercised P .
Options forfeited or expired - . . CL

- A o

Caso00 20106
. (43.,(.)15) JUT .- 13.39

—_— f v A : [

Balance at December 31 2005

419,130 $ 11.57

The weighted average faxr value of opuons granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $6. 71 $6.59 and $3.99,
respectively. As of December 31, 2005, no shares of our Common Stock remained available for future grant
under the explred 'Plan, whlle 228, 000 shares were available for future .grant under the Directors’ Plan.

The followmg ‘table summanzes mformatmn about stock optlons oulstandmg under both plam as of

December 31, 2005: ' SRR y e
Opuons Outstandmg .Options Exercisable .

Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Average  Number of Average

Range of Exercise Prices Options Life* Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

$4.8125 - $9.0000 120,315 4.1 $ 693 120,315 : $ 693

$9.5313 - $12.850 : 137,549 33 1040 53,210 " 10.84

$15.035 - $20.160 161,266 6.5 16.02 161,266 . 16.02

Total ' 419,130 4.8 $11.57 334,791 $11.93

* Average life remaining in years

The number of options exercisable under both plans as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was 318,030 and

430,504, respectively.
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MICHAEL’BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The fair value of options on the_respective grant dates was estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model, based on the following assumptions:
. ]

Cy ' - '

. ) R 2005 2004 2003
Weighted average risk-free interest-rate o 54% © 5.5% 5.5% °
Weighted average expected volatility ARG . 445% - 1454% .. -40.6%
Expected option life - o 6 years 6 years: - 6 years
Expected dividend 'yield 0% 0% 0%
16. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF-OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED):  » '~t ' .. e W

oy e, '1 !

The followmg is a summary of the unaudned rjixanerly results of operatmns for ‘the lwo ycars ended
December 31, 2005 (in thousands, except per share information):
2005 — Three Months Endéd "> >/ -

-
H

By RERTI <. w i, Restated T LY P
. o S ;. Mar 3 AJuner.'S‘O“ o Se[_Jl. 3013 Dec 3|,
Total contract revenues T - 144, 195 - $ 1427765 &% 148,733 - $ 1143 585
Gross profit - '» 7 .t o 122375 o 18,6457 7. 20,838 w0 21,537
Inomé before income taxes ™ ' i T 6633 10 1918t Y 35430 'F‘, " 3,024
Net income R - L I SRR ,:” * 1340 * ' 7 "814 .
Diluted earnings per common share $ 033 $ 000" $ " 015 $ v 0.16
. TR et T e e e . Ve e Pas b 1 LR & . LN
S O R 1Y v '.. TN ! . M N ot
) L . _ - 2004 — Three Months Ended .
A, ) I v - ‘Restated .-, Restated ._ . Restated . Restated
e : . . . . Mar. 31 o+ June 30 ., Sept. 30 . . Dec. 3i¥
Total contract revenues - : oLl s 125328 0% - 130,926 % - 1409750 .8 ¢ 154,817
Gross profit co 020,778 M- 23996 0 21,992 ¢« 19,679
Income before-income, taxes - . C 4,429 oo, 5,145 -+ 4,813 4,332
Netincome .-~ - < o - po1,835 o .t 2364 - . 1891 G 2304
Dilited earnings per common share = ! '$ 022§ 028 - g - 022 § 026

t L) N i
* Includes pre-tax expense totaling $1.5 million for a drscretmnary employer conmbuuon to our 401(1() program
(see Note 14).

2005 — Three Months Ended

As

Originally

Reported

__ Mar 31

Total contract revenues $ 143963
Gross profit 22,917
Income before income taxes 5,959
Net income 3,456
Diluted earnings per common share b 0.40
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- MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

oL 2004 — Thre¢ Months Ended

As © As As ... .. As

) o Originally Originally Originally Originally
e . Reported Reported . . Reported,  Reported

’ Mar, 31 June 30 _ Sept. 30 . Dec. 31%
Total contract revenues i, $ 125005 § 130,603 $. 140652 $ 154492
Gross profit, ... - ' ’ 20,941 23,990 - 21,986 19,271
Income before income taxes ‘ 5,845 - 6,342 5,969 . 4,639
Net income 3,098 3,605 3,283 2,305
Diluted earnings per common share ... % 037 $ . 042. §% 038 §$ . . 027

* Includes pre-tax expense totalmg $1 5 mnlllon for a dlSCIC[lOﬂaI'y employer contribution to our 401(k) program
" {see Note 14).

.

! Lot ;

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS - .

- e -

On April 6, 2006, we purchased the stock of Buck Engineering, PC (Buck) a North Carolma-based
planning and environmental engineering firm. Buck had 2005 revenues of approximately $13 million and
approximately 60 employees at the time of our acquisition. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase
method in accordance with SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,” and in accordance therewith, the total purchase
price of approximately $10.6 million was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their
estimated fair values. This acquisition had no effect on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2005 _

Diring 2000, we sold certain assets assocnated with our former heavy & h1ghway construction business to
A&L, Inc. In October 2003, A&L filed a lawsuit against us alleging misrepresentation and breach of warranty in
connection with the asset sale. In March 2006, a settlement was reached under.which all claims were released by
both parties. The settlement called for our payment of $625,000 to A&L, as well as our forgiveness of certain
receivables totaling - $850,000, for which we had previously recorded reserves totaling $600,000. These
adjustments increased our Corporate overhead (which is allocated between the Engineering and Energy
segments) and reduced pre-tax income by $0.9 million in the second quarter of 2005.

" .aDuring the second quarter of 2006, we became aware of new information related to a partially insured
professional liability insurance claim. After consideration of this new information, we determined that our-self-
insurance reserve related to this claim should be increased by $1.25 million. Such ad]ustment reduced our pre-tax
income by $1.25 million in the second quarter of 2005.

] . o : L

D

Y N . .
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS ON ITS. .. ‘i
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management of Michael Baker Corporation is responsible for preparing the accompanymg consolldated
financial statements and for ensuring their integrity and objectivity. These financial statements were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and fairly represent the
transactions and financial position of the Company: The financial statements include amounts that are based on
management’s best estimates and Judgmems - . . , o ’

The Company s 2005 financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, mdependem
registered public accountants, as selected by the Audit Committee. Management has made available to Deloitte &
Touche LLP all the Company's financial records and related data, as well as the minutes of shareholders’ and
directors’ meetings. The Company’s 2004 and 2003 financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accountants. Y L

The Audit Committee is composed of directors who are not officers or employees of the sCompany Tt mcets
regularly wnth members of management, the internal auditors and the’ independent reglstered public accountants .
to discuss the adequacy of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, its financial statements, and
the nature, extent and results of the audit effort. Both the internal auditors and the independent registered public
accountants have free and direct access to the Audit Committee without the presence of management.

' - . . . 4

/s/_Donald P. Fusilli, Jr. . , e
Donald P. Fusilli, Ir. - o ‘ C

' . . ) .. 1

President and Chlcf Exccutwc Ofﬁccr

/s/ William P. Mooney - . I
William P. Mooney PRRE
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/s{ Craig O. Stuver A N A

Craig O. Stuver . 7 L
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer
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REPORT'OF;INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
s . LR ¢
To the Board of Dlrectors and Shareholders of
Mlchael Baker Corporatton '

) We have, audited the accompanying consohdated balance sheet of Michael Baker Corporatnon and
subsidiaries (thé. “Company™) as of December 31, 2003, and the, related’ consolidated- statements of income,
shareholders’ investment, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company s managcment Our responsnblllty isto express an oplmon on these financial slatcments based on
our audit. ' o _ St

- s o ' * bt
+ - We, conducted our aud1t in accordance with the standards of the Public: Company Accountmg Over31ght
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perforim the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, ewdcncc supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assecsmg the accountmé pnnc1ples used and sngmﬁcant estlmates made by management, as well as eva]uanng the
overall ﬁnanc1al sfatement presentanon We ‘believe that our audlt prov1des a reasonable basis for ‘our opmlon

+-In our opinion, such consolidated ﬁnancnal statements present fairly, in all ‘material respects, the fmancnal
position of Michael Baker Corporation. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20035, -and the results of..their
operations, and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated August 15, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting because of material weaknesses.
3

/s Deloitte & Touche LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania e - : e S
August 15, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED' PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
of Michael Baker- Corporation' I T - e e

In our oplmon the consolldated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ investment and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2004 present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position. of Michael Baker Corporation
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
two Years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United ‘States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsnblhty is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statemnents in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company-restated the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. - '

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 15, 2005, except for Note 2,
as to which the date is August 15, 2006
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION - ~ ™ " ™. el BT L

Market Information — Common Shares

Lo oo e, e NS DA
The principal market on which our Common Stock is traded is the American Stock Exchange. High and low
closing prices of our Common Stock for each quarter during 2005 and 2004, were as flol,lows_: .

: L 2005 T o 2004 E
et el M Eourth + Third Second” | First  Fourth Third' * Second - ' First

v . ML . I R : R
High . . . $27.00 $27.60 $2295  $24.55  $20.02 - $16.60. .$15.60  $12.70
Low IR 22.19 18.00 16.32 - 18.00 ., 15.60* .-13.22 : 11.95., . 10.16
“re Lt ;,', . BN K t, . " - .- o TR oo "( .

,-‘ ' ' ¢ T 4 d
(it} ! b - or
4 ‘ ¥ . » N LI} FEEAP . 3 '
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| o T ' . v, s
M TS PR et
I
LI FATITS ' LI ©

86




' T " Exhibit 31.1
I, Donald P. Fusilli, Jr., certify that: L. ' .
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Michael Baker Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in’ light of the circumstances under which such
statements .were made, not misleading with respect to the period-covered by this report; ‘ w

- 3. Based on my ‘knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the reglstrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; - : ‘

4. Theiregistrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemmal contro] over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act'Rules 13a-15(f).and 15d-15(f)) for the. registrant and have:

{a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused’ such disclosure' controls and

procedures to be designed under our- supervision, to ensure that. materialinformation relating to the

- - registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to'us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being ‘prepared;, - o

(b} Designed such. internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be ‘designéd under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in -
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; - . " ‘ ‘ .

(c) - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
-~ this report our conclusions about the.effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of
the period covered by this report baséd on such evaluation; and . . -

~(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s-fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably lnkely to ‘materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and . . o :

- 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have. disclosed, based on our most.recent.evaluation of
internal control ‘over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the -audit committee of thé registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) "All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
- over financial reporting which are reasonably likely tor adversely aﬁ’ect the reglstrant ] ablllty to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and .. -~ . .

(b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial .reporting. -~ ..

- /s/ Donald P. Fustlli, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: 8/15/06
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Cle o by Exhibit 31.2
1, William P. Mooney, certify that: . . i
1. I have reviewed this report on-Form 10:K of Michael Baker Corﬁoration; . RTE

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not'contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material~fact necessary to make the statements made;: in light of the circumstances. under which such

statements were made, not-misleading with respect-to the period covered by:this report; o

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; e o i .

4. The registrant’s other. certifying officer and I are responsible for establishingrand maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))-and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in’Exchange. Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15()) for the registrant and have:

“(a) Designed such.disclosure controls- and procedures, -or. caused,:such disclosure controls and

procedures to. be.-designed under our .supervision, to ensure that. material information relating’ to the

.- registrant,-including its consolidated:subsidiaries, is made known' to us by others - w1thm those entities,
particularly during the period in which.this report is being prepared; STy i b

-, (b) Designed, such internal control ,over ‘financial reporting, or caused’.such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed ‘under- our. supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability..of , financial reporting . and .the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; - o AR P

-

" (c).Evaluated the:effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report cur.conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of
the period covered by thls report based onrsuch evaluation; and PV

..+ (d) Disclosed in.this.report.any, change in the registrant’s internal control’over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter-(the registrant’s.fourth.fiscal quarter in the case of
anrannual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably l1kely to matenally affect; the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and Lo " : O et

5..The registrant’s:other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our.most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the. registrant’s auditors and the. audit committee -of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):, L o :

4

‘ 1. (a) -All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design:or operation of internal control
i+ over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s.ability- to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and oo :

(b} Any fraud, whether or:not material,rthat involves management or- other employees, who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control-over financial reporting, T T

ety i/ William P, Mooney
P T 'Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

w ot -~ Date: 8/15/06
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foee o Exhibit 32.1

ADDITIONAL CERTIFICATIONS ~'4:. o=, ™~

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, the undersigned officer of Mlchael Baker Corporauon (the
“Company”), hereby certifies that the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10- K 'for the year ended December 31
2005 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, OF the
Securities. Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information-contained in the: Repomfauly presenls in all material

‘Tespects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company T B N
: Vo L e TS I 10 S (] SR
o S ‘ : . ' - T L A J R T
no. . ‘ o - I8t DonaldP Fusﬂll, | T T T L
R Donald P. Fusilli; Jr:* 7 -+ v e < wunern T
AR ‘ 'Pres:dem and Chief Executive Oﬁicer e LR
S N . . : ) ’ L . FULEL TS BT : . Lt R TP
BARREERE. ++  Date: August 15, 2006“‘ T e
. g

. Pursuam to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, the under51gned ofﬁcer of Mlchael Baker Corporatlon (lhe
“Company’), hereby certifies that the Company’s Annual Report on Form IO-K for the year, ended December 31,
2005 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of, Sectlon I3(a) Jor 15(d), as apphcable of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information comamed in. tl}e Repqrt_ fairly presents in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. )

< ‘. - B . 1.+
7s/ William P."Mooney LT T
William P, Mooney - .
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

' Date: August 15, 2006

These additional certifications are being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not
being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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N Exhibit 99.1

- REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

'I‘o the Board of Dlrectors and Shareholdcrs of
Mlchael Baker Corporat:on

1

*We have audited the ¢onsolidated financial statements of Michael Baker Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and have issued our reports thereon
dated August 15, 2006, (which reports express an unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements
and management’s assessment on the effectiveness of internal control and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting due to material weaknesses as of December 31, 2005);
such consolidated financial statements and reports are included in your 2005 Annual Report to Shareholders and
are incorporated herein by reference. Our audit also included the consolidated financial statement schedule of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2005 listed in Item 15. This consolidated financial statement schedule
is the responmbnllty of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion ‘based on our
audn In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedulc for the year ended December 31, 2005
when consideéred in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents faxrly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein.

LI

fs/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
August 15, 2006
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Exhibit 99.2

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Michael Baker Corporation:

Our audit of the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and the related consolidated statements
of income, shareholders’ investment and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, -
2004 referred to in our report dated March 15, 2003, except for Note 2, as to which the date is August 15, 2006 -
appearing in Exhibit 13.1 {which report and consolidated financial statements are incorporated by reference in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K) also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed ‘in
Item 15(a}(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material .
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction’ with the related consolidated financial
statements. ’

As discussed in Note 2, the Company restated the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 15, 2005, except for Note 2, -
as to which the date is August 15, 2006 . :
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Shareholder Information

ANNUAL MEETING
Baker’s Annual Meeting will be held at
10:00 a.m. EST, Wednesday, November 29, 2006,
at the:
Doubletree Hotel Pittsburgh Airport
8402 Universiry Blvd.
Moon Township, PA 15108
412.329.1410

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Investors or analysts with questions about the
company should contact:
William P. Mooncy
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
412.269.6453
or
David G. Higie
Vice President, Corporate Communications
and Investor Relations

412.269.6449

FOR ADDITIONAL
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Office of the Secretary
Michael Baker Corporation
Airside Business Park

100 Airside Drive

Moon Township, PA 15108

Access our reports electronically at:
www.mbakercorp.com

Click “for Investors” then click “Annual Reports”

REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte & Touche LLP
2500 One PPG Place
Pietsburgh, PA 15222

OUTSIDE COUNSEL
Reed Smith LLP

435 Sixth Avenue
Pitesburgh, PA 15219

TRANSFER AGENT
American Stock Transfer
59 Maiden Lane

Plaza Level

New York, NY 10038
800.937.5449
718.921.8200

www.amstock.com




ChallengeUs.

MICHAEL BAKER CORPORATION
Airside Business Park

100 Airside Drive

Moon Township, PA 15108
412.269.6300

www.mbakercorp.com




